

Land and Water Resources Council 2002 Annual Report

to

Governor John Elias Baldacci

and the

Joint Standing Committee on Natural Resources of the 121st Maine Legislature First Regular Session

January 2003

State Planning Office 184 State Street 38 State House Station Augusta, Maine 04333 (207) 287-3261

INTRODUCTION

The Land and Water Resources Council ("council") submits this annual report to the Governor and the Maine Legislature's Joint Standing Committee on Natural Resources in accordance with 5 M.R.S.A. §3331, sub-§4. The council addressed a number of challenging issues in 2002. This report describes the council's activities in 2002 and notes activities that the council anticipates in 2003.

In 1993, the Maine Legislature established the council to advise the Governor, the Legislature, and state agencies in the formulation of state policy regarding natural resources management to achieve state environmental, social, and economic objectives. The Legislature has conferred on the council, originally established by Executive Order, broad authority to consider natural resources issues of statewide significance and to counsel the Governor and Legislature on policy options for management and protection of natural resources. *See* 5 M.R.S.A. §3331, sub-§2. The council's agenda includes matters assigned to it by the Legislature or the Governor, as well as projects initiated at the request of a state agency or by the council itself.

COUNCIL MATTERS IN 2002

I. Matters Assigned by the Legislature

A. Invasive Species Management and Prevention

In June 2001, the Legislature enacted PL 2001 c. 434, "An Act to Prevent Infestation of Invasive Aquatic Plants and to Control Other Invasive Species." In addition to provisions regarding DIFW and DEP management actions, public education, and program funding, PL 2001 c. 434, Part B established the Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species ("Task Force"). The legislation required the Task Force to make recommendations to the council on a wide array of matters related to prevention and control of aquatic and other invasive species. One of the Task Force's primary missions is to develop an action plan to protect Maine's inland waters from invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species. Under the legislation, the Task Force may also develop a comprehensive invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species management plan that meets the requirements of the federal Invasive Species Act. The Task Force chose to develop a state action plan that also meets the federal requirments. Such a plan makes Maine eligible for federal funding for invasive species prevention and control.

In November 2001, Governor King completed appointments to the task force, which is made up of representatives from five state agencies - the Departments of Environmental Protection (DEP), Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (DIFW), Human Services (DHS), Agriculture (DAFRR), and Conservation (DOC) - and twelve citizens from a variety of interest areas.

In 2002, the Task Force held four meetings. The focus of these meetings was development of the state action plan. These meetings were robust and productive. Thanks to a private foundation grant obtained by the Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program, consultant Holly Dominie was retained to research, draft the plan, and facilitate Task Force meetings. This series of meetings, coupled with Ms. Dominie's professional guidance, led to the group's development of a draft action plan in the summer of 2001. At its July 11, 2002 meeting, the council approved the draft plan for purposes of its presentation at several public meetings around the State to gather public comments on the draft.

In August 2002, the Task Force held public meetings in Presque Isle, Bangor, Augusta, and Naples. Attendance varied from 12 in Augusta to 27 in Naples. In addition to the public meetings, substantial public comment was also submitted to DEP in writing prior to the public comment deadline on August 31, 2002.

Following the series of public meetings, the Task Force reconvened in September to review its draft report in light of public comments and suggestions it received. In early October 2002, the Task Force approved its final draft "State of Maine Action Plan for Managing Aquatic Invasive Species" for presentation to and adoption by the council, in accordance with PL 2001 c. 434.

The Action Plan focuses on the following four key goals:

- Educate the public and people involved in business, trade, research and government so well about invasive aquatic species that they do not facilitate the introduction or spread of species through activities over which they have control;
- Prevent new introductions of invasive aquatic species into the State to the extent possible;
- Limit the spread of established populations to other waters of the State; and
- Reduce the harmful effects resulting from infestations of invasive aquatic species by managing those that cannot be eradicated.

The Plan notes that agencies' ability to achieve these goals may be hampered by limited staff and financial resources.

The Action Plan also articulates five major objectives that serve to organize the work needed to make progress toward these goals:

- Provide effective leadership, coordination, and program monitoring;
- Raise awareness and educate the public well;
- Strengthen programs to avoid introduction and transport;
- Be prepared to respond rapidly and control spreading, and
- Effectively inventory, research, and manage information.

The Plan details a number of strategies that are intended to provide a multi-faceted, publicprivate approach to prevention and management of aquatic invasive species issues. Strategies of primary importance from state agencies perspective include: preventing spread of invasives through extensive education and outreach efforts; expanding the watercraft inspection program; establishing a rapid response program for both invasive plants and illegal fish introductions; working regionally to prevent invasive aquatic species from entering the state; establishing plant control protocols; and understanding the impacts of invasive species on Maine's commercial fisheries and marine ecology. The Task Force concluded that issues regarding the current Lake and River Protection sticker program as a funding vehicle be addressed during the program review scheduled for 2003.

At its October 10, 2002 meeting, the council reviewed and recommended that the Governor approve the plan for submission to the Federal Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force as the State of Maine's invasive species management plan. Governor King approved the plan by letter dated October 22, 2002. On November 15, 2002, this federal task force approved Maine's plan as eligible for federal funding support. DEP is currently preparing the requisite proposal for federal funds. DEP anticipates that federal funding will be especially critical to address rapid response procedures for new plant infestations and illegal fish stocking.

A copy of the Action Plan, which was previously sent pertinent legislative committees, is provided as Attachment 1. The Plan's summary, pp. i - iii, provides a useful overview of the various strategies that state agencies, in cooperation with public and private organizations and individuals, will use to meet these goals and objectives. A copy of the report is available on-line at : http://www.state.me.us/dep/blwq/topic/invplan02.pdf.

Lead state agency contact: John McPhedran, DEP

B. Assessment of the Effectiveness of the State's Coastal Management Program in Addressing Working Waterfront and Public Access Issues

PL 2001 c. 595 directs the council to review the effectiveness of the State's federally approved coastal zone management program in meeting the State's statutory public access and working waterfront policy goals. In conducting this review the council is to (1)"explore state and local jurisdiction and authority"; (2) consider the "development of incentives for municipalities to improve coastal access"; (3) consider the "development of incentives for municipalities to conserve working waterfront lands for water dependent uses"; and (4) discuss the "development of performance indicators to allow for ongoing measurement of progress."

As lead agency on this effort, the State Planning Office (SPO) organized a study committee of interested parties to assist and guide its efforts to prepare the assessment. At the suggestion of the committee, SPO contracted with Coastal Enterprises, Inc., (CEI) to conduct a field survey of 25 coastal fishing communities that are representative of the array of commercial fishing ports and harbors found along the coast from Kittery to Eastport. The purposes of this study were to (1) document the status of working waterfronts and the present and future threats of change or loss; (2) to identify municipal responses and technical needs for dealing with problems; and (3) to make recommendations regarding monitoring the issues in the future. The study was conducted by interviewing knowledgeable

people in each community in order to better understand the status of their working waterfronts, and how municipalities are handling changes confronting them.

CEI's survey indicates that the threats to established commercial access facilities and sites are real, persistent, and pervasive and identified the following primary ways in which access is lost:

- Posting of access to privately-owned inter-tidal areas traditionally used by clam and worm diggers;
- Closing off or contesting ownership of established public access ways by new landowners;
- Loss of tenuous lease or use arrangements with other private pier and wharf owners;
- Conflict and competition for use of public facilities, especially those with limited parking and equipment storage space; and
- Conversion of working wharves to residential, recreational or other commercial use.

CEI also documented the following host of circumstances that exacerbate and stem from lost access:

- Intense real estate pressure to use waterfront for purposes other than commercial fishing or another water dependent use;
- Increased use pressures, as fishing families sell waterfront land;
- The need for many public wharves to balance and serve both commercial and recreational use;
- Limited parking areas, and increased competition for parking as tourism grows;
- Limited mooring opportunities, especially in some areas with heavy tourism;
- Increasing sizes of both commercial and recreational boats;
- Increased cost for coastal towns for legal challenges and acquisition of access;
- Higher property sales that trigger re-valuation, and in turn lead to higher taxes;
- Costly infrastructure and upkeep of both private and municipal wharfs and resulting challenges to keep them economically self-sustaining; and
- Inflated market prices for waterfront land that are unaffordable to traditional users.

Based on the results of CEI's survey, the committee's recommendations, and additional information regarding public recreational access and other issues, SPO developed a concept draft to ensure the council's approval of the nature and scope of the report. Following the council's review and discussion of the concept draft at its November 14, 2002 meeting, SPO developed a final report for the council's review and approval for submission to the Legislature. The final draft contains the following findings and recommendations:

- The problem of rising property taxes that force users off of the waterfront is the most critical issue that needs to be addressed by the Maine Legislature;
- The loss of access for commercial fisheries is a wide-spread and persistent problem, driven by broad economic and demographic influences that in turn result in rising property values and higher taxes;

- As coastal fishing communities are well aware, loss of commercial access is a worsening problem that takes several forms, varying from community to community, which are complex to track and address through public policy;
- Municipal ownership of existing facilities, support for businesses and facilities that serve the fishing industry are among the effective actions towns may take;
- The State's Coastal Plan is implemented through a mixture of mandates, partnerships, and assistance programs that attempt to balance local "home rule" authority and the State's policy goals and should be further refined and targeted to help municipalities address public access and working waterfront issues;
- Technical and financial assistance that help communities respond with locally appropriate solutions to access problems and needs are the best incentives to help advance state policy goals;
- Coastal communities, which face a variety of access-related issues, have come to depend on the State's Small Harbor Improvement Program (SHIP) and other grant programs to help provide crucial financial support for local projects and are seeking knowledge about other tools and techniques to help maintain and enhance their working waterfronts.
- Better data on the coast-wide status and trends in commercial fishing access facilities and usage is desireable; and
- Policy makers should encourage formation of a stakeholder-based coastal access forum to work on effective public sector and private sector actions to maintain and promote needed access.

In addition, the report contains discussion of the above noted CEI survey and description of current Maine Coastal Program initiatives regarding the State's public access and working waterfront policies.

At its December 12, 2002 meeting, the council approved submission of a finally edited and formatted version of the report to the Legislature in accordance with PL 2001 c. 595, following an opportunity for members not in attendance to review the report and confirm their concurrence in its submission. A copy of the final report as approved by the council is attached as Attachment 2.

Lead state agency staff: Jim Connors, SPO

C. Water Use Management Policy

See Section III, B (2), below.

D. Smart Growth: Growth related capital investments

PL 1999 c. 776 (38 M.R.S.A. §4349-A) created a new role for the council regarding state growth-related capital investments and siting of state facilities. With numerous exceptions, 30-A M.R.S.A. §4349-A, sub-§1 requires that state agencies make "growth related capital investments¹" only in one of the following areas:

- a "growth area", locally designated in a comprehensive plan approved by SPO as consistent with state law; or
- in communities with no "growth area" designated in a comprehensive plan approved by SPO as consistent with state law, in: a) an area with adequate existing public sewer service; b) an area that the Census lists as a "census-designated place"; or, c) a "compact area" as defined by 23 M.R.S.A. §754.

38 M.R.S.A. §4349-A, sub-§1 (C) (8) allows an agency to make a growth related capital investment outside an authorized investment area if it certifies to the council that there is "no feasible location" for the project within an authorized investment area and if the council finds by a majority vote of all members that "extraordinary circumstances or the unique needs of the agency" require state funds. 30-A M.R.S.A. §4349-A, sub-§2 in effect requires council authorization of Bureau of General Services (BGS) state facilities lease or construction contract awards for projects that are not within a "service center", "downtown", "growth area", "compact area" or "census designated place" as those terms are used in PL 1999 c. 776. Among many other duties, BGS is the state agency that handles acquisition and leasing of office space for most state agencies.

During 2002, the council received no notices of exemption pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. 4349-A, sub-1 (C) (1) and considered no certifications pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. 4349-A, sub-1 (C) (8).

Lead State agency contact: Liz Rettenmaier, State Planning Office

E. Watershed Protection Program

Recognizing the large number of state and federal agencies, as well as non-government organizations, that play a role in watershed management, as well as existing SPO and DEP coordination efforts, the Legislature provided specific authorization for the council to develop and oversee a comprehensive state watershed program. *See* 5 M.R.S.A. §3331, sub-§7. The Maine Watershed Management Program, managed by the Maine Watershed Management Committee ("MWMC") under the aegis of the council, focuses on improving and protecting water quality through activities to reduce or eliminate nonpoint source pollution.

¹30-A M.R.S.A. §4301, sub-§5-B, enacted by Section 7 of P.L. 1999 c. 776, defines "growth-related capital investment." The definition covers state expenditure of state, federal, or other public funds using the full range of state financial assistance tools for a limited range of projects, including specified public infrastructure investments, state office buildings, business or industrial parks, and multi-family rental housing.

Participating members of the MWMC include the Department of Marine Resources (DMR), DIFW, DHS (Division of Health Engineering), DOC, DAFRR, Maine Department of Transportation (MDOT), and DEP. Participating federal agencies include the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the Natural Resources Conservation Service, and the United States Geological Survey (USGS). Also participating are the Maine Chamber of Commerce and Business Alliance, the Natural Resources Council of Maine, the Congress of Lake Associations, the Maine Association of Conservation Districts, and the Maine Water Utilities Association.

In 2002, the MWMC met quarterly and provided a forum for exchange of information among the agencies. Subgroups of the committee assisted DEP in evaluating applications for grants for watershed improvement projects. Funds for this grant program are provided under Section 319 of the federal Clean Water Act.

In 2003, MWMC will continue to focus on interagency coordination through information exchange, and through monitoring and feedback on agency progress in implementing Maine's upgraded Nonpoint Source Pollution Program. Committee members have expressed interest in keeping the primary focus of MWMC meetings on information exchange.

Lead State agency contact: Don Witherill, Department of Environmental Protection

F. Lakes Heritage Fund

The 118th Maine Legislature created this fund and made the council responsible for its management. *See* 5 M.R.S.A. §3331, sub-§6. The Fund had no program activities in 2002.

Lead State agency: State Planning Office

II. Matters Assigned by Executive Order

Council on Environmental Monitoring and Assessment

In 2002, Governor King's administration decided to terminate the Council on Environmental Monitoring and Assessment ("CEMA") as a forum for coordination of public and private environmental monitoring and assessment efforts, recognizing that this forum had served its purpose of fostering such coordination. Existing communication vehicles, including newsletters and conferences, seem to be effective in maintaining visibility for the State's volunteer monitoring programs. Volunteer monitoring networks for lakes, rivers and streams and estuaries continue to operate and improve their programs apart from the CEMA structure.

Lead State agency contacts: Kathleen Leyden, State Planning Office and Roy Bouchard, Department of Environmental Protection

III. Interagency Coordination

A. Smart Growth Initiative

In addition to the legislatively assigned duties discussed in Section I, above, the council continued to serve as a policy forum for development, discussion, and coordination of state agency actions pursuant to the Governor's Smart Growth Initiative and related policy initiatives.

At its October 12, 2000 meeting, the council established an interagency subcommittee, the Smart Growth Coordinating Committee, to coordinate state policies, programs and investments in support of the three year Competitive Advantage strategy, an element of Governor King's Smart Growth initiative, and issues regarding the Smart Growth Initiative generally. In addition to representatives from the council's member agencies - SPO, MDOT, DEP, the Department of Economic and Community Development (DECD), DOC, DIFW, DAFRR, DMR, and DHS - representatives of the following agencies have been involved in the Smart Growth Initiative: Atlantic Salmon Commission (ASC), Maine State Housing Authority (MSHA), Maine Historical Preservation Commission (MHPC), Department of Education (DofEd), Department of Administrative and Financial Services, and Maine Public Utilities Commission.

The subcommittee met during early 2002 to finalize work on the the report titled, *Indicators of Livable Communities: A report on Smart Growth and the impact of land use decisions on Maine's communities, environment and countryside.* The report is available on-line at: <<u>http://www.state.me.us/spo/lwrc/Indicators%200f%20Livable%20Communities.pdf></u>. The Smart Growth Coordinating Committee selected the twenty three indicators in the report as measures of "smart growth", and as tools to track and monitor the efficacy of "smart growth" efforts in Maine. Agencies participating in the subcommittee provided data. After the completion of the report, the full subcommittee did not meet, but sub-groups of members continued to meet to address policies, programs, and investments that cut across individual agency interests. Members of the subcommittee focused on the following initiatives and interagency efforts:

- SPO, MDOT, DECD, DMR, MSHA, MHPC, and DofEd are participating in the discussions of the Community Preservation Advisory Committee, which began meeting in October, 2002;
- SPO, MDOT, and DEP are working together with local and regional planners and environmental organizations in developing a model wetlands ordinance for municipalities interested in protecting high-value wetlands;
- DEP, SPO, DIFW, DMR, ASC, MDOT, and DHS are collaborating, together with representatives from the environmental, municipal, and development communities, in the revision of DEP's stormwater rules;
- SPO and DEP are working together to develop model ordinances for establishing local stormwater utilities to improve local water quality; and

• SPO and MDOT are meeting to incorporate MDOT interests into state reviews of comprehensive plans and ordinances, improve integration of transportation and land use planning locally and regionally, and alleviate confusion related to local authority over state projects.

The council anticipates that the group will continue to meet during 2003, with potential for more intensive and focused effort prior to legislative sessions. SPO provides lead staff support for this effort.

Lead State agency contact: Liz Rettenmaier, State Planning Office

B. Water Use Management Planning

In 2002, the council continued its efforts on coordination, monitoring, and oversight of state water resources management policy initiatives:

- Oversight of actions to implement the Water Use Management Plan for Downeast Rivers (WUMP), led by SPO pursuant to the State's Atlantic Salmon Conservation Plan for Seven Maine Rivers (Atlantic salmon plan); and
- Completion of the work of the Sustainable Water Use Task Force (task force), jointly led by DEP and DAFRR under the aegis of the council.

At its July 2000 meeting, the council agreed that close coordination of these efforts was necessary to ensure efficient development of informed and consistent state policy in this area.

1. Water Use Management Process (WUMP)

The State's Atlantic salmon plan calls for the development of water use management plans for the three Downeast rivers that blueberry growers use as a source of water for irrigation. In 1998, the council initiated a stakeholder process, the WUMP, to produce river-specific hydrology reports to enhance understanding of flow conditions and flow-related salmon biology issues and to develop a single, integrated report offering river specific and crosscutting policy recommendations, to be used in part to aid the task force in developing a statewide policy framework.

At its August 9, 2001 meeting, the council unanimously reaffirmed its prior approval of the WUMP report's final recommendations and approved the report for the Atlantic Salmon Commission's consideration and adoption as a part of the Atlantic salmon plan. In addition, the council recommended creation of an implementation committee to oversee and coordinate actions of those with lead responsibility for carrying out tasks outlined in the report.

At its November 8, 2001 meeting, the council unanimously agreed to establish and oversee an interagency committee, chaired by SPO and made up of one representative of each of the entities with lead responsibility for one or more designated tasks in the WUMP, to coordinate

implementation of the WUMP. The implementation committee, made up of representatives from the University of Maine, DAFRR, DOC, USGS, ASC, DEP, and the Maine Wild Blueberry Commission, held its first meeting on December 11, 2001.

Significant strides in implementing the were made in 2002. Cooperative efforts to carry out the Plan remain underway. The following listing indicates the status of action items scheduled for 2002 in the WUMP's implementation plan:

- maintenance of the USGS's stream flow gauge on the Narraguagus River: ongoing;
- long-term commitment to fund stream flow gauges on the Pleasant and Machias Rivers: multi-year funding secured;
- implementation of an effective flow monitoring strategy: preliminary proposal produced;
- continuation of support for the low flow study of eastern Maine rivers, due to the council in 2004: ongoing;
- provision of support for the ASC's Atlantic salmon habitat impact assessments: ongoing;
- integration of the water withdrawal hierarchy identified in the implementation plan into state policies: effort linked with broader water use management discussions;
- provision of technical assistance to farmers regarding water management: National Fish and Wildlife Foundation and state bond funds secured;
- amendment of state permitting programs to address inconsistencies in the approaches to water use management by DEP and the Land Use Regulation Commission (LURC): effort linked with broader water use management discussions;
- assessment of the effects of water withdrawals during high flows: ongoing
- development of models of smolt transport and discharge: ongoing
- development of models of upstream movement and discharge of adult Atlantic salmon: ongoing
- evaluation of the effects of water withdrawals at high flows: ongoing
- research on wild blueberry plant water requirements: in 2002 funding was secured and work continued, with the United States Department of Agriculture's Agricultural Research Service leading the research effort in 2002 in partnership with the University of Maine; and

• research on farm practices to further reduce water use: funding has been secured for development of management practices manuals for farmers, and full funding is being sought to provide educational programs to facilitate adoption of new practices by farmers using irrigation.

In 2002, the council focused much of its attention regarding the WUMP on the implementation plan's proposals regarding water monitoring and data, and the budget for monitoring needs identified by the plan. Through its discussions, the council identified the need for a coordinated, integrated approach to funding monitoring, research, and other actions called for by the WUMP. Work continues on development of this integrated funding proposal, with the expectation that such a proposal will be presented to the next administration for its consideration.

Lead State agency contact: David Keeley, SPO

2. Sustainable Water Use Policy Task Force

In 2000, DEP and DAFRR agreed to co-chair an interagency effort, guided by stakeholder input through a Sustainable Water Use Policy Task Force, to develop a prioritized set of recommendations to establish sustainable water use policies for Maine's public water resources. This effort stemmed from recognition by both DEP and LURC, the State's primary agencies responsible for water quality management, that maintenance and enhancement of water quality necessarily involves and is dependent upon the availability of an adequate quantity of surface water. These agencies also recognized the lack of and need for consistent state policy on a host of related key questions, such as the standard(s) for determining how much water is adequate to ensure water quality and habitat protection and by whom, when, and how such standard(s) should be addressed through regulation or other resource management tools.

After presenting an interim report to the council on December 21, 2000, the task force formed four subcommittees focused on issues regarding aquatic ecosystems, water storage systems, water conservation, and research and monitoring. These subcommittees, made up of representatives of water users, environmental advocates, as well as state and federal agencies, held numerous meetings during 2001 and into early 2002.

By letter dated June 21, 2001, the Legislature's Natural Resources Committee requested the council to respond to LD 1488, a bill regarding water withdrawal reporting, which the Committee had voted to carry over. The Committee specifically asked the council to report on what information needs to be collected on water withdrawals in order to understand the overall volume of those withdrawals, the potential effects of those withdrawals on the State's water resources, and what steps need to be taken by state agencies to collect and manage that information on an on-going basis. The Committee made a substantially similar request for recommendations from DEP. In light of these requests and the on-going work on this issue initiated and led by DEP and DAFRR, the council decided to use the task force process as the means by which it would ensure development of policy recommendations for the

Legislature's consideration as requested. In addition to periodic reports to the council, the task force met twice with the Legislature's Natural Resources Committee to provide an update on its progress.

In February 2002, the Task Force presented consensus policy recommendations to the council. Those recommendations focused on a proposed interim program of water withdrawal reporting. Concerned that the Task Force's recommendations focused narrowly on the issue of water use reporting and agricultural issues, the council did not accept the Task Force's recommendations as presented but supplemented those recommendations to address water use management policy more broadly and suggested administrative and legislative actions to address the following issues:

- Data Gathering and Water Use Reporting
- Stakeholders and Task Force Involvement
- Instream Flow and Water Level Rules
- Permitting Process
- Water Conservation and Efficiency
- Storage Options, Alternative Sources and Technical Assistance
- Annual Report to the Legislature
- Regional Water Use Task Forces
- Water Rights and Impact on Users

By letter dated January 31, 2002, the council reported its recommendations to the Legislature's Natural Resources committee.

Following significant debate and discussion of issues presented by the council's recommendations and related matters, the Natural Resources Committee reported out an amended version of LD 1488, which was enacted became PL 2001 c. 619. The major provisions of this law include water withdrawal reporting, regional or local water use task forces, and rulemaking to establish water use standards.

In 2003, DEP, DAFRR and DOC's Maine Geological Survey (MGS) plan to continue work with other interested agencies to implement PL 2001 c. 619, and anticipate that the council will provide a forum for interagency discussions of any future recommendations to the Legislature resulting from experience with and assessment of the water withdrawal reporting program established by that law.

Lead State agency contacts: David VanWie, DEP and Peter Mosher, DAFRR

C. Coastal Dredging Policy

In 2000, MDOT recommended and the council supported development of a statewide Dredging Management Action Plan (DMAP) that would look at the key issues relating to maintenance of harbors, channels, and waterway infrastructure throughout the State. During the 2000 legislative session, MDOT secured \$250,000 to support this process.

MDOT assembled a diverse group of stakeholders to serve as an oversight committee to the process and hired a consultant, Foster Wheeler Environmental Corporation (Foster Wheeler), to prepare a dredging management action plan intended to identify solutions to ensure that state harbors are dredged in a safe, economic, and environmentally sound manner.

The oversight committee held quarterly committee meetings in 2001, with a closing meeting in February of 2002. In addition, the committee held 3 public meetings during 2001, in Millbridge, Rockland, and Portland, to gather ideas from stakeholders. Based on public input and research and analysis done by Foster Wheeler, the committee discussed potential recommendations and policy initiatives. Based on the group's discussions and its own research and analysis, in March 2002, Foster Wheeler produced a final draft Dredging Management Action Plan (DMAP report) which discussed and made recommendations regarding the following major issues:

- potential changes in state and federal permitting processes to expedite regulatory decisions;
- options regarding selection and implementation of dredging windows (resource-based, seasonal restrictions on dredging operations);
- potential changes in current federal and state program requirements and procedures regarding testing of sediments for contamination and suitability for ocean disposal;
- potential institutional changes to create an on-going capacity to plan for and coordinate efforts to address Maine's coastal dredging needs, based on evaluation of successful programs in other states;
- potential recommendations for ensuring the on-going viability of existing or preferrable, alternative open water ocean and upland disposal options;
- options for funding the non-federal component of federal projects as well as funding options for private sector projects; and
- identification of tools to increase public understanding of dredging related issues.

The oversight committee did not reach agreement on the findings or recommendations in the DMAP report, nor was there agreement on the report's findings or recommendations among participating agencies. Recognizing the desirability of continued work to refine state dredging policy, participating agencies (MDOT, DEP, DMR, SPO, MGS, and SPO), with staffing support and organizational leadership provided by MDOT, advised the council of their intent to continue discussions, using the DMAP report as an informational resource and soliciting the comments of oversight committee members on any policy recommendations resulting from these discussions.

In order to focus discussion on key issues, MDOT organized several subgroups to look at six broad topics:

- dredge work windows (lead staff: Alan Stearns, MDOT).
- dredge disposal options (lead staff: Christine Olson, MDOT)
- federal navigation projects prioritization (lead staff: Brian Nutter, MDOT)
- streamlining and technical assistance (lead staff: Jeff Madore, MDEP)
- beneficial reuse (lead staff: Paula Clark, MDEP)
- leadership and policy (lead staff: Rob Elder, MDOT)

The dates for release, discussion, and finalization of these reports have slipped from those initially intended. Current plans are to hold a meeting of interested parties in January 2003, following release of the subgroups' reports, and to present a report to council in February or March 2003, with a final report to the Legislature in February or March 2003.

Lead state agency contacts : Brian Nutter, Department of Transportation; Alan Stearns, Department of Transportation

D. Dam Removal Policy

Responding to both legislative and public interest in dam removal issues during 2001-02, on May 9, 2002, the council requested SPO to convene an advisory group comprised of legislators and stakeholders to analyze and evaluate the need for a dam removal policy in Maine. Concurrently, at the request of the council, SPO initiated and coordinated an effort among representatives of all state agencies whose mandates involve dam issues to update the State's hydropower policies and to generate a written compendium of state law and agency policies pertinent to dam removal. In early November 2002, SPO published an initial, partial draft compendium.

The Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group met three times during the fall of 2002 and initiated a collaborative dialogue aimed at identifying the primary issues facing the State in its consideration of a dam removal policy. In order to provide Maine-specific information on the dam removal issue, SPO conducted a survey of dam owners to find out the number and nature of dam removal proposals expected in the near future. The response rate of the survey from owners of non-hydropower dams was robust and indicated that only 1% of dam owners intend to remove their dam, 0% intend to abandon their dam, and 26% anticipate a need major repair in the next decade. For the most part, the owners of hydropower dams did not respond to the survey.

Although it did not complete work on this issue, the group agreed that any state dam removal policy should address both hydropower and non-hydropower dams and generated for the council's consideration a set of ten considerations for dam removal proceedings, along with two preliminary recommendations for on-going work on development of a state dam removal policy. The group recommended that SPO complete the above noted compendium, as an aid to the Legislature, the next administration, and interested parties, and that the council recommend to the next administration's Land and Water Resources Council that it reconvene or re-form the group and request that it continue its work to determine whether Maine's current laws and state agency policies regarding dam removal address the full range of important issues. Under the group's recommendation, the reconvened or re-

formed Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group would then work to provide comprehensive recommendations to the new council. The work of the advisory group is available on-line at: http://www.maine.gov/spo/energy/damremoval/damremoval.htm

At its December 12, 2002 meeting, council members reviewed and unanimously accepted the group's report and recommendations. In addition, the council agreed to forward the attached report and recommendations to the Legislature's Natural Resources, Marine Resources, and Inland Fisheries and Wildlife Committees for their information, having given council members not in attendance an opportunity to review the attached report and recommendations and affirm their agreement in acceptance and transmittal of the report as described above. The group's report, previously sent to legislative committees, is attached as Attachment 3.

COUNCIL MATTERS ANTICIPATED IN 2003

In 2003, the council will be comprised of new members, following confirmation of new state agency commissioners. The following list of issues indicates matters, in addition to those that may be assigned to it by the Legislature or Governor, that the new council may wish to consider in 2003:

- Water use management policy: monitoring and data collection; reconciliation of DEP and LURC approaches to regulation of water withdrawal; coordination of efforts to secure funding for management initiatives identified in the State's Water Use Management Plan, focused on the Downeast rivers; and related issues.
- Atlantic salmon conservation: Harmonization of the goals and objectives of the State's Atlantic Salmon Conservation Plan for Seven Maine Rivers and the federal Atlantic salmon habitat management plan; and related issues.
- Smart growth and related land use and public investment issues
- State dam removal policy
- Local regulation of state development actions pursuant to the Growth Management Act
- Coastal dredging policy

CONCLUSION

During 2002 the council continued to fulfill and further develop its role as a forum for interagency discussion on state policy for appropriately balancing environmental protection, conservation, and economic development objectives. The council has proven an effective mechanism for development and communication of consistent state positions on issues and policies that have statewide natural resources implications and that require coordination among multiple agencies.

As in past years, the council's work was enabled, benefited from, and continued to promote close collaboration among the State's natural resources agencies. The council thanks members of the public and federal, state, and local government personnel for their hard work and participation in council meetings, and the stakeholder meetings, study commissions, and other public policy development initiatives whose recommendations often inform and enlighten the council's discussions and decisions. The council looks forward to a challenging agenda in 2003 as the Legislature, Governor, and state agencies make use of this forum to develop and refine the State's natural resources policy.

Attachment # 1

. .

.

State of Maine Action Plan For Managing Invasive Aquatic Species



Adopted by the Land and Water Resources Council

And the

Interagency Task Force On Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species

October 10, 2002

Acknowledgements

This plan was drafted for the Interagency Task Force On Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species by:

H. Dominie Consulting of Readfield, Maine

and

Task Force's Technical Subcommittee Roy Bouchard and John McPhedran, Department of Environmental Protection and federal AIS Task Force: Northeast Panel Member; Don Cameron, Maine Natural Areas Program and New England Invasive Plant Group Member, DOC; Dr. Russell Danner, Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife; Ann Gibbs, Department of Agriculture, Food, and Rural Resources; Mark McCoullough, Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife; Kate O'Brien, Rachel Carson National Wildlife Refuge; Pete Thayer, Department of Marine Resources and federal AIS Task Force: Northeast Panel Member; and Scott Williams, Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program.

Interagency Task Force On

Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species Roy Bouchard, Chair, Maine Dept. of Environmental Protection Nancy Beardsley, Maine Drinking Water Program Shippen Bright, Maine Lakes Conservancy and National Invasive Species Council Advisory Committee Member Jim Chandler, Recreational Watercraft Owners Assoc. Gary Cobb, Maine Sporting Camp Association Michael Crooker, Town of Bradley Russell Danner, MS, DVM, Maine Dept. Inland Fisheries & Wildlife Mary Jane Dillingham, Auburn Water District Debbie Gardner, Maine Marine Trade Association Ann Gibbs, Dept. of Agriculture, Food, & Rural Resources Becky Linney, Public member w/ expertise in gardening and education Ellen Peters, Rangeley Region Sportsmans Association Dale Pierson, Pierson Nurseries George Powell, Dept. of Conservation Matt Scott, Public member w/ expertise in lake ecology Clyde Walton, Congress of Lake Associations Scott Williams, Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program

Task Force Staff

John McPhedran, DEP Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator

Other Contributors

Task Force Alternates: Sally Dyer (E. Peters)

Maine Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Resources: Tom Eddy, Gary Fish

Maine Department of Environmental Protection: Karen Hahnel, Dave Halliwell, Christine Smith, David Van Wie

Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife: David Basley, Peter Bourque, Dave Boucher, Ken Elowe, Don Kleiner, Dennis McNeish, Tim Peabody, Mike Sawyer, Steve Timpano, Mike Sawyer

Maine Department of Marine Resources: John Sowles, Joseph Fessendon, Linda Mercer, Penn Estabrook

Maine Land Use Regulation Commission: Fred Todd

US Fish and Wildlife Service: Sandra Keppner (Aquatic Nuisance Species Coordinator), Cynthia Boettner (Silvio O. Conte National Fish and Wildlife Refuge)

Other: Ann Bove, Vermont Department of Environmental Conservation, Dr. James Carlton, Williams College, Williamstown, MA; Linda Gregory, Acadia National Park; Marcia Spencer-Famous, Maine Wetland Professionals Association, LURC; Dana Wallace, retired, DMR; Katherine Webster, University of Maine at Orono

The Task Force is particularly grateful to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the states of Massachusetts, Washington, and Vermont, among other state and federal entities, for leading the way and allowing the free use of plans and other documents developed for the effective understanding and management of invasive aquatic species. Cover image credits: Karen Hahnel, Garrett Coffin, USFWS & Gulf of Maine Coastal Program, Cornell University, and 100th Meridian.org.

Financial Support

The Task Force appreciates financial support for this project from a Davis Conservation Fund grant to the Maine Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program & from the Maine Department of Environmental Protection.

Summary

This plan will guide the State of Maine in managing invasive aquatic species over the next 4 years. Mandated by the Legislature, it was developed by the Interagency Task Force On Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species for the Land and Water Resources Council.

An invasive aquatic organism is one that has been moved from its native aquatic habitat to a new location, even nearby, and causes significant harm to that new environment. Such organisms spread naturally, but human activities are spreading them much more rapidly through such means as:

- Transportation between waters on water-contact vehicles, gear and equipment;
- Fragmentation and spread within already infested waters;
- Release or inadvertent escape into the wild;
- Discharge of untreated live wastes from marine processing facilities; and
- Release of ballast water and navigation of infested hulls in marine waters.

Invasive milfoil and other aquatic plants are not the only threat to freshwaters – harmful animals such as non-native fish and the zebra mussel are just as likely to be introduced, and marine and wetland invasive organisms threaten other aquatic habitats. Maine's climate, water chemistry, and geographic isolation make it the last state in line generally to host invasive aquatic infestations so we still have time to take preventive measures for many freshwater and wetland species. But the dynamics of the Gulf of Maine make our state highly vulnerable to marine infestations no matter what we do – in which case we can only anticipate and lessen their impacts.

While many introduced species bring great benefits such as food and landscaping products, invasive species promise serious biological and socio-economic impacts. They can:

- Displace native species filling same ecologic niche;
- Reduce biodiversity;
- Disrupt food webs;
- Degrade habitats;
- Suppress property values and drain public coffers;

- Impair commercial fishing and aquaculture;
- Degrade recreational experiences;
- Impair public water supplies;
- Threaten native fish populations and spoil sport fisheries;
- Degrade coastal infrastructure; clog or foul pipes and drainage ditches; and
- Threaten public health.

Many other states are looking to Maine for ideas because we have moved fast to curb the introduction and spread of milfoil and other invasive freshwater plants. We have instituted an inspection and education program supported through a boat sticker program; and authorized the Departments of Environmental Protection and Inland Fisheries and Wildlife to regulate surface use in plant-infested waters. But we also have much to learn from other states and provinces that have been dealing with other types of organisms. This plan guides and coordinates the policies and programs of state agencies and action partners involved in managing invasive aquatic species. It also sets priorities for obtaining funds to support planned activities.

A key part of Maine's approach is an Advisory List of Invasive Aquatic Species found in Appendix D of this plan. Organisms on the list are those most likely to be a concern in Maine. The list provides an assessment of the relative threat that each organism poses and the crucial pathways of spread to address. It groups the organisms by habitat (freshwater, wetland, and marine) and management category (prevention and eradication; selective control and/or impact management; and no action at this time).

Four key goals underpin Maine's Action Plan:

- 1. Educate the public and people involved in business, trade, research and government so well about invasive aquatic species that they do not facilitate the introduction or spread of species through activities over which they have control;
- 2. Prevent new introductions of invasive aquatic species into the state to the extent possible;
- 3. Limit the spread of established populations to other waters of the state; and
- 4. Reduce the harmful effects resulting from infestations of invasive aquatic species by managing those that cannot be eradicated.

i

Five objectives organize the work to be done:

- 1. Provide effective leadership, coordination and program monitoring,
- 2. Raise awareness and educate the public well,
- 3. Strengthen programs to avoid introduction and transport,
- 4. Be prepared to respond rapidly and control spreading, and
- 5. Effectively inventory, research, and manage information.

Leading strategies stand out:

- 1. Freshwater Plants and Organisms That Travel With Them:
 - <u>First line of defense</u>: The fledgling watercraft inspection program for milfoil and other macrophytes will be strengthened so that it is as effective as a voluntary program can be. It will be expanded to include tidal rivers and also inform the public about zebra mussels and other organisms that are transported with these plants;
 - <u>Second line of defense:</u> A monitoring and rapid response system will be established to eradicate new infestations. Maine will move to a mandatory inspection program or other stringent controls should infestations occur beyond acceptable thresholds.
- 2. <u>Illegal Fish Introductions</u>
 - <u>First line of defense</u>: Stocking of any fish into any water of the state requires a permit from DIFW. DIFW will continue to regulate transfers in this manner. A high priority will be placed on developing a regular, ongoing public information and education effort to increase public awareness of the impacts of illegal fish introductions and the need for public support and assistance with the enforcement of laws designed to discourage unauthorized fish introductions. A very high priority will be placed on the enforcement of laws designed to prevent the illegal introduction of fish species.
 - Second line of defense: DIFW will establish and maintain a contingency program including staff, training, equipment, and financial resources necessary to provide a speedy and credible response to illegal introductions. DIFW will remove the fish if feasible to do so. Chemical reclamation is the most common and effective means of achieving this goal. DIFW will afford no specific regulatory protection to any fish species introduced illegally. Where a practical benefit can be reasonably expected, DIFW will adopt regulations designed to

maximize the take of illegally introduced species to the benefit of indigenous species, requiring catch disposal where health advisories rule out consumption.

DIFW's ability to achieve these goals may be hampered by limited staff and financial resources.

3. Marine Species:

Since Maine has no defense against species that are introduced into marine waters on the East Coast, the State will seek to understand the ecology and impacts of species that have the greatest potential to disrupt Maine's commercial fisheries and marine infrastructure.

4. All Species:

Maine will identify invasive aquatic organisms coming into the state, list and prohibit the most harmful as appropriate, and inform retailers, wholesalers, and the public about how to avoid introduction and spread, in collaboration with the Northeast Panel and other states and provinces.

The plan includes the following tasks; high priority tasks are indicated with a " ϕ ":

- 1. Leadership, Coordination, & Program Monitoring
 - 1A1 Including marine representation on task force •
 - 1A2 Expanding coverage to marine waters supported by boat sticker ♦
 - 1B Ensuring ongoing interagency coordination
 - 1C Instituting a plan update process
 - 1D1 Coordinating at the regional level •
 - 1D2 Coordinating at the national level
 - 1Ea Reviewing sticker program +
 - 1Eb Training sticker vendors

2. Education and Outreach

- 2A Establishing a lead coordinator
- 2B1 Conducting a general information & education campaign
- 2B2 Creating uniform educational materials
- 2B3 Monitoring progress through public perceptions
- 2C1 Targeting watercraft transport pathway education ♦
- 2C2 Targeting release into the wild pathway education ♦

ii

- 3. Introduction and Transport
 - A. Establishing priorities relating to:

3A1 Agency authority ♦

- 3A2a Advisory species list ♦
- 3A2b Pathways
- B. Targeting watercraft and equipment transport pathway by: 3B1a Establishing vulnerable waters list♦
 - 3B1b Conducting ramp inspections +
 - 3B1c Conducting roadside inspections •
 - 3B1d Clarifying legal questions +
 - 3B2a Developing infestation control plans
 - 3B2b Establishing critical thresholds •
 - 3B2c Limiting boating access sites on infested waters •
- C. Targeting introduction into the wild pathway by:
 - 3C1a Conducting a baseline inventory of suppliers •
 - 3C1b Training inspectors ♦
 - **3C1c** Providing information for suppliers
 - 3C2 Conducting a bait supplier inventory
 - 3C3a Reviewing illegal fish capacity +
 - 3C3b Providing information about illegal stocking
 - 3C3c Evaluating adequacy of judicial system
 - 3C4 Evaluating removal of barriers +
 - 3C5 Evaluating marine dredging authority
- 3C6 Requiring good biosecurity for sampling D/E Focusing on marine vessels and products by:
 - 3D1 Reviewing Army Corps salinity standard •
 - 3D2 Monitoring shipping activity ♦
 - 3E1 Encouraging alternative bait packing materials
 - 3E2 Evaluating other marine pathways
- 4. Early Detection, Rapid Response and Management
 - 4A1 Establishing straightforward reporting procedures
 - 4A2a Identifying in-house experts ♦
 - 4A2b Putting outside experts on call +
 - 4A2c Conducting annual staff training ♦
 - 4A2d Training plant patrollers
 - 4B1 Creating plant response ♦
 - 4B2 Creating fish response ♦
 - 4C1a Developing a model infestation control plan •
 - 4C1b Providing funds for control plans
 - 4C1c Deploying plant-infestation buoys♦

- 4C1d Establishing surface use restrictions ◆
 4C2a Establishing plant control protocols ◆
 4C2b Establishing animal/pathogen protocols
 4C2c Providing continuing education for applicators
- 5. Inventory, Research and Information
 - Inventory, Research and Information A. Developing baseline information for:
 - 5A1 Marine species ♦
 - 5A2 Freshwater plants •
 - 5A3 Freshwater fish & fauna •
 - 5A4 Cravfish and snails
 - 5A5 East Coast marine species
 - 5A6 Other species
 - B. Conducting research on:
 - 5B1a Asian crabs♦
 - 5B1b Marine species
 - 5B1c Other research
 - C. Managing information well by coordinating:
 - 5C1a Agency databases
 - 5C1b Agency websites
 - 5C1c An annotated bibliography

Table of Contents

Summaryi
Introduction
What are Invasive Aquatic Species?
What makes invasive species so successful?
How do people spread them?
Do they spread naturally?
How vulnerable is Maine?
What's at stake?
Biological Consequences: 2
Socio-Economic Consequences:
What are we already doing about invasive aquatic species?
Maine's initial efforts were species- and location-specific
Milfoil and fish introductions have prompted a more comprehensive
approach
The Federal government plays a key role, too
Regional coordination is also underway
Public comments made a difference
Maine's Approach 10
Prevention is the key
Assessing the biggest threats
Species assessment
Occurrence
Biological Vigor
Maine Pathways
Potential Consequences
Assessment Summary
Management Categories
Transport pathways assessment
Equipment transport
Fragmentation and spread
Release into the wild
Marine Products Import and Export
Aquaculture practices
Marine vessels
Action Plan
Objective 1: Leadership, Coordination, & Program Monitoring
Objective 2: Education and Outreach
Objective 3: Introduction and Transport
A. Species Lists and Pathway Priorities

B. Watercraft and Equipment Transport	23
C. Introduction Into the Wild	24
D. Marine Vessels	24 26
E. Marine Products Import and Export	. 27
Objective 4: Early Detection, Rapid Response and Management	27
A. Early Detection (see also 5A. Inventory)	27
B. Rapid Response	27
C. Management	20
Objective 5: Inventory, Research, and Information Management	31
A. Inventory (see also 4A. Early Detection)	31
B. Research	31
C. Information Management	32
Implementation Plan	
Annendix A: Glossory of Torme and Asian	

Appendix A. Clossary of Terms and Acronyms	A-1
Appendix B: Authorities and Programs	B- 1
Appendix C: Maine Statutes	
Appendix D: Advisory List of Invasive Aquatic Species	D 1
Annendix H' Sampla Fast Class	E-1
Appendix F: Response to Public Comments	E-1
Appendix G: Endnotes	0.1
	-U-I

Invasive Aquatic Species Action Plan

What are Invasive Aquatic Species?

People are not the only globetrotters. For centuries, plants, animals, and microbes have moved around the world as a result of human activities, usually as planned introductions of useful products such as food, building materials, forage for livestock, garden plants, and research supplies, but also as stowaways in such places as bilge water and cargo holds or on the underside of boats. In this modern global economy, the flow has become so intense that biota from all parts of the world are mixing in ways and with outcomes that we have only begun to anticipate and understand.

Organisms that have been moved from their native habitat to a new location are commonly referred to as "nonindigenous," "non-native," or "exotic to their new environment" (see Appendix A: Glossary). A new environment can be the next country, state, or just over the hill or in a different part of a watershed. Some nonindigenous

An Invasive Aquatic Organism is one that has been moved from its native aquatic habitat to a new location, even nearby, AND causes significant harm to that new environment.

species seriously degrade their new environment, impair social and economic values, and sometimes cause public health problems. These are collectively known as "invasive species." Invasive species that live in freshwater, inland wetlands (including floodplains), coastal wetlands, or marine waters, are called "invasive aquatic species."

The term "nuisance species" is sometimes used as a synonym for invasive species.¹ This plan favors the use of "invasive" because it avoids confusion with other nonindigenous species that pose comparatively minor disruption to our natural environment, economy, or way of life; or those that may in fact be beneficial. However, when referencing legislation in this document, the specific terminology used in each act or regulation has been maintained.

Invasive aquatic species are the focus of this plan because they pose a clear and present threat to Maine's lakes, rivers, marshes, and coastal waters - among the state's most valued resources and mainstays of our unique

lifestyle and economy. We must act to prevent the introduction of invasive aquatic species into the state and limit the spread of existing ones to other Maine waters.

At a later date, Maine may decide to address terrestrial invasive species in the same manner.

What makes invasive species so successful?

Invasive aquatic species are adept at spreading because of their biological vigor and aggressiveness. They and their terrestrial counterparts proliferate because they generally:

- Have reproductive adaptations that allow them to disperse successfully,
- Tolerate and adapt to a wide range of environmental conditions,
- Lack predators and other controls that limit their establishment in new environments, and
- Develop self-sustaining populations.

Ready-made for success, they can disrupt a local ecosystem, economy, or way of life, and travel on to their next easy conquest in no time at all.

How do people spread them?

People keep invasive aquatic species on the move in a multitude of ways. The means and routes by which aquatic invasive species are introduced into a new setting are often referred to as "invasion pathways." In Maine waters, the major pathways created by human activities involve:

- Transporting plants, animals, mud or water between water bodies on and within watercraft, planes, trailers, and other water-contact gear and equipment,
- Fragmenting and spreading established invasive plants and other organisms attached to them by mechanical actions such as trying to remove the plants or operating watercraft within infested areas,
- Releasing or inadvertently allowing the escape of invasive aquatic organisms into the wild from bait buckets, aquariums, water gardens, research and education projects, illegal stocking, containment areas for commercial mariculture projects, and dredge spoils,

- Discharging untreated biological wastes from aquaculture, seafood, or other processing facilities that introduce pathogens and other organisms into marine waters, and
- Releasing invasive species-infested ballast water or navigating the fouled hulls of commercial ships, industrial structures, or recreational boats through marine waters.

Do they spread naturally?

Once introduced by people, invasive aquatic plants, animals, and protists (organisms that are neither plant nor animal) continue to spread naturally and rapidly. They can flow downstream, swim upstream or downstream, float or swim through interconnected waters and currents, and hitch a ride on other organisms such as fish or waterfowl. And with global climate change, they may spread even further as freshwater and ocean temperatures moderate.

How vulnerable is Maine?

In some respects Maine is lucky. Our waters tend to be colder, less nutrient-rich, and in the case of marine waters, higher in salinity – all factors that discourage biological diversity in general. Access to many freshwaters is limited. We are so far north and so isolated geographically and, to some extent, economically that we tend to be the last state or province in the Northeast to host invasive aquatic infestations. For instance, most other states have widespread populations of "invasive weeds" such as Eurasian milfoil and water chestnut in their lakes. But only variable milfoil is established in Maine so far. We still have time to take preventive measures, at least with invasive freshwater plants and animals.

But other factors make Maine highly vulnerable to infestation. The most critical has to do with our marine waters. Because of Gulf Stream currents, Scotian Shelf upwellings, backwash, eddies, and other dynamics of the Gulf of Maine, we will

Gulf of Maine ocean dynamics ensure that Maine will get everything that lands on the East coast and survives local conditions.

eventually get any species that arrives on the East Coast. This means not only from the south, but also from the Great Lakes via the Saint Lawrence Seaway in Canada. The bottom line is that we have little power to prevent the introduction of new marine species that arrive here from natural pathways. Furthermore, the popularity of recreational boating in Maine makes both marine and freshwaters vulnerable. Visiting freshwater boaters come largely from New England and the Maritimes. Recreational mariners come from as far away as the Caribbean and Europe. And their numbers are great.

Maine has much to lose - ecologically, culturally, and economically - if we do not prevent, detect, and control new invaders effectively.

What's at stake?

Let there be no misunderstanding - multitudes of introduced species have been a boon for Maine. We enjoy great benefits from such cultured nonnative organisms as honey bees, corn, and turf grass.

But we are learning to be more selective in what we introduce, having coped with the unanticipated consequences of some particularly unpleasant past introductions. When Dutch elm disease devastated the state's elegant elms in the last century, heartbroken Mainers had to plant other tree species to grace roadsides and lawns. When European green crabs literally ate the bottom out of the state's soft shell clam industry in the 1980's, clam diggers had to buy new gear and go after other fisheries or find other vocations.

While in the past these invasions seemed isolated events, we now know that they were only a forewarning of what promises to be the long term deterioration and change of our natural environment unless Maine takes decisive steps to prevent new invasions. And the threat is not just to Maine. We must be vigilant not to pass on our infestations and aggressive native species elsewhere. Already, the Maine baitworm industry, the largest supplier in the world, unwittingly has sent green crabs to California, hidden in seaweed used in packing bait worms for transport.²

Examples highlighting the most serious potential impacts follow:

Biological Consequences:

1. Invasive species displace native species filling the same ecological niches. The rusty crayfish is such a culprit. Introduced into Maine as

2

bait, this species can out-compete native crayfish for prey, breeding sites, and other needed resources.³ White perch is an example of a species that can easily destroy Maine's native salmonid communities. Many invasive species are similarly capable, becoming the dominant or only species filling a particular niche.

- 2. Invasive species can reduce biodiversity. They can reduce the overall number of organisms in a habitat. For instance, water chestnut and many other invasive freshwater plants can become so prolific that they choke the water column and block out sunlight. As a result, other plants and animals living in the same habitat can no longer survive and may be eliminated locally. Such a community is no longer as species-rich. One national study reports that invasive species have contributed to the placement of 35 to 46 percent of the plants and animals on the Federal Endangered Species List.⁴ It is also important to note that introducing non-indigenous species, inclusive of invasive species, also distorts assessments of biological integrity by making communities appear to have higher numbers of different kinds of species than would occur naturally.⁵
- 3. Invasive species disrupt food webs. The spiny waterflea, *Bythotrephes*, eats smaller plant-eating crustacea such as the common zooplaukton, Daphnia, an important food item for small juvenile fish. The rapid reproductive rate of the spiny waterflea enables the species to monopolize the food supply at times, to the detriment of native fisheries. Small plant-eating fish are further affected because they cannot eat the spines of this waterflea.⁶ Many other invasive species have similar advantages.

4. Invasive species can degrade habitats. Many organisms can degrade and fundamentally change the habitat of local plant and animal communities. For example, the common carp destroys vegetation and increases water turbidity by dislodging plants and rooting around in the bottom muck. The habitat is then unsuitable for species requiring vegetative cover and clear water.⁸ Invasive crayfish are also capable of destroying large areas of aquatic vegetation. They may also spread pathogens and parasites, or alter the genetic make-up of closely related species.³

Socio-Economic Consequences:

1. Invasive species suppress property values and drain public coffers. New research in Vermont shows that invasive plants can cost

shoreline owners over \$12,000 each in lost property values on infested lakes.⁹ The cost to eradicate or control such infestations is considerable. Cooperating partners in Vermont now spend \$300,000 or more a year on just 5 control projects for water chestnut alone. Some other New England states spend even more.

Property value loss alone would exceed \$11 million and control costs could reach \$2-4 million/year, if Maine saw only a fraction of Vermont's plant infestation rate in just our southern five counties.⁹

2. Invasive organisms can impair commercial fishing and aquaculture. Invasive species can bring substantial job and economic losses to commercial finfish and shellfish industries. Some biologists wonder what marine invasive species eat and how they may affect other species. Invasive species can introduce pathogens which native or farmed stock cannot tolerate. They compete more successfully for the same prey. The green crab provides a sobering example. In just a decade, this invader reduced the number of clam diggers in Maine from nearly 5,000 in the 1940s to less than 1500.¹⁰ More recently, the infectious salmon anemia virus, a pathogen that had been found in Maine some time ago, was reintroduced into the state by way of salmon-rearing pens Downeast. This viral strain forced the aquaculture company to destroy all of the fish in Cobscook Bay marine pens. A widespread outbreak could devastate Maine's industry that produces 18% of US and 2% of the world's consumption of farmed Atlantic Salmon.¹¹

3. Invasive species can degrade recreational experiences. Aquatic invasive plants and some species of crayfish can make shallow waters of lakes and rivers unsuitable for swimming, boating, and other water activities. Plants accomplish this by growing so thick that their tangled masses cannot be penetrated. Anglers can no longer fish and people can no longer swim in plant-clogged areas. Crayfish can also ruin recreation values by proliferating so much that they become a nuisance underfoot. For example, cabin owners on heavily crayfishinfested waters in Wisconsin and Minnesota lakes have stopped swimming because large numbers of rusty crayfish occupy their

October 10, 2002

Battling Water Chestnut in Vermont Lesson learned: KEEP FUNDING STABLE

Vermont has learned the hard way that erratic support for control programs costs much more in the long run.

Vermont state and local governments have been battling water chestnut, *Trapa natans*, in Lake Champlain since the 1940's; and more recently in four other nearby lakes as well. Introduced into Massachusetts by a Harvard botantist, water chestnut has now spread throughout the Northeast including Quebec (see map). It reproduces through hard seeds that are spread naturally by waterfowl. Controlling this plant is particularly problematic because the seeds can remain dormant for up to 10 years. **One acre of water chestnut can spread to an area covering 10 acres in just one year.**

The state and partnering communities had the infestation in the 120mile long lake well under control by 1969 using chemical application and hand pulling techniques, but then "walked away" for lack of funding. If they had stuck with it, they could have kept the invader at bay through surveillance and hand pulling of plants in small numbers.

But backing off allowed the infestation to spread throughout the southern half of the lake, in gigantic mats (see photo). Since 1982 when funding once again became available, the Department of Environmental Conservation has spent over \$4.3 million in state and federal funds on a combination of mechanical control and hand pulling, starting from the north each season and working south until the money runs out.

The department and its partners were on the verge of successful control, though not eradication, when funding was withdrawn for a second time in 1989. This lapse allowed the infestation to reoccur substantially, requiring an even greater effort when funding was rejuvenated. Now with the lake once again at a crucial point of "remission," department staff hopes that this time the commitment will remain stable.



Water chestnut on Lake Champlain in Vermont (Photo: Vermont Department of Environmental Conservation)



favorite swimming areas throughout the day; they fear stepping on them and getting pinched by their large claws.¹²

4. Invasive species can impair public water supplies. Macrophytes, large visible-to-the-eye aquatic plants ("water weeds"), are an example of organisms that can threaten public water supplies. Prolific growth and subsequent decomposition of naturally dying plant matter from Eurasian milfoil, water chestnut, and other invasive macrophytes accelerates the increase of organic matter in a lake ecosystem.

Elevated levels of organic matter in drinking water pose special problems for water utilities. First, water that is higher in organic matter is more turbid (less clear). Turbidity interferes with treatment processes. During disinfection, for instance, turbid water can provide a virtual screen where some organisms can "hide" and survive. Organic matter can also clog the filtration systems used by some utilities thus compromising the efficiency and effectiveness of those systems.

A second problem occurs for water treatment systems that use chlorine as a disinfectant. When water is high in organic matter, chlorine systems produce "disinfection by-products," some of which are carcinogenic and are strictly regulated. Keeping levels of such byproducts below safe limits increases treatment costs.¹³

5. Some invasive species threaten native fish populations and spoil sport fisheries. Many invasive fish, crustaceans, and plants can significantly change the quality of sport fisheries in infested waters. Maine already has experienced impacts from illegally stocked fish. Smallmouth bass, for example, could eventually destroy the prized salmon and trout fishery of the Rapid River; and jeopardize the recovery of the Atlantic Salmon, a federally-designated Endangered Species, in Pleasant River Lake. Likewise, muskellunge threaten the trout fishery of the upper St. John. Introduction of these top-level predators greatly affects the entire aquatic community – from fish to invertebrates.

6. Invasive species degrade coastal infrastructure. Many species destroy the structural integrity of piers and other wood pilings causing considerable economic loss. The naval shipworm was introduced into the San Francisco Bay via wooden ships in the early part of the 20th century. It excavated the majority of wood pilings, causing warehouses and loaded freight cars to collapse into the Bay.¹⁴ Some species of tunicates, also known as sea squirts, similarly encrust and destroy marine vessels, structures, and gear.

7. Invasive species can clog or foul pipes and drainage ditches. The zebra mussel is one example of an invasive aquatic species that wreaks havoc by colonizing water supply pipes of hydroelectric plants, public water supply plants, and other industrial facilities. In Michigan, zebra mussel densities have been recorded as high as 700,000 per square meter at one power plant and have reduced intake pipe diameters by two-thirds at two water treatment facilities.¹⁵

8. Some aquatic invasive species threaten public health. Nutria, for example, is an invasive wetland mammal that was introduced into this country from South America in the 1940s for the fur industry. Having migrated as far north as New York, nutria not only destroy emergent marsh vegetation, they also can carry a parasitic nematode that causes a severe rash.¹⁶

What are we already doing about invasive aquatic species?

Action to combat the spread of invasive aquatic species is already occurring within Maine, among states and provinces in the Northeast, and at the federal level. A list describing existing authorities and programs may be found in Appendix B.

Maine's initial efforts were species- and location-specific

Until recently, prevention, detection, and control efforts in Maine primarily focused on specific species or land management areas, as the examples below highlight:

Green Crab - The Department of Marine Resources (DMR), in ٠ conjunction with local clam committees, has long battled the green crab with experimental control methods. Introduced to the state about the time of the Civil War, the green crab's prolific reproductive rate was ready-made for the department's unwitting efforts to seed new clamflats. As the seeding program produced greater yields, crab populations skyrocketed. The Department of Marine Resources experimented with fencing and other controls, but the only significant damper on crab populations occurred when a spate of cold winters depressed them in the late 1960s. Since then, the only success achieved in depleting a local green crab population occurred in the 1970s and 1980s when a Scarborough clam digger found a market in New Jersey for his "crab harvest." More recently, the department has alerted the public to report sightings of the Asian shore crab, a more recent arrival that may prove as destructive as the green if unchecked. (See sidebar on page 17.)

Illegally Introduced Game Fish - Maine law prohibits the transport of fish between waters and importation of baitfish. In the last 15 years, illegal introductions and natural spread of non-native fish species such as smallmouth bass and yellow perch have increased dramatically. This occurred in part because fishing boats now have "live wells." People sometimes use live wells to establish their favorite fishery by illegally transporting fish they've caught in one location and releasing them in other lakes and rivers. Occasionally, the DIFW learns about an introduction early enough to eradicate an invasive fish species before it becomes established (see sidebar). In many other instances, including Umbagog Lake, such action is not possible.

Smallmouth bass were introduced into Umbagog Lake in 1985 and have spread throughout its tributaries, including the Rapid River where they may eventually out-compete and eliminate the renowned brook trout fishery. Because this invader has become so well established and cannot be eradicated in the Umbagog Lake system, Inland Fisheries and Wildlife regulations now encourage people to take as many as possible from the lake, as well as in



DIFW Biologists prepare to apply rotenone to eradicate illegally introduced smallmouth bass from Durepo Lake near Limestone. (Photo: David Baisley)

Protecting Brook Trout Lesson Learned: ACT FAST

A female brook trout can produce between 750 and 1,000 eggs during spawning. A female perch will produce **100 to 200 times as many**. This is why DIFW biologists know they have to act fast to successfully eradicate an invasive fish such as yellow perch or bass and safeguard remaining native brook trout populations. If lucky enough to detect an illegal introduction before spawning, the department has a chance of success. And if the introduction occurs in a part of a watershed that can be isolated, it has an even better chance.

Last year, DIFW used an organic pesticide called rotenone to kill off more than 1,000 largemouth bass that someone had put into Durepo Lake near Limestone. Luckily, the fish were introduced as fry and hadn't yet reproduced. While the pesticide application also wiped out all the native brook trout, other fish, and aquatic insects, the good news is that the aquatic community is expected to recover rapidly. And DIFW is facilitating the process by stocking a wild strain of brook trout. Trout from natural reproduction should repopulate the watershed in less than a decade.

More than thirty years ago, DIFW went to even greater lengths when yellow perch were illegally introduced into Island Pond in T15R9. Acting fast, biologists trapped the native brook trout in the fall, carried them over the height of land into Upper Pond, killed the yellow perch with rotenone, and then moved the "brookies" back in the spring. In addition, they used dynamite to make an impassible barrier to isolate this headwater pond from the lower drainage where the invasive species may have become established. Yellow perch have not repopulated Island Pond and the brook trout fishery remains high quality.

Both instances demonstrate the kind of response that is needed when invasive fish species are detected. Unfortunately, the department has been unable to respond to the multitude of introductions that have allowed bass, and other invasive fish, to spread so widely in Maine that only limited populations of native coldwater brook trout now remain.

Invasive Aquatic Species Action Plan

other waters with established populations, in the hope of at least keeping their numbers down.

- Purple loosestrife Purple loosestrife is a beautiful wetland garden plant introduced from Europe. It produces seeds by the millions, which escape from gardens on the wind or water, only to displace plant species and destroy the habitat of many native birds, fish, and amphibians in wetlands of the Northeast and southern Canada. On federal lands, botanists at Acadia National Park are using herbicides to keep this invasive wetland plant in check at selected release sites, while biologists at the Rachel Carson National Wildlife Refuge are using a biological control, a leafeating beetle with a palate for loosestrife. This method of control is called "integrated pest management." Maine Department of Food and Rural Resources (DAFRR) staff, in coordination with other entities, is helping the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) undertake test trials and provide a nursery situation to produce beetles. Some beetle release projects result from federal EPA permit conditions requiring that wetlands be created or restored with a certain complement of native species diversity. (See sidebar on page 11.)
- Aquaculture and fish pathogens and disease In response to concerns about fish diseases being transported into Maine by aquaculture, DIFW and DMR adopted joint salmonid fish health inspection rules and established a Maine Fish Health Technical Committee in 1999. This committee advises the commissioners about fish pathogens and diseases associated with aquaculture and fisheries. Biologists, pathologists, and veterinarians from state and federal agencies and educational institutions participate in this group and now hold regular consultations.

In addition, both DIFW and DMR have regulations and procedures governing the biosecurity of aquaculture and hatchery operations to minimize the chance that invasive aquatic species are inadvertently moved from one place to another. In addition, DIFW tests all groups of hatchery-reared fishes for pathogens such as whirling disease caused by the aquatic invasive species *Myxobolus cerebralis*. DIFW hatcheries have elaborate intake screen and UV disinfection systems to prevent organisms from infecting fish and becoming established at the hatcheries. Aquatic plants – Some efforts have focused on broadening Maine's understanding of the what's here now. In 1999, the Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP) conducted an aquatic vegetation survey of selected Maine Lakes, in conjunction with the Department of Environmental Protection and Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program (VLMP).¹⁷ In this study, researchers collected aquatic plant community composition data from 30 relatively undisturbed lakes distributed throughout the state and searched for and documented invasive aquatic species in 50 water bodies. In 2001, MNAP developed an Invasive Plant Survey Atlas that, with contributions from volunteers, documents the geographic distribution of invasive terrestrial and aquatic plants throughout Maine that have been listed as invasive by other New England states. The goal of the atlas is to provide evidence of which plants are currently exhibiting invasive growth patterns. MNAP and its partners, DEP, VLMP, and the Nature Conservancy, continue to plan and conduct studies to increase our knowledge of aquatic plant systems in Maine.

Other plant-related efforts have focused on eradicating existing infestations of variable milfoil as in the case of Cushman Pond where the Kezar Lake Watershed Association, residents of Cushman Pond, Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program, and town of Lovell have established an ongoing program to minimize the spread of variable milfoil. (See sidebar on page 8.)

• Freshwater animals - Maine also has an initiative underway to compile existing data on the composition and distribution of freshwater animal and plant species and communities through the Maine Aquatic Biodiversity Project. This database includes both invasive and non-invasive species, including unauthorized fish and crayfish introductions.

Milfoil and fish introductions have prompted a more comprehensive approach

Interest in controlling invasive species in Maine has accelerated for three major reasons.

- 1. Maine's first aggressive submerged aquatic plant invader, variable milfoil, has spread to more than 10 lakes;
- 2. Illegally introduced invasive fish and bait fish have disrupted native fish communities in many waters; and

7

3. We are witnessing rapid infestations of even more destructive species in neighboring states.

To anticipate rather than react to future invasions, the legislature enacted two laws in succession that broaden Maine's approach beyond simply targeting a particular species or habitat type. While the main focus of these recent laws is invasive plants in inland waters, they laid the groundwork for a more comprehensive approach to organisms in <u>any</u> type of aquatic habitat:

- An Act to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Aquatic Plants (Chapter 722) – The 119th Legislature focused on inland waters in a bill enacted in 2000 that prohibited the transportation of 11 invasive aquatic plants (see Appendix C). The law also charged the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) with preparing educational materials and signs; and authorized staff to investigate and document the occurrence of invasive plants, and control their spread, if feasible. The law also directed DEP and DIFW to come back in 2001 with recommendations for the control of plants and animals threatening inland waters.
- An Act to Prevent Infestation of Invasive Aquatic Plants and to Control Other Invasive Species (Chapter 434) – Acting a year later, the 120th Legislature instituted more sweeping authorities, programs, and planning requirements relating to invasive plants and other nuisance species (see Appendix C). The law put in place some key components for an effective invasive aquatic species program for inland waters, including:
 - A boat sticker program to raise funds and public awareness for the prevention, detection, and control of invasive species;
 - > An inspection and education program; and
 - Emergency authority to regulate surface use in plantinfested waters.

In addition, the law directed the governor to appoint an interagency task force on invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species to oversee implementation efforts and to offer recommendations to the Land and Water Resources Council for comprehensive planning and management of "all invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species in the state." Getting People Involved On Cushman Pond Lesson Learned: PUBLIC AWARENESS IS KEY

Cushman Pond is looking like a success story for the Kezar Lake Watershed Association and the many citizens who have banded together to contain and reduce a variable milfoil infestation there, and keep it from spreading to other parts of the watershed.

Homeowners Gerry and Meg Nelson discovered the infestation by chance in several locations along one shoreline of the pond six years ago while canoeing. The Kezar Lake Watershed Association (KLWA), Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program (VLMP), DEP, and DIFW obtained a positive identification of the invasive plant. The VLMP, along with Cushman Pond residents, designed and installed polyethylene barriers to contain it. Then, a licensed individual from DIFW, along with DEP and VLMP staff, applied an aquatic herbicide in the enclosures where the barriers had been installed.

All watched closely to see if the variable milfoil would die off. The following spring, the group found that the infestation within the small area of the barrier had disappeared but scattered plants had spread to several other areas in the pond. They decided that continued use of the herbicide would not be feasible or effective, and some had questions concerning its safety. The group decided to remove the new plants by hand. Since then, about 10 to 20 volunteers team up four to five times a year to look for new stems, using scuba gear in deep areas, snorkels in the shallows, and canoes and kayaks throughout the pond. Using a rope grid system, they usually find a few variable milfoil plants and root masses for two members of the team, who are carefully trained, to remove by hand.

Looking for plants has become a Cushman Pond community event so noteworthy that it attracts TV coverage and many visitors wanting to learn about the Cushman Pond experience. The Cushman Pond group has made it a point to involve all the camp/homeowners on the pond in the annual hunt and cook-out.

The Kezar Lake Watershed Association wrote a grant application under the name of the Association and the Town of Lovell received a \$20,000 grant dedicated to the milfoil project on Cushman Pond. The taxpayers of the town of Lovell have provided an additional \$50,000 to establish a prevention program for the watershed to ensure that the infestation does not spread.

It is no exaggeration to say that early detection, diligence, and the "the more the merrier" approach have truly paid off. Since chemicals can no longer be used, Gerry and Meg are quick to share their advice with others – increase public knowledge so that infestations will be spotted while hand removal is still an option for bringing these dangerous invasive plants under control.

October 10, 2002



Variable milfoil hunt on Cushman Pond in Lovell, Maine. (Photo: Gerry Nelson)

Appendix B describes what state agencies, interagency groups, organizations and other partners are doing to implement the provisions of this important new law and carry out other state and federal initiatives to prevent, detect, and control the introduction and spread of invasive aquatic plants. A January 2002 report from DEP and DIFW to the Legislature titled, *Invasive Aquatic Species Program Report* provides a detailed account of these activities.¹⁹ See also DEP and DIFW websites: <u>http://www.state.me.us/dep/blwq/topic/invasive.htm</u> and http://www.state.me.us/dep/blwq/topic/invasive.htm.

This plan is the direct result of Task Force work to create a "comprehensive state invasive aquatic species and nuisance species management plan that meets the requirements of the National Invasive Species Act of 1996," as charged by the Maine Legislature.

The Federal government plays a key role, too

Section 1204 of the Aquatic Nuisance Prevention and Control Act of 1990 (amended as the National Invasive Species Act of 1996) specifically calls for states to develop comprehensive Nonindigenous Aquatic Nuisance Species Management Plans. While Maine would have prepared this plan on its own initiative, the federal role is welcome because it carries with it the possibility of funding for implementation and increases opportunities for regional coordination. The Act authorizes a 75:25 federal to state match of funds required to achieve objectives and actions outlined in plans approved by the federal Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force (ANS Task Force, also established by the 1990 Act). In developing this plan, the task force has closely followed the *Guidance for State and Interstate Aquatic Nuisance Species Management Plans* developed by the federal task force.

Looking at both terrestrial and aquatic organisms, the National Invasive Species Council developed a *Management Plan for Meeting The Invasive Species Challenge* as directed by Executive Order 13112.²⁰ This plan provides national leadership and oversight on invasive species and ensures that federal agency activities are coordinated, effective, work in partnership with states. In addition to managing invasive species on federal lands, many federal land managers and researchers provide technical support and information about the biology, distribution, pathways, and impacts of invasive species to state governments. See Appendix B for a general list of federal authorities and programs.

Regional coordination is also underway

While the authorities and programs outlined in this plan are generally limited to the political boundaries of this state, Maine is also coordinating with Northeastern states and bordering Canadian provinces, through the recently-formed Northeast Regional Panel of the Federal Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force. The mission of the panel is to provide networking opportunities for participants and to streamline activities such as research, monitoring, and public awareness efforts.

One group of botanists from organizations and agencies involved with terrestrial and freshwater invasive plant issues is specifically coordinating their efforts to document and track the occurrence and spread of invasive plants in New England. The University of Connecticut, in conjunction with the New England Invasive Plant Group, is compiling an invasive plant atlas for the region and creating an early warning system to alert states and public laud managers of potential threats. Maine's Natural Areas Program is

9
participating in this effort and has produced an Invasive Plant Survey Atlas.²¹

Public comments made a difference

The public, through representatives of various interests who sit on the Task Force, has been indirectly involved in the development of this plan and has been kept apprised of Task Force meetings through press releases and public notices. Considerable public debate and discourse occurred during legislative deliberations on the two bills passed in 2000 and 2001. Many of the action items in this plan are a direct result of, and build on, the strength of the programs and policies established at that time.

The Task Force held four meetings around the state, and designated 30 days for written comments, to provide opportunities for public comment on the draft of this plan. It then made many changes in response. These are summarized in Appendix F.

The most significant changes respond to calls for more aggressive state action on this issue, particularly in regard to the sticker funding mechanism (Task 1E); inspections (3B1b); enforcement (Tasks 3C3A and 4A2c); and all things fish, e.g. policy (Task 3C3a), rapid response (4B2), and monitoring (5A3).

Invasive Aquatic Species Action Plan

10

Maine's Approach

Prevention is the key

Consistent with Maine's traditional approach to addressing environmental problems, the goals of this plan are based on a hierarchy designed <u>first</u> to prevent problems, and <u>then, if any should occur</u>, to limit their extent and reduce their effects. Prevention carries a price tag, but it is the only possible way to avoid incurring much higher costs associated with the environmental, economic, and social disruptions that follow infestations of aquatic invasive organisms. Specifically, Maine's goals are to:

- 1. Prevent new introductions of invasive plant and animal aquatic species into the state to the extent possible;
- 2. Limit the spread of established populations to other waters of the state;
- 3. Reduce the harmful effects resulting from infestations of invasive aquatic species by managing those that cannot be eradicated; and
- 4. Educate the public and people involved in business, trade, research and government so well about invasive aquatic species that they do not facilitate the introduction or spread of species through activities over which they have control.

Assessing the biggest threats

Maine's approach to identifying priorities among the myriad of problems and concerns relating to invasive aquatic organisms is based upon an environmental assessment. Using the best information available, which in some cases is quite limited, the analysis considers the potential risks that may result if Maine takes no action at all to prevent, detect, or reduce infestations. The first part of the assessment focuses on organisms. The second part considers invasion pathways.

The Advisory List of Invasive Aquatic Species, located in Appendix D, is the result of this analysis. Please note that while the label "species" is used in the table for purposes of simplicity, the list also includes organisms that are not considered species, e.g. viral pathogens.



Loosestrife-eating beetle Photo: Cornell University

Choosing Battles With Purple Loosestrife Lesson Learned: CONTROL TAKES CONTINUAL EFFORT

Controlling purple loosestrife is central to preserving the ecological diversity and integrity of wetlands with unique values; it is also sometimes a condition applied to federal wetland mitigation permits. Land managers have learned that control of such a widely established species is a long-term proposition that must be undertaken selectively.

Acadia National Park has implemented an Integrated Pest Management Strategy for loosestrife since 1989. The strategy has several prongs without which the park's wetlands would have been overrun years ago. The park avoids water drawdown and site disturbance during the growing season to avoid exposing mudflats where seeds can germinate. It surveys all wetlands at least every three years to pinpoint new infestations. Every year, seasonal workers spray stems at "active" wetland sites with the herbicide glysophate, and count them at selected sampling sites. And the park botanist is beginning to work with landowners on sites outside the park boundary.

The loosestrife-eating beetle, Galerucella calmeriensis, Is another approach to longterm control. This beetle has passed 10 years of rigorous study to ensure its introduction will not have unintended consequences. Rachel Carson National Wildlife Refuge (RCNWR), as well as DAFRR and other entities, have released beetles in several locations (see table below), and monitor their populations annually. The beetles are surviving, and significantly damaging loosestrife populations at sites that have been established for 4 or 5 years.

Year	Location	Responsible Entity	Quantity	Source
1997	Bangor	USDA/DAFRR	5000	USDA
	Salsbury Cove	DAFRR/USDA	1500	"
	Kittery	Kittery Land Trust	5000	Other
1998	Winslow	MDOT/DAFRR	5000	USDA
1999	Phippsburg	TNC/DAFRR	5000	"
	Lewiston	MDOT/DAFRR	5000	w
	Woolwich	Permit applicant	5000	Other
2000	Hamden	MDOT	3500	w
	Lewiston	MDOT	5000	w
2002	Norridgewock	Permit applicant	3000	n
	Salsbury Cove	DAFRR/USDA	5000	USDA
	Scarborough	Permit applicant	3000	w
1996	Wells, Scarbor.	RCNWR	10,000	N
to	Saco, Ogunq, York	•	•	
present		· ·		

While this plan emphasizes more "truly" aquatic invasive species found in fresh and marine waters, it also considers <u>wetland</u> species that straddle aquatic and terrestrial habitats. <u>Upland</u> species that inhabit the fringe of wetlands and shorelands but are not truly wetland species are not included but noted in footnotes on the table for future reference in the event that the state undertakes a similar planning process for terrestrial invasive species.

Species assessment

The Advisory List of Invasive Aquatic Species located in Appendix D provides a planning tool for setting priorities and direction to ensure coordinated interagency action. In and of itself, the list is not a regulation or law. It is up to the Legislature or agencies with jurisdiction over a particular species to adopt statutory or rule changes that prohibit or require a permit for the importation of these organisms.

The list is designed to provide a better understanding of the relative threat that each organism poses and identify the common pathways of spread that appear most crucial to address. The table groups the organisms by type of water (freshwater, wetland, and marine) and biological taxa (crustacea or fish), and according to broad management categories for later refinement into specific management strategies.

Controlling pathways is key to success. And the distinction between targeting particular species or the most crucial invasion pathways is critical to note: the species on the table represent only present conditions and knowledge - we don't know exactly what may arrive in the future so we must anticipate their pathways.

The Technical Subcommittee and other agency staff developed the entries in the columns based upon information gleaned from the literature or personal knowledge. For a few species, not enough information is presently available to complete all of the assessment.

This list of species is only a beginning. It is not exhaustive and will be updated annually as we learn more about additional species that pose a threat.

A description of the definitions used for each of the columns follows.

	ASSESSMENT CRITERIA							
<u>Topic:</u>	Column Heading/Explanation:							
Occurrence:	Likelihood species will be introduced into the state Likelihood species will spread elsewhere in state							
Vigor:	Biological Vigor – a combined evaluation of the ability of a species to proliferate and spread successfully							
Potential Impacts:	Biological Consequences – a combined evaluation of the adverse impacts on other species, biodiversity, food webs, and habitat characteristics							
· ·	Social and Economic Consequences – a combined evaluation of the impacts on infrastructure, recreation values, property values, public health, and commercial enterprise							
Management:	Difficulty – relative technical feasibility and acceptability (environmental and political) of available eradication and control mechanisms							
	Cost – relative level of resource investment (e.g. money, time) needed to eradicate or control species							
High means a serious impact or degree of influence Low describes a mild impact Moderate lies somewhere in between.								

Occurrence

Species already occurring in Maine are noted with an "X" on the table. The closest state or area where a species is established is indicated for those that are likely to be introduced.

Biological Vigor

The factors that allow invasive aquatic species to proliferate and spread easily include high reproductive rate, high adaptability, and lack of predators or other controls in their new environment.

Maine Pathways

Pathways documented or believed to be most important in Maine are described on pages 1 and 2 and pages 14 through 17.

Potential Consequences

While Maine has not yet developed "fact sheets" for each species, we do have the benefit of much information prepared by other entities, along with research on species ecology. These sources have provided the information shown under this category. For a general description of these impacts, see pages 2-4. See Appendix E for a sample fact sheet.

Assessment Summary

The assessment columns summarize the information in the previous columns for each species, and introduce new information on species management considerations. Essentially, they are the criteria used to place species on the list.

Biologists on the Technical Subcommittee, along with other invited state and federal reviewers, used their professional judgment to assess the potential negative factors associated with each of the species. They applied a high, moderate, or low rating to each criterion as described in the box on this page.

Management Categories

Following the assessment, the subcommittee then assigned each species to one of the management categories in the box below:

Prevention and Eradication

Prevent introduction of new organisms and limit the spread of those with limited and controllable populations

- 1. What is the likelihood of an organism being introduced into Maine? Since prevention is much easier, far less costly, and more likely to work than controlling an aggressive invasive after it is established, it is important to know whether an invasive species or strain or pathogen is already here. If an organism is not present but is likely to appear in an environment from sources that can be anticipated and controlled, Maine will endeavor to minimize opportunities favorable to its introduction.
- 2. What is the likelihood of on organism spreading within Maine? For the same reason, Maine will seek to detect and eradicate new infestations early that have not yet widely spread.

A variety of management tools will be used to prevent introduction and spread. Some organisms will be outright prohibited as are the invasive macrophytes already named in statute and others prohibited through agency rules. For many in this category, vigilant action will be taken to detect and eradicate infestations. Other species can be more effectively managed through education or changes in federal oversight, depending upon the species or strain.

Selective Control and/or Impact Management

Selectively control and/or anticipate the impacts of organisms that are, or will be, widely established.

1. Do environmental or socio-economic values warrant controlling an invasive aquatic organism that is already established? It would be exceedingly difficult and, in some cases, undesirable to eradicate the entire populations of species already well established within the state. And, in the case of marine organisms introduced by Gulf of Maine ocean dynamics or fish introduced to large inland waterbodies, prevention or eradication would be impossible. Accordingly, Maine will manage and or monitor and study these species on a case-bycase basis.

On public lands, certain species may be controlled selectively to maintain natural and indigenous diversity. DIFW will continue to stock desirable fish species where appropriate, enforce laws against illegal introduction to avoid spreading invasive fish into vulnerable environments, and eradicate undesirable species when practical. An ongoing assessment of the state's aquatic biodiversity will help identify sensitive areas and protect areas with high natural biodiversity and integrity.

In addition, DEP and DIFW commissioners will carefully consider environmental trade-offs that affect the spread of invasive aquatic species when considering permit applications. For instance, removing additional Kennebec River dams without providing expensive tributary barriers may allow carp to spread to and out-compete important fisheries. In the case of any potential dam removals or similar actions, the state will consider whether the potential spread of invasive aquatic species and increased management costs outweigh the advantages of the action. It may also incorporate the costs of addressing invasive species in these projects.

We need to know how invasive species affect our natural ecosystems and better understand the potential impacts of control programs.

For species on the list over whose introduction and spread the state has little control, Maine will conduct or compile research about ecology and potential impacts and seek ways to minimize their harmful effects.

No Action At This Time

Learn more before acting.

- 1. Do we know enough to determine whether an organism will be a problem? The biology and potential effects of some invasive species or pathogen strains are still under investigation. If we suspect the outcome of such research will reveal that a species will be invasive in Maine, it will be included in this category.
- 2. Which species are now far away and spreading slowly? Some species are quite distant now and appear to be spreading slowly. Maine will keep an eye on these to make sure that conditions do not change.
- 3. Which species could become established if climatic conditions change? Maine's cold climate and ocean

temperatures now limit warnwater species. But warming temperatures and fluctuating weather patterns may in time be more favorable to their introduction. At the same time, changing conditions may become less favorable for coldwater species, thus contributing to an overall shift toward warnwater assemblages. Taking the long view, Maine will monitor climatic conditions to provide early warning of potential infestations.

Dispute Resolution

1. Is there disagreement or uncertainty among agencies or from the public on whether certain organisms are a threat to Maine? This category ensures that species that have been left off the list for lack of agreement can be easily ascertained and the dispute resolved. No organisms have been placed in this category at this time.

Transport pathways assessment

The Advisory List identifies the various human activities that provide pathways (sometimes called "vectors") for the introduction or spread of aquatic invasive species. The marine section is the only place this table shows natural mechanisms as a pathway but readers should bear in mind that organisms in other habitats can spread naturally, too.

Water currents, wind, waterfowl, and other natural mechanisms can also spread an invasive aquatic species throughout a water body and its interconnected systems.

In 2001, over 3% of the boats & trailers inspected at 7 crossborder stations carried plant fragments. If these plants had been invasive, they could have resulted in at least 1200 new infestations. This does not count gear and live wells that wardens found carrying almost as many fragments. We have much to learn about invasive aquatic species pathways. But based on what we do know, Maine will place high priority on addressing those described below. This assessment will be updated as new information becomes available.

Equipment transport

Plants, animals, mud or water can be transported between water bodies by watercraft, planes, trailers, bait buckets, and other water-contact equipment. The popularity of water activities on Maine waters, both recreational and commercial, makes equipment transport the most likely pathway based upon shear numbers of users.

Invasive organisms can become attached to, entangled on, or immersed within the following:

- Watercraft of all kinds, float planes, trailers, and ATVs;
- Fishing and waterfowl hunting gear such as dipnets, tackle, traps, hip waders, float tubes, anchors, and decoys and lines;
- Water contact sport gear for such activities as scuba diving, water skiing, kayaking, wind surfing; and
- Construction equipment used within the water on dams, causeways, water and power lines, and other projects.

Fragmentation and spread

People can easily fragment and spread established invasive plants and other organisms attached to them.

- Vehicular surface use within infested areas already has spread variable milfoil and will continue to be a priority for attention to prevent infestations of other species and other lakes from occurring. The variable milfoil infestation on Messalonskee Stream confirms this reality.
- Mechanical control can be a problem, too. Well-intentioned shorefront owners can spread an infestation by trying to pull out and remove invasive plants without proper training and equipment. Mechanical controls, even when conducted according to protocol, can be problematic under the best of circumstances because of the difficulty of capturing all loose fragments.

Release into the wild

Releasing organisms accidentally or purposefully into the wild from live wells, bait buckets, aquariums, water gardens, research and education projects, and illegal stocking is a significant pathway for invasive species.

- Discarded live bait has proven to be a primary pathway in Maine's freshwaters. Rusty crayfish and rudd are two examples of invasive species used for bait that were discarded thoughtlessly or fell off the hook. Discarding cleaned fish skins and entrails also has the potential to spread invasive organisms.
- Invasive organisms purchased for water and wetland gardens provide pathways, too. With the current popularity of gardening, people are introducing many more non-native species into their water gardens and wetland edges. Some of these have the potential to be invasive and spread by natural means. Purple loosestrife became established in this country as a garden plant imported from Europe. Aquatic plants can also be mislabeled and confused with native or innocuous non-native species and inadvertently released. For instance, a professional botanist may have spotted water chestnut at a recent Maine garden show.
- Invasive organisms purchased for aquariums and as pets are a threat if they can successfully over-winter. An invasive species of snail was presumably introduced into the Belgrade Lakes by someone discarding the contents of a used aquarium into a lake or stream in the chain. And Colby and Bates students dumped goldfish and other aquaria contents into college ponds. In addition and as with landscape materials, organisms can be mislabeled and confused with native or innocuous species. Recently, a state biologist inadvertently purchased an invasive freshwater plant that is prohibited for sale when it was inadvertently mixed in with a species that had been legally stocked for sale.²²
- Invasive species used in education and research pose a similar threat. Marine and freshwater organisms can be ordered from supply companies around the world through catalogues or internet web sites. Once organisms are delivered, they can be handled improperly and released. Both lab and field routines present the opportunity for accidental or purposeful release through wastewater discharge of unwanted organisms and poorly contained study apparatus. Mudpuppies, subjects of research by a Colby College biology professor, escaped into the Belgrade Lakes around 1940. The professor imported and purchased the mudpuppies from a Pennsylvania biological supply house.²³

- Fish illegally introduced into Maine waters include such species as northern pike, muskellunge, walleye, yellow perch, and black crappie. Other managed non-native species that have been illegally introduced into non-target waters include smallmouth and largemouth bass. White perch, rainbow smelt, chain pickerel, and yellow perch are among the species native to some Maine waters that have been illegally introduced into other waters where they did not belong and had the opportunity to become invasive. Live wells in boats have made illegal transport and stocking very easy.
- Dredge Spoils are sometimes dumped in the ocean and could contain invasive organisms. The extent of this potential problem is not known. While DEP and DMR have some authority over dredging, the extent of their authority and focus on preventing the spread of invasive aquatic species is unclear.

Marine Products Import and Export

Processing and sale of live fin and shellfish are important components of Maine's economy. Unfortunately, they can also result in the unintentional release of invasive organisms, such as pathogens, crabs, and epiphytes. Specific pathways include:

- Seafood waste from imported shucked shells and other unwanted materials can be a problem if discarded into marine waters. Such dumping is prohibited and controlled by Chapter 24, Title 12 Section 6251.
- Seafood packing materials composed of algal or plant materials can also be a problem if discarded into Maine waters or shipped out of state. Stowaway organisms hidden in such materials are hard to detect even when one pays close attention.
- **Bivalve wet storage** where shellfish are held in flow-through systems connected to surrounding surface waters can introduce stowaway invasive organisms, too. This most commonly occurs in association with lobster off-loading docks and depuration plants, the numbers of which have declined in recent years. This activity is regulated by Chapter 24, Title 12, Section 6071.

Aquaculture practices

Aquaculture of fin and shellfish is an important sector of Maine's economy. While intensive culture reduces the adverse effects of over-harvesting wild stocks, it may also result in the release and spread of invasive organisms, especially pathogens and shell-borers. Some of the most likely pathways in Maine from this source are described below:

- Shellfish seed are commonly grown in hatcheries in Maine but occasionally imported for use in shellfish culture operations. Subject to permit, through Chapter 24, Title 12, Section 6070. Shellfish culture is conducted primarily in the Damariscotta River area.
- Shellfish cultch, i.e. discarded shells, is used to create clean, hard surfaces on which juveniles settle and attach in grow-out areas. If such materials have not been properly disinfected and selected, they can transport invasive aquatic species.
- Finfish holding systems such as raceways, flow-through tanks, and net pens expose surrounding aquatic systems to pathogens associated with cultural fish populations. Infectious salmon anemia virus, for example, can spread when marine net pens are in close proximity to one another. Salmon fry/young are raised in freshwater in Maine, then moved to holding pens, primarily Downeast. Canadian waters support salmon culture as well.
- Cultivation areas for new commercial species also may facilitate introduction. Without containment and sufficient information about species ecology, new mariculture initiatives could allow free interchange of potentially invasive aquatice species with natural systems, thus allowing their release into the wild. For example, nori, an invasive marine red algae, was cultivated under permit during the 1990s in Eastern Maine where the water was determined to be too cold for its reproduction.

Marine vessels

Commercial shipping and fishing vessels, cruise ships, dry docks, oil platforms, and recreational boating are some of the most important sources of unintentional aquatic invasive species introductions into coastal and estuarine waters of the United States and worldwide.²⁴ The steady rise of global commerce, increased shipping and cruising activities, and shorter transport times all facilitate invasive aquatic species dispersal.

Commercial vessels fill and release ballast tanks with seawater from harbors (and sometimes freshwaters) as a means of stabilizing loads. Research indicates that live organisms ranging from plankton to adult fish are regularly transported and released via this pathway.²⁵ Except for foreign fishing vessels that do the opposite, ships coming to Maine generally unload cargo and take on rather than release ballast water here. For those that do release ballast water, the introduction of invasive species is a concern.

• Hull fouling may rival ballast water discharge as the leading historical cause of harmful invasive aquatic species introductions.²⁶ Organisms with sedentary life history stages such as shipworms attach to the hulls of vessels or become entangled in submerged ship components. These organisms survive for extended periods on vessels of any size and be introduced through dislodging, disentanglement, or by spawning in the ports to which they are transported. Cruise ships, recreational East Coast boaters, commercial vessels, and industrial structures are primary sources of marine invasive organisms in Maine.



Diggers compete with the green crab for softshell clams. (Photo credit: Garrett Coffin, DMR archives)

Poisoning Green Crabs Lesson Learned: AVOID UNINTENDED CONSEQUENCES

DEP biologists puzzled over the source of DDT and other pesticides found in mudflats during the 1990s. Then they learned that, in an attempt to eradicate the green crab, the state and individuals had applied those same pesticides to the flats about 50 years earlier.

Those persistent pesticides seemed like a good idea at the time, but thanks to Rachel Carson, we now know that they had devastating effects on wildlife. Fortunately, much has since been done to improve the way chemicals are used to tackle environmental problems. But the lesson learned from our attempt to control the green crab is still important – the environment is an interconnected system in which one action may have unintended consequences for other parts of the system, including our reaction to a new species. We must be careful that our "cure" does not cause new or even more serious problems.

As Maine searches for approaches to eradicating and controlling invasive aquatic species, we must think and act thoughtfully and responsibly. This may even mean acting "too slowly" in the face of public pressure to take dramatic yet potentially risky steps. This was certainly the case recently when some individuals wanted the state to require an application of pesticides to a dry dock towed from China and to scrub the hull. Polsoning might have unnecessarily harmed native species and scrubbing would have released fragments to deeper, warmer and saltier places in the estuary where stowaway invasive species could survive – leaving it in freezing freshwater turned out to be the most effective approach although perhaps less dramatic.

And when dealing with species whose establishment is not prevented, we have to accept that evolution will take its course as the environment seeks equilibrium in accommodating invaders. While the shellfish industry is not what it once was, the green crab and soft shell clam seem to have reached a stable relationship - only time will tell what the mudflat ecosystem will be like over the long term.

Action Plan

This plan guides and coordinates the policies and programs of state agencies and action partners involved in managing invasive aquatic species. It also sets priorities for obtaining funds to support planned activities. "Action partners" is a term that describes the institutions and organizations committed to assisting the state in the endeavors specified in this plan.

Four key goals underpin Maine's Action Plan:

- 1. Educate the public and people involved in business, trade, research and government so well about invasive aquatic species that they do not facilitate the introduction or spread of species through activities over which they have control;
- 2. Prevent new introductions of invasive aquatic plant and animal species into the state to the extent possible;
- 3. Limit the spread of established populations to other waters of the state; and
- 4. Reduce the harmful effects resulting from infestations of invasive aquatic species by managing those that cannot be eradicated.

Five objectives organize the work to be done:

- 1. Provide effective leadership, coordination and program monitoring,
- 2. Raise awareness and educate the public well,
- 3. Strengthen programs to avoid introduction and transport,
- 4. Be prepared to respond rapidly and control spreading, and
- 5. Effectively inventory, research, and manage information.

Leading strategies stand out:

- 1. Freshwater Plants and Organisms That Travel With Them:
 - <u>First line of defense</u>: The fledgling watercraft inspection program for milfoil and other macrophytes will be strengthened so that it is as effective as a voluntary program can be. It will be expanded to include tidal rivers and also inform the public about zebra mussels and other organisms that are transported with these plants;

• <u>Second line of defense</u>: A monitoring and rapid response system will be established to eradicate new infestations. Maine will move to a mandatory inspection program or other stringent controls should infestations occur beyond acceptable thresholds.

2. <u>Non-native freshwater fish:</u>

- <u>First line of defense</u>: Stocking of any fish into any water of the state requires a permit from DIFW. DIFW will continue to regulate transfers in this manner. A high priority will be placed on developing a regular, ongoing public information and education effort to increase public awareness of the impacts of illegal fish introductions and the need for public support and assistance with the enforcement of laws designed to discourage unauthorized fish introductions. A very high priority will be placed on the enforcement of laws designed to prevent the illegal introduction of fish species.
- <u>Second line of defense</u>: DIFW will establish and maintain a contingency program including staff, training, equipment, and financial resources necessary to provide a speedy and credible response to illegal introductions. DIFW will remove the fish if feasible to do so. DIFW will afford no specific regulatory protection to any fish species introduced illegally. Where a practical benefit can be reasonably expected, DIFW will adopt regulations designed to maximize the take of the illegally introduced species to the benefit of indigenous species.

DIFW's ability to achieve these goals may be hampered by limited staff and financial resources.

3. Marine Species:

Since Maine has no defense against species that are introduced into marine waters on the East Coast, the State will seek to understand the ecology and impacts of species that have the greatest potential to disrupt Maine's commercial fisheries and marine infrastructure.

4. All Species:

Maine will identify invasive aquatic organisms coming into the state, list and prohibit the most harmful as appropriate, and inform retailers, wholesalers, and the public about how to avoid introduction and spread, in collaboration with the Northeast Panel and other states and provinces.

GUIDE TO SYMBOLS:

• High priority

 Funding needed before task can be undertaken
Note: Existing sources may cover none or only a portion of these tasks, including some high priority ones.

Objective 1: Leadership, Coordination, & Program Monitoring

<u>Overview:</u> In moving toward a comprehensive approach to managing invasive species as directed by LD 1812 (Title 38, Chapter 722), Maine has laid the framework for providing strong leadership and coordination on this issue. The Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species, supported by "dedicated" staff within DEP and DIFW, will provide ongoing advice to Maine's Land and Water Resources Council, the group of state agency commissioners mandated to advise the Governor, the Legislature, and state agencies on natural resources policy. Details need to be refined, however, in regard to some of the most important aspects of the Task Force's work. These include the need to:

- A. Close the management gap to include tidal and marine waters,
- B. Ensure ongoing and timely communications and agreements among agencies and action partners,
- C. Establish a process for periodic update of this action plan,
- D. Ensure a strong voice on the Northeast AIS Panel and other regional working groups and in Washington, DC; and
- E. Review the sticker funding mechanism for the program to ensure that it is fair, effective, and adequate to meet high priority needs.

Strategy 1A: Close the management gap to include tidal and marine waters

<u>Issue:</u> Under current law, Maine's tidal rivers are not included in the freshwater plant inspection and education program. This is because they are under the jurisdiction of DMR rather than DIFW. Invasive aquatic plants and other organisms could be introduced in these rivers through recreational watercraft and gear. State and nationally significant resources such as Merry Meeting Bay on the Kennebec River could be affected.

In addition, invasive aquatic species also pose a threat in marine waters, especially to commercial fisheries and marine infrastructure.

Because the threat to lakes was the primary impetus for establishment of the Task Force, marine interests were not included in the legislation. Nevertheless, the Department of Marine Resources (DMR) has participated in the development of this plan. While there is an important role for DMR to play in managing invasive aquatic species, the department lacks the authority and resources to effectively participate.

Task 1A1: Marine Representation +

The Land and Water Resources Council will ask the Governor to submit legislation in 2003 seeking the inclusion of marine representation on the Task Force. In addition to the DMR Commissioner, the following types of interests should be considered: U.S. Coast Guard and Navy, port authorities, coastal boaters and marinas, commercial fishing, shipping, and boat building.

Task 1A2: Tidal Rivers and Marine Waters+

The Task Force, during the first annual review of the program in 2003, and in conjunction with DMR, DEP, and DIFW, will clarify details about how tidal rivers will be integrated into the inspection and education program, and how the sticker program can be expanded to cover DMR's invasive aquatic species management efforts. Depending upon the outcome of this review, the Land and Water Resources Council may ask the Governor to seek changes to LD 1812 (Title 38, Chapter 722) that will ensure that tidal rivers are managed to prevent the spread of invasive aquatic species, and extend the sticker program to include boats used on coastal waters. These changes will allow DMR to participate with IF&W and DEP on coastal waters; fulfill other invasive aquatic species management responsibilities under this plan; and raise public awareness about the vulnerability of tidal waters to freshwater plant and animal infestations.

Strategy 1B: Ensure timely and ongoing communications

<u>Issue:</u> The Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator at DEP is responsible for ensuring ongoing coordination and communication among agencies and action partners. No understanding currently exists as to how this will be accomplished. But the Task Force and agencies do agree on the premise that Maine should proceed using its existing jurisdictional and regulatory structure. Task 1B: Technical Subcommittee & Interagency Coordination \bullet Participating agencies and action partners will report progress on implementing the plan to the Task Force on an annual basis. The Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator will work with the Technical Subcommittee and other agencies and partners to review functional roles, gaps in authority, and develop an integrated annual work plan and budget for consideration by the Task Force and the Land and Water Resources Council. Three DEP positions will continue to provide staff support to the Task Force and fulfill DEP's role in the inspection and education program. The Technical Subcommittee will continue to include representation from DEP, DIFW, DAFRR, DOC, and DMR.

Strategy 1C: Establish action plan update process Issue: Legislation establishing the Task Force did not specify a process for updating the action plan; and how the public was to be involved in its formulation.

Task 1C: Plan Update Process

The Task Force will review, update, and submit the action plan for Land and Water Resources Council approval on a revolving, fouryear basis. This means the Task Force will plan ahead for two biennial budget periods, a total of four years, during each biennial review. Public representation on the Task Force, public notice of meetings, and legislative consideration of relevant budgets and programs will ensure public involvement in the process.

Strategy 1D: Ensure a strong regional and national voice

Issue: Some activities, especially those related to commerce, are best accomplished regionally or nationally. DEP and DMR represent Maine on the Northeast Regional Panel. DOC Natural Heritage Program and Department of Agriculture and Rural Resources (DAFRR) staff participates in the New England Invasive Plant Group. A member of the task force sits on the National Invasive Species Advisory Committee to the National Invasive Species Council that covers both aquatic and terrestrial species. DMR and the State Planning Office (SPO) participate in the Gulf of Maine Council. The Council named invasive aquatic species a high priority in its recent plan. Maine is thus well represented and needs to use these opportunities well.

Task 1D1: Regional Coordination +

Maine will continue to provide active representation in these organizations and advocate for regional initiatives or cost-sharing agreements on projects that are best undertaken at this level.

Task 1D2: National Coordination

Maine's Task Force, through the Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator, will provide periodic communications on Maine's progress and emerging issues/needs to the congressional delegation and the National AIS Task Force. The Maine Task Force representative will do likewise on the advisory committee to the National Invasive Species Council.

Strategy 1E: Review funding mechanism

<u>Issue:</u> Many concerns were raised during public comment on this plan about the fairness, effectiveness, and adequacy of the sticker program. A need also exists to determine how it can best support DMR's participation in the program, especially, among other implementation tasks, the details of how DMR can be integrated into the prevention, detection, and response issues related to tidal rivers.

Task 1Ea: Sticker Program

DEP and DIFW, and in conjunction with DMR in regards to expansion to estuarine and marine waters, will evaluate the revenue stream generated by the sticker program, and make recommendations to the Task Force during the 2003 program review better to ensure that it is fair, effective, and adequate to meet high priority program needs.

Task 1Eb: Administrative Training

DEP and DIFW will provide information and training for local officials and other sticker "vendors" through such means as the Maine Municipal Association's annual meeting and publications.

Objective 2: Education and Outreach

Strategy 2A: Speak with one voice

Issue: Current education initiatives relating to invasive aquatic plant species lack a unified coordinator, budget, and approach to audience messages. This means that efforts may sometimes be duplicated, work at cross-purposes, or not happen at all. Because Maine's efforts will encompass more than just plants, it will be even more important that the

20

agencies work together to ensure consistent treatment of overarching messages, logos, and the like.

Task 2A: Education Coordination

Agencies will assume responsibility for spearheading education efforts related to the species under their authority, with DEP taking the lead on plants, DIFW on inland fisheries and wildlife, and DMR on marine species. They will establish an education subcommittee of personnel involved in the effort from DIFW, DOC, DAFRR, DMR, and other agencies and non-profit organizations as appropriate, and report annually to the Task Force on their efforts and, in particular, on issues relating to overarching matters such as general messages and unified logos.

Strategy 2B: Raise public consciousness in general about invasive aquatic species

Issue: Freshwater plants get all the press. Maine citizens now perceive that "milfoil" is the invasive aquatic species problem. Most are yet unaware that the issue is broader, threatening other plants and freshwater animals and affecting the marine environment as well. Many state and federal agencies around the country, including Maine's Natural Areas Program in conjunction with the university extension program, have developed fact sheets that can serve as models and sources of information.

Task 2B1: General Campaign

The Education Coordinator and Subcommittee will conduct a general campaign to acquaint the public with the following messages, through such tools as press releases, public service announcements and presentations, Task Force website (on the DEP web site), links with community and non-profit organization websites, and posters and brochures in town offices, marinas, retail stores, and other heavily trafficked places:

- Pride in our state will be the thematic motivator and prevention will be the key theme, at least for most freshwater/ and wetland invasive aquatic species. Anticipation and understanding of harmful impacts are more realistic goals for marine species.
- > Many freshwater plants, not just milfoil, are a big threat.
- > Freshwater animals and marine species pose a threat, too.
- The scale and nature of impacts could be substantial. Doing nothing could be costly.
- > Individuals can make a difference.

Program results, i.e. where has the money been spent and did it make a difference?

Task 2B2: Uniform Education Materials

The education subcommittee will develop a uniform format, logo, and approach to the development of fact sheets, wallet ID cards, and other such educational materials; and coordinate their development (see sample fact sheet in Appendix E). Individual agencies will develop and distribute the materials.

Task 2B3: Public Perceptions+

DEP and the education subcommittee will continue to purchase "questions" on an existing, annual statewide survey to determine public knowledge and perceptions about this issue. The survey will be repeated periodically to measure program progress in raising public awareness and initiative.

Strategy 2C: Target and inform audiences that can make a big difference in preventing or spreading key species

<u>Issue:</u> Maine does not have significant resources to throw at this issue. Accordingly, it is critical that every effort be focused to provide maximum results for minimal expenditures. DEP and DIFW have already developed and are implementing an extensive Invasive Aquatic Plant Education Program (see DEP website). Public polling on the milfoil issue shows public consciousness has raised considerably in the last year. Both agencies are also endeavoring to get the word out about the boat sticker program. DIFW also has an education program for illegal fish, but no similar initiative exists for zebra mussels, or organisms released into the wild.

Task 2C1: Watercraft Transport +

DEP and DIFW, and DMR to the extent that funding is available, will designate a coordinator and continue to develop and implement a unified education plan and budget for this pathway. See also Tasks: 3B1b/c, 4A1, 4A2d, 4C1a/c, 4C2c, and 5C1b.

Task 2C2: Release into the Wild .

DAFRR and DIFW, to the extent that funding is available, will develop and implement education plans for this pathway. See also Tasks: 3C1b/c, 3C2, 3C3a, 4A1, and 5C1b.

Objective 3: Introduction and Transport

<u>Overview</u>: Maine has begun measures focused on preventing the introduction and spread of freshwater invasive aquatic plants. These efforts will be refined and broadened as a result of this plan. At the same time, Maine will undertake some preliminary steps better to understand and coordinate programs and policies related to invasive wetland and marine species and pathways.

A. Species Lists and Pathway Priorities

Strategy 3A1: Clarify authority for regulating invasive aquatic species

Four Maine laws regulate the introduction and transport of organisms. IF&W seems to have the clearest authority to list and regulate fish and wildlife species through rule making, though invasive aquatic species are not specifically mentioned. DMR's authority over marine organisms is similarly unspecific. In addition, no agency has direct authority to list and regulate additional freshwater plants without a statutory change, unless DAFRR's authority over plant "pests" can be exercised in this manner.

To be specific, Title 38, Sections 410-N and 419-C, Chapter 722, prohibits the transport of all 11 of the freshwater invasive aquatic plants listed on the Action Plan Advisory List of Invasive Aquatic Species. Legislative action is required for any changes to this plant list, a process that can be complex and untimely. DAFRR's authority to regulate "plant pests" under Title 7, Section 2211 and 2213, Chapter 405A, does not distinguish between pests and invasive aquatic species.

Many sections within Title 12 give the Commissioner of DIFW discretion to require permits for the importation, transport, and release species into the wild, but no provision explicitly states how invasive aquatic species are to be listed and managed. The Department maintains a list of "Unrestricted Fish and Wildlife Species" that do not require such a permit. None of the invasive aquatic species on The Action Plan Advisory List of Invasive Aquatic Species are currently on this unrestricted list. No list is currently promulgated to explicitly prohibit certain species.

DMR has authority under Title 12, Sections 6071 and 652, Chapter 24, to prohibit people from "landing on, bringing into, or depositing" nonindigenous marine organisms into marine waters including tidal estuaries such as the Penobscot and Kennebec Rivers. No provision explicitly names invasive aquatic species and states how invasive aquatic species are to be managed. DMR does prohibit shellfish pathogens by rule explicitly. The state's authority over ocean dumping is also not entirely clear relative to invasive aquatic species.

Task 3A1: Authority Clarification ♦

The Task Force, assisted by its technical subcommittee, will evaluate and make recommendations to the Land and Water Resources Council and Governor to clarify and make explicit agency authority regarding the listing and regulation, including prohibition, of invasive aquatic species; and seek agency rulemaking authority rather than legislative action to list and regulate freshwater and wetland plants.

Strategy 3A2: Maintain an official species list(s) using a defined process and standards

<u>Issue:</u> The Advisory List contained in this plan is intended for planning purposes. Greater specificity will be developed over time about how each species or taxa are to be managed, (e.g., explicitly listed and prohibited by an agency or simply included in public awareness campaigns). Clear guidelines are needed to maintain the list over time to answer such questions as:

- What is the process for adding and deleting species from the list over time, and how can citizens nominate candidates?
- What criteria are to be used for making listing decisions?
- What status does the list have, if any, in regulatory proceedings such as FERC relicensing?
- What are the trade-offs between a legislatively generated list and one maintained by Commissioner discretion and rule-making?
- Is authority for listing for regulatory (or any other management purpose) best left with the individual agencies with jurisdiction and management responsibility or consolidated within a centralized, interagency process?
- To what extent should criteria and protocols be unified and coordinated, if agencies list species independently?

<u>Task 3A2a</u>: Official Listing Process Decentralized screening/centralized listing The Task Force, assisted by its Technical Subcommittee, will develop a unified screening and risk assessment protocol for identifying which species should be listed officially as invasive. It will specify the protocols and standards for the risk assessment and nomination process; and indicate when species are to be listed by rulemaking or agency adoption. The public will be given the opportunity to nominate candidates for potential listing through the Task Force.

Agencies, coordinated by the Technical Subcommittee, will screen and evaluate candidates for listing on an annual basis following Task Force protocols: DIFW (freshwater fish and wildlife), DMR (marine organisms), and DAFRR, MNAP of DOC, and DEP (freshwater and wetland plants). Agencies will report recommendations to the Task Force which will then develop and recommend a comprehensive list of species to be added or deleted from the Advisory List to the Land and Water Resources Council. The Council will determine the "official" list. Citizens and organizations can propose candidates to the Task Force for referral to state agencies for evaluation.

Task 3A2b: Priority Pathways

The technical subcommittee will develop a protocol and conduct an annual review of priority pathways. It will recommend related tasks to the Task Force as part of the development of the annual coordinated interagency work plan.

B. Watercraft and Equipment Transport

Strategy 3B1: Strengthen the watercraft inspection program for freshwaters focusing on high priority locations, times, and vehicles

Issue: Maine instituted a "pilot" boat/tuailer/gear inspection program in 2001 focused on freshwater plants. Voluntary inspections during the first two seasons were made at selected times and locations including entry points and boating access facilities; and, in 2002, boaters from Vermont, New York, upper Midwest, and Quebec were also given information about control of zebra mussels and other invertebrates. The pilot program must now be refined and expanded. And the law regarding whether inspections can be mandatory needs to be clarified, especially in regard to the removal of watercraft and equipment from infested waters.

Voluntary inspections are fraught with risk. According to the public, something more failsafe is needed -- Maine is only going to get one shot at doing "it" right, so we must be aggressive in finding ways to reduce the risk as much as possible and slow down what may be inevitable. We don't know yet which methods reduce risks best. The Task Force believes that field testing as many "good ideas" as possible will help us evaluate and learn from the results.

Task 3B1a: Most Vulnerable Waters List .

DEP, DIFW, and DMR will develop a list of most vulnerable waters before the 2003 inspection season. In addition to the criteria specified in the law, priority will also be given to such considerations as proximity to infested waters and exceptional tidal rivers, bays, and lakes (such as those with pristine conditions as defined by native aquatic assemblages, lack of previous stocking, and/or extent of watershed disturbance).

Task 3B1b: Boat Launching Facility Inspections ++

Before the 2003 field season, DEP and DIFW will evaluate the methods, results, and cost-effectiveness of the last two seasons; obtain legal clarification on related issues specified in Task 3B1d; compare and contrast the relative contribution of education and inspection programs to compliance; and recommend creative ways to the Task Force to increase compliance and reduce risks.

Task 3B1c: Roadside Inspections ♦

An outside contractor, temporary staff, or agency personnel may continue roadside inspections in subsequent seasons if the review under Task 3B1b determines such inspections to be cost effective.

Task 3B1d: Legal Clarification +

DEP and DIFW will request an opinion from the Attorney Generals Office to clarify the following issues:

- Under what circumstances, if any, can the state require mandatory stops of a subset of traffic, i.e. only vehicles transporting watercraft and equipment?
- Under what circumstances, if any, can the state require mandatory inspections at entry points or boat launches?
- Does the state have the authority to close private, federally funded, or municipal boat launches?
- Under what circumstances, if any, can municipalities close private boat access facilities or require inspections?

- Does DOC have the authority for deployment and enforcement of buoys for the purposes of limiting surface use in infested areas?
- Can authority for deployment and enforcement of buoys for the purpose of limiting surface uses be delegated to DEP and/or DIFW?

Strategy 3B2: Consider stronger options on plant-infested waters if voluntary inspections do not succeed

<u>Issue</u>: If voluntary inspections do not prevent the spread of invasive plants from infested lakes then it may be necessary to determine if limiting access to infested waters would be a viable option. The Task Force and other policy makers will have to weigh whether limiting access is worth preventing the spread to other water bodies.

A related issue centers on state boating facility construction and permitting programs. DIFW and DOC both have an obligation to ensure public access to state waters and constructing boat launching facilities are part of this obligation. In addition, DEP (organized portion of state) and the Land Use Regulation Commission (unorganized territory) have jurisdiction over the development of new boating access sites. Neither permitting agency has explicit authority to consider the potential impacts on the spread of invasive aquatic species, but agency staff or board/commission can use their discretion in deciding upon permitting outcomes. Limited LURC staff resources make enforcement of new standards impossible at this time.

Task 3B2a: Infestation Control Plans • +

DEP and DIFW will develop guidelines for local development and state review of management plans and encourage municipalities and lake associations to undertake them for priority infested waters (see Early Detection, Rapid Response and Management, Strategy 4Cla/b).

Task 3B2b: Establish Critical Threshold •

DEP and DIFW will monitor infestations and, depending upon the water body, legal authority, and costs and benefits will institute one or more of the following strategies on a case-by-case basis:

- Make physical changes in the design of facilities, e.g. location of channel;
- Require inspection programs during high-traffic events such as open angling tournaments and regattas, or prohibit them altogether;

- Limit boat removal to specific locations/times;
- Require mandatory inspection of all boat removals, and/or
- Manage public and private access facilities, taking into account the state's obligation to balance the provision of public access with private opportunities and other resource and recreational values.

By 2004, the Task Force will establish critical thresholds for the maximum extent of plant infestations that will be tolerated statewide, e.g. percent or number of Great Ponds and streams infested, without triggering stronger statewide action.

Task 3B2c: Boating Access Sites on Plant-Infested Waters DEP and LURC will develop and apply unified changes in their rules that:

- Require permits or establish permit by rule notification standards related to invasive aquatic organisms for the development of all public and private facilities on infested waters,
- Issue permits only for those infested water bodies where a state- approved infestation control plan is in place (see Task 4C1b),
- Establish criteria for determining when impacts are unacceptable, and
- Establish construction standards with which any approved projects must comply.

DEP and LURC will also clarify which agency is responsible for enforcing conditions applied to any permitted projects.

C. Introduction Into the Wild

Strategy 3C1: Understand and manage what is coming into Maine through pet shops, garden centers, schools, scientific research and studies, and other sources

<u>Issue</u>: Maine is fortunate in having a relatively small number of businesses that sell plants and animals to the public. This limited number, together with established procedures for inspection and permitting, means that identifying and working with retailers and their out-of-state suppliers will be straightforward. Maine does not know exactly what might be coming in, either purposefully or as stowaways along with orders of other non-invasive organisms.

24

We do know, however, that many animal and aquatic plant wholesalers are located all across the nation, and customers and retailers both shop in New Hampshire, so discussions with these other state programs will be important. The Animal Welfare Program has had success enforcing unlicensed species regulations in pet shops by requiring that all organisms be labeled with their Latin names. This puts the burden of proof on the retailer/wholesaler to stock only permitted species. While Maine has been relatively lucky so far in avoiding a significant problem from release into the wild, vigilance is needed, especially in regard to macrophytes.

Task 3C1a: Wild Release Baseline Inventory

DAFRR Horticulture and Animal Welfare Programs and DIFW will compile a list of in-state retailers and out-of-state suppliers; and invasive aquatic species that are routinely ordered, permitted, or introduced as stowaways. The agencies will work with the Northeast Panel to avoid overlap and build upon the New England Transport Vector Study (see Strategy 3E2). In compiling the list, the agencies will consult a panel of experts to establish comprehensive lists of what is being sold by Latin name, crossreferenced with common names. DAFRR will randomly sample supplied products and continue to require that all species be labeled with Latin names.

Task 3C1b: Inspection Training + +

DAFRR and DIFW, with DEP or other help on plants, will provide immediate and periodic training for inspectors in the identification of invasive aquatic species; and educate retailers about which species are prohibited or ill advised for sale. Inspectors will educate retailers about the threats from invasive aquatic species, and how they can best help educate their customers as well.

Task 3C1c: Advisory List Updates & Information

DAFRR and DIFW staff will provide before each ordering/field season updated legal lists of prohibited invasive aquatic species to Maine retailers, suppliers, and education and research institutions. They will work with the Northeast Panel to promote regional efforts to educate tradespersons through trade and professional journals, shows, and conferences; direct mailings; and other venues. They will also provide educational materials for distribution to the public, e.g., native plants for waters gardens and invasive species to avoid.

Strategy 3C2: Strengthen bait-handling standards and educate bait handlers about this issue

<u>Issue:</u> Freshwater invasive aquatic species can be transported with bait (spiny water flea) and sometimes as bait (e.g. crayfish). In addition, plant fragments and other invasive organisms may be attached to bait traps and nets. While the sale and possession of out of state baitfish is no longer legal, some anglers may still be bringing baitfish in or spreading already established in-state sources, they may also be using invertebrates. Fortunately, some of the invasive species of bait, such as crayfish, are no longer commonly used. It is nevertheless important to prevent new introductions and limit spread of existing populations. DIFW has such authority and may need to refine and strengthen it.

Task 3C2: Bait Inventory and Information

DIFW will develop a list of bait retailers and suppliers; and invasive bait species that are currently being supplied and sold, or brought in by anglers. It will work with the Northeast Panel, to the extent possible, to determine whether region-wide standards are needed for bait handling, and how best to educate retailers and wholesalers about this issue. The department will identify, evaluate, and propose the most harmful species for listing on the Task Force's Advisory List (see Introduction and Transport, Task 3A2a). The department will periodically distribute the list of species and information about this issue to dealers, suppliers, sporting journals, and the public.

Strategy 3C3: Strengthen the state's capacity to monitor and respond to invasive fish species, continue to educate the public about illegal stocking, and rigorously enforce the law

<u>Issue</u>: Some illegally stocked fish, including bait species, have turned out to be very aggressive. Most notably bass, white perch, northern pike, and black crappie have upset the balance in many waters, displacing native and stocked salmonids. Statutes explicitly prohibit illegal stocking, but the incidence has grown and raised public awareness, and to some extent, concern about the potential conflict between state stocking programs and the need to reign in illegal introductions. DIFW does not have the capacity to monitor new introductions and can only conduct one fish reclamation project a year. Wardens are overextended and find identifying and proving the source of illegal introductions difficult so only one such case has ever been prosecuted. The maximum fine for illegal stocking is \$10,000, but the judgment in that case was much less, perhaps because the judge may not have understood the gravity of the problem. The department has a program called Operation Game Thief that can assist in identifying people involved in this activity. The department distributes cards offering \$2,000 rewards for information leading to a conviction of illegal fish and wildlife.

<u>Task 3C3a</u>: Further evaluate capacity to prevent, detect, and control invasive fish. \blacklozenge

DIFW will evaluate the incidence and potential risk of invasive fish introductions, identify any related conflicts and needed changes regarding existing policies, rules, and programs better to protect native fish communities; identify staffing and resource needs, including opportunities for assistance from nongovernmental organizations; evaluate additional fish species candidates for placement or changes in category on the advisory list; and report back to the Task Force by September 2003. The Task Force and DIFW will provide opportunities for public involvement in deliberating the above.

Task 3C3b: Invasive Fish Information

DIFW will include information about the harmful effects and ways to avoid the introduction and spread of invasive freshwater fish, bait, and other relevant species in its annual rulebook. The department will also consider other ways to educate the public.

Task 3C3c: Illegal Stocking Fines

DIFW will evaluate the adequacy of existing fines, knowledge of judges about the potential impacts of invasive species, and possible use of consent agreements or other tools and report its findings and recommendations to the Task Force by 2004. The department will continue to promote the reporting of offenders through Operation Game Thief.

Strategy 3C4: Evaluate the impacts related to invasive aquatic species when permitting in-river projects

<u>Issue:</u> Some established invasive species may spread and cause significant harm if barriers, such as dams, are removed without adequate precautions.

Task 3C4: Barrier Removal

DIFW and DMR will identify waters where this potential problem exists and make the information available to river and watershed managers and the public. DEP, DIFW, LURC, and DMR will develop policy guidance, and rule-changes if needed, that take into consideration the need to weigh the impacts from potential spread of invasive aquatic species against benefits gained from the removal of dams and similar actions.

Strategy 3C5: Evaluate authority relating to marine dredging and processing waste disposal to ensure that adequate safeguards are in place

<u>Issue:</u> The extent of this potential threat and adequacy of existing authority to deal with it are not known. DMR was concerned a few years ago about the potential disposal of sea urchin wastes from product imported from Canada that contained in infectious paramoeba, but this is not an issue at this time. DEP has jurisdiction over ocean dumping within the 3-mile limit, DMR has some authority related to waste disposal under Title 12, Section 6521, and the Federal Refuse Act may delegate some authority to states.

Task 3C5: Marine Dredging

DMR will evaluate authority for dredging and report back to the Task Force, consulting with DEP and the Northeast Panel in the process.

Strategy 3C6: Require good biosecurity protocols in field sampling.

<u>Issue:</u> Many government agencies, non-profits, and private concerns conduct field sampling in Maine waters.

Task 3C6: Sampling Permits

All agencies that issue sampling permits will update their regulations and/or applications to require applicants to use good biosecurity procedures to prevent the inadvertent spread of invasive aquatic species and infective pathogens.

D. Marine Vessels

Strategy 3D: Work with the US Coast Guard (USCG) and Northeast Panel to make sure that ballast water is effectively controlled

<u>Issue:</u> With the exception of foreign fishing vessels, most commercial vessels do not unload ballast water in Maine waters because they arrive with cargos. While this source may not, therefore, be as likely as in other states, it is still an issue for those vessels that do unload. The Coast Guard promulgated voluntary standards for ballast water in 1999, and recently reported to Congress that there is insufficient compliance. The regulations

are voluntary, but will most probably become mandatory within the next year during reauthorization of the National Aquatic Nuisance Prevention and Control Act of 1990 (as amended by the National Invasive Species Act).

The USCG's salinity standard is of special interest to Maine because our near shore waters are saltier than elsewhere on the East Coast. The salinity standards specify how close to shore ballast water can be unloaded: the higher the salinity, the closer the release can occur. Thus purged organisms have a better chance of reaching lower salinity estuaries where they can survive.

Task 3D1: Salinity Standard

DMR will request the USCG to review its salinity standard to ensure that it is effective in Maine's waters.

Task 3D2: Shipping Activity +

DMR will work with the USCG, port authorities, and Northeast Panel to document the type and amount of shipping and ballast water activity.

E. Marine Products Import and Export

Strategy 3E1: Identify alternatives to natural packing materials

<u>Issue:</u> "Wormweed" is currently used to pack bait worms for shipping. It is most difficult to remove all potential stowaways such as the green crab from this seaweed. Alternatives will be needed to keep the baitworm economy viable.

Task 3E1: Bait Worm Packing

DMR will work with the bait exporting industry, and in collaboration with other states and the Northeast Panel as appropriate, to identify alternative packing materials.

Strategy 3E2: Understand how marine organisms are being introduced and spread in New England.

Issue: A team of researchers is currently assessing the risk of introduction through a variety of potential pathways including seafood companies, aquaculture facilities, bait shops, pet stores, public aquaria, marine research facilities, and wetland restoration efforts. The New England Transport Vector Study began in Massachusetts but is being expanded New Englandwide. The study team is developing a database of companies and organizations involved in transport and trade of both native and nonindigenous organisms. It is distributing a survey to industry representatives to determine the type, quantity and frequency of species imports and exports, along with handling techniques.

<u>Task 3E2</u>: Marine Pathways 🐥

DMR will work with the Northeast Panel to evaluate and apply the results of the New England Transport Vector Study.

Objective 4: Early Detection, Rapid Response and Management

<u>Overview.</u> The need exists to make sure that all responses to possible infestations are grounded in the positive identification of reported organisms and undertaken with the public interest in mind. For this reason, the State will adopt mechanisms for positively identifying potential invaders and overseeing the development of infestation control plans. While it may delegate authority to local entities to carry out planned activities, it will monitor the effectiveness of such implementation efforts to ensure quality control and that public interests are safeguarded.

A. Early Detection (see also 5A. Inventory)

Strategy 4A1: Establish simple reporting procedures.

<u>Issue:</u> The public now notifies agencies when they sight invasive aquatic species sightings in an ad hoc manner. DEP has an official number for citizens to call about freshwater plants, and encourages them to do so through public information materials. DMR uses its web site to advise citizens to report Asian crab sightings. DIFW has no official reporting procedure, but refers citizens to department biologists for the identification of questionable organisms. No coordinated approach exists for encouraging reporting from, and exchange of information with, state and federal land managers and other field personnel.

Task 4A1: Decentralized Reporting

Each agency will publicize information about its reporting procedures and how to identify Advisory List species. Each will track and confirm new introductions and sightings, using a standard protocol developed by the Task Force's technical

27

subcommittee; and immediately notify local officials and nongovernmental organizations of new infestations. Web sites will be linked with referral "buttons" to ensure that people get to the right contacts in Augusta responsible for rapid response and data management, as well as state and federal lands managers in areas where organisms are sighted. The Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator will coordinate this task, along with the Northeast Panel's regional data base initiative.

Strategy 4A2: Ensure that field staff and rapid response team personnel can easily identify species.

<u>Issue:</u> Training for field personnel is important for three reasons. First, state park managers, field biologists, wardens, and similar staff are most likely to encounter infestations. They need to know what they are looking for. Second, new species are being introduced all the time because of global mobility. Staff needs periodic updates and training to keep abreast of the latest species likely to be introduced. In addition, some field staff may be involved in rapid response or control initiatives.

It is equally important for lead contacts on the rapid response team to be able to ascertain whether reported species are in fact invasive since some, such as Eurasian and variable milfoil, bear close resemblance to native species. Staff will be able to make some of these calls but may occasionally need "expert" help. Maine can expect help in regard to plants because Dr. Leslie Mehrhoff of the G.S. Torrey Herbarium in Connecticut is under contract with the U.S. Department of Agriculture to develop a contingency plan to detect, identify, and respond to new plant introductions in New England.

Task 4A2a: In-House Expert List ♦

The Technical Subcommittee will develop a master list of in-house agency and partnering organization personnel who have expertise in the identification of various taxa and species. This list will also include federal land managers as well.

Task 4A2b: Experts On Call ♦

The Technical Subcommittee will develop a list of outside contractors who can help with hard-to-identify species, and develop contract arrangements as necessary. The subcommittee will coordinate plant experts with Dr. Mehrhoff.

Task 4A2c: Annual Staff Training + +

The Technical Subcommittee will coordinate interagency plant identification training for field staff prior to each field season. This will include lead agencies as well as others such as the Maine Department of Transportation. The Board of Pesticides Control will continue to train and certify persons to apply pesticides for control of aquatic invasive species. Training for staff involved in field sampling will include biosecurity measures to prevent inadvertent spread on invasive aquatic species and infective pathogens. In addition, DEP and DIFW education staff will provide training information and opportunities for Maine's enforcement community to stay abreast of laws and regulations pertaining to invasive aquatic species.

Task 4A2d: Plant Patroller Training

The Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program will continue to train volunteers to identify freshwater plants and conduct invasive aquatic plant screenings surveys on lakes and ponds.

B. Rapid Response

Strategy 4B1: Develop and maintain a flexible rapid response system

<u>Issue:</u> Prevention is Maine's greatest priority. Currently, DEP is developing an interim rapid response plan for the upcoming season for freshwater plant infestations, but a more comprehensive and detailed approach is necessary. DIFW is committed to developing a similar capability for response to illegal fish introductions, though implementation will depend upon the availability of funding and resources.

<u>Task 4B1</u>: Plant Response Plan • •

DEP will coordinate the development of a rapid response team to develop and carry out a rapid response plan for plants.

Rapid response teams will include both planners and responders and plans will address unique situations such as public water supplies. DMR and DIFW will continue to maintain a separate initiative for dealing with pathogens and other species over which they have jurisdiction.

Rapid response plans will:

- Specify the conditions/criteria under which a rapid response team is to be deployed and the participants, procedures, and chain of command for various situations;
- Establish a hierarchy of preferred/approved control and containment techniques and a program for testing the system and training participants;
- Contain the licenses and permits necessary for specified control techniques (DEP: mechanical and biological; BPC: chemical), contract authority necessary for purchased services; and agreements necessary for mutual aid with other states and federal agencies (e.g., in coordination with Dr. Mehrhoff and other initiatives within New England);
- Identify the funding mechanisms that support each aspect, procedures for keeping the plan current, and any statutory or regulatory changes needed for implementation;
- Include criteria for measuring response effectiveness; standard Operating Procedures for the methods used for control; and procedure notifications (i.e. drinking water supplies).

Task 4B2: Fish and Wildlife Response Plan + +

DIFW will establish and maintain a contingency program, including staff, training, equipment and financial resources necessary to provide a speedy and credible response to illegal introductions of invasive fish and other aquatic fauna. As part of this effort, DIFW will discuss with lake associations and other non-governmental organizations the feasibility of their helping to monitor and detect fish introductions. This response plan will encompass the same components are listed for plant response above.

C. Management

Strategy 4C1: Develop plans and contingencies to contain and reduce existing freshwater plant infestations

<u>Issue:</u> At least ten lakes and streams are now infested with variable milfoil. This is a relatively small number, assuming that infestations are not considerably more widespread than documented. Controlling these outbreaks so they do not spread to other waters is a high priority. DEP staff is providing technical assistance to some communities and lake and fish and game associations to help control the infestations, but scare resources limit the amount of effort that can be supported.

Task 4C1a: Model Infestation Control Plan +

DEP and DIFW will seek funding to support and work with a local community(s) and lake and game associations to develop a management plan for the water body that is best suited as a "demonstration" project to model the kind of components such a plan should contain, e.g., strategies for containment, eradication and restoration (if eradication is successful), surface use, boating access, and measuring results.

Task 4C1b: Invasive Aquatic Plant Grants +

DEP will seek funds to establish and administer a grant program to fund the development of infestation control plans, as well as local prevention plans. DEP, in conjunction with DIFW and other agencies as appropriate, will develop guidelines for local development and state approval of such plans, including plan scope, eligibility for funding, and qualifications needed to conduct the work, among other provisions.

<u>Task 4C1c</u>: Plant-Infestation Buoys♦

DOC, DEP, and DIFW will develop a standard buoy type, protocol for deploying and maintaining buoys directing traffic outside of infested areas, and public information campaign.

Task 4C1d: Surface Use Restrictions On Infested Waters +

DEP and DIFW will develop a procedure for determining when to apply limited-duration surface use restrictions on infested waters. This procedure will take into account the state's need to balance the provision of public access with other resource and recreational values. As part of this effort, they will work with the DOC Boating Facility Program, municipalities and lake associations to determine when and how non-state entities could be responsible for plan enforcement and buoy deployment.

Strategy 4C2: Ensure appropriate, effective, and practical control techniques

Issue: Control techniques for plants and animals are different.

Current policy promotes hand removal as the primary control technique for plants. DEP has a protocol for and allows hand removal under Permit by Rule provisions of the Natural Resources Protection Act. An identical protocol will be needed for LURC jurisdiction, though rules pertaining to it could be administered by either LURC or DEP. If hand removal proves ineffective by itself, DEP has the authority to consider other options, such as mechanical controls, which may require licenses from other agencies. Though DEP has authority to issue a NPDES permit for discharge of an herbicide to a person licensed by the Board of Pesticides Control (see sidebar to the right), current DEP policy precludes the use of herbicides because of their potential environmental harm and the fact that some plant species are becoming resistant to chemicals after years of use in other states. Note: Chapter 434 Section 1864 requires outright prohibition on using chemical control agents on public water supplies without prior written consent from public water supplies, as well as review and comment by adjoining municipalities and property owners. Public review should also be required for any future proposed herbicide use even in non-public water supply lakes. An NPDES permit is the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System that DEP administers with EPA. The NPDES permit is needed to directly discharge pollutants into waters of the state.

DIFW has licensed applicators on staff to use pesticides such as rotenone to control invasive fish, but deploys them only in limited circumstances such as small, isolated ponds. Aside from physical barriers, an approach that is not usually practical, the Department has no other options for controlling invasive fish once they are introduced. Funding to allow monitoring and response to introductions is limited. DMR has required the destruction of cultured stocks to control pathogens in pen-reared facilities.

Task 4C2a: Plant Control s♦

DEP will develop protocols and, in conjunction with LURC, advanced permitting for additional control techniques for plants, coordinating with other agencies and federal land managers as necessary. Priority will be given to the use of integrated pest management techniques to the extent practical.

Task 4C2b: Controls For Animals and Pathogens

Each agency will investigate and secure expedited or generic permit and license approvals from the Board of Pesticides Control and DEP for preferred techniques for controlling the species within their authority. Priority will be given to the use of integrated pest management techniques to the extent practical. Environmentally appropriate pesticide applications will be considered only as a last resort, when applied by licensed state personnel, and for state waters that are isolated and small scale.

Task 4C2c: Restricted Chemicals

The Task Force will support the initiative that DEP and the Board of Pesticides Control are currently undertaking to restrict the sale, purchase, and use of aquatic pesticide applications to persons licensed by the BPC; and educating the public about them. The agencies will take steps to eliminate website sales, using such tools as website "crawlers" to send messages to vendors regarding illegal species. The Board of Pesticides Control will also continue to provide continuing education for licensed applicators to make them aware of the impacts of inappropriate use of pesticide applications.

Minimizing Pesticide Use

Lesson Learned: EDUCATE HOMEOWNERS SO THEY WILL DO THE RIGHT THING

At the request of the DEP and citizens, the Board of Pesticides Control (BPC) is considering rule changes to restrict the sale of aquatic pesticides. If the BPC classifies aquatic pesticides for restricted use only, these products would be available only from trained and licensed dealers for use by trained and licensed applicators. At-home applicators would no longer have legal access to them through retail dealers or from the Internet.

Interest in making these changes developed following DEP enforcement cases involving waterfront property owners who purchased and used aquatic herbicides without training or a license. Current law requires an NPDES permit (National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System) from DEP and a commercial pesticide applicator license from the BPC before applying aquatic pesticides to State waters.

The waterfront homeowners didn't know this law nor did the pesticide dealer provide this information when they purchased and applied a "weed killer" in a pond owned by the homeowners association in the subdivision where they lived. The individuals each ended up paying a \$1,000 fine to the DEP in a consent agreement.

Such incidents point out the need for more effective outreach to waterfront property owners regarding the legal and proper use of aquatic pesticides. Homeowners need this information to do their part to protect the environment and stay within the law.

Homeowners: do not apply pesticides to your lakes and ponds – you are breaking the law if you do.

Objective 5: Inventory, Research, and Information Management

A. Inventory (see also 4A. Early Detection)

Strategy 5A: Develop baseline information

<u>Issue</u>: DMR's information about the movement of new invasive species into the state is largely anecdotal and spotty. Biologists and the public have identified a few new invaders such as the Asian and blue crabs. The invasive species management plans developed by other East Coast states are helpful, but similar information has not yet been gathered from Canadian provinces – and Maine gets species drift from both directions.

Considering freshwater species, ten Maine lakes contain variable milfoil, but we do not know if this is the extent of infestation. DIFW has good information about the extent of fish introductions in its files and Maine Biodiversity Database. Little is known about the occurrence of other invasive freshwater animals or wetland plants, with the exception of the more widely established species such as purple loosestrife. And Maine does not yet have an adequate understanding of the composition and biodiversity Database and MNAP's atlas of terrestrial and aquatic invasive plants are laying a good foundation, however. Lack of ongoing funding may limit ability to maintain an effective database.

Task 5A1: Marine Baseline Inventory (i.e., Rapid Assessment) • •

DMR will seek a grant and coordinate with the Northeast Panel to sample the type, occurrence, and numbers of invasive marine species in various habitats and locations along the coast. In addition to reporting the results, the report will contain a list of invasive marine species known to exist in Maine and track their distribution with GIS mapping.

Task 5A2: Freshwater Plant Baseline Inventory (Rapid Assessment)

DEP, in conjunction with the Maine Natural Areas Program and Northeast Panel, will seek funding to sample the type, occurrence, and numbers of invasive macrophytes in Maine lakes and tidal rivers. The agencies will develop a baseline inventory for native aquatic plant communities, and continue to develop Maine's Atlas of Invasive Plant Species including GIS map(s) depicting occurrences.

Task 5A3: Freshwater Fish & Fauna Inventory Project .

DIFW will seek funding to expand the lake and pond inventory of fish and other animal species by conducting both new surveys of unsurveyed waters and resurveys of waters that have not been visited in many years. These data will become part of the Maine Aquatic Biodiversity database and will be used as a tool for identifying waters of highest natural biodiversity, establish a baseline of ecological conditions prior to invasive species infestation and track distribution of freshwater invasive aquatic animal species in the state with GIS mapping.

Also see 3C1a: Wild Release Baseline Inventory.

Task 5A4: Crayfish and Snail Baseline Inventory (Rapid Assessment).

DIFW, in conjunction with Northeast Panel, will seek funding to sample the type, occurrence, and numbers of invasive crayfish and snails in Maine and track their distribution with GIS mapping.

Task 5A5: East Coast Marine Species Information

The Invasive Species Coordinator at DEP will gather species lists and management plans from states and Canadian provinces and distribute them to DMR and others involved in marine invasive species management in Maine.

Task 5A6: Other Species +

The Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator will coordinate with the Northeast Panel and establish a list of interested academics and researchers and periodically inform and encourage them to conduct survey projects or sponsor graduate research documenting and mapping the occurrence of invasive aquatic species on the list.

B. Research

Strategy 5B1: Anticipate impacts and research & develop tools <u>Issue</u>: Maine has much to learn from ongoing research in other states and provinces. We may not discover from these sources, however, how species will affect Maine's ecology. Of particular interest are impacts on marine fisheries and genetic markers that can improve the identification of species

that are easily confused with native species, e.g., Eurasian milfoil. Some species such as the Asian crab have the potential to devastate segments of the marine economy. While the spread of species that can survive Maine conditions is inevitable, Maine needs to how best to protect existing fisheries when and if species become established.

Task 5B1a: Asian Crab Research + +

DMR will seek a grant to contract or conduct research to investigate the potential threat of the Asian crab to Maine's shellfish industries and local ecology.

Task 5B1b: Northeast Panel Marine Research Conference

DMR will attend the Panel's conference to identify research priorities this fall.

Task 5B1c: Other Research Needs

The Task Force will support universities, non-governmental agencies and others seeking research grants for genetic markers, biological controls, and other important topics. Agencies will pursue individual grant and networking opportunities better to understand the ecology of invasive species relative to Maine. The Invasive Species Program Coordinator will distribute and share research information from other places as appropriate. Agencies will report annually to the Task Force on research activities and identified needs as part of their annual work plan report.

C. Information Management

Strategy 5C1:

<u>Issue</u>: Maine's resource management agencies are decentralized. This makes database development more complex, but facilitates targeted attention to all groups of organisms. Limited financial resources across the board means that Maine must be realistic about the development and maintenance of databases and websites, particularly their content. The Biodiversity Database provides the opportunity to centralize data in one location providing that standardized protocols guide interagency contributions.

Task 5Cla: Agency Databases

The Technical Subcommittee will develop a standardized protocol, building on opportunities for centralization to the extent possible, and agencies will develop and maintain individual databases, including lists of waters that are free from or infested with invasive aquatic species.

Task 5C1b: Agency Websites

The Task Force will develop a protocol for website coordination. Agencies will develop and maintain web sites, with an emphasis on education, and with links to the Task Force site and other state and federal agencies including the Northeast Panel's web site and database.

Task 5C1c: Annotated Bibliography

The Task Force will encourage one of its partners to develop and disseminate an annotated bibliography of Maine-generated research on invasive aquatic species.

Implementation Plan

Table 1: Tasks by Action Partner - see pages 34 and 35.

Table 2: Implementation Program – see pages 36 and 37 (hard copy); see separate EXCEL spreadsheet (ImplementationProgram.xls) for electronic version.

. •

· .		Table 1: Ta	sks by Action Partner		•			
	Tasks To Be Scheduled	Ongoing Tasks	2002-2003	2003-2004	2004-2005	2005-2006		
LWRC, Governor			1A1/2 3A1			2005-2000		
Task Force (TF)	5C1c	1B, 1C, 1D1/2 3A3	1A/2, 1C?, 1Ea 3A1/2/3,3A2,3B1b	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
IAS Program Coordinator (IASPC)		1B, 1C, 1D1/2 2A1, 2B1-3 4A1, 4A2c 5B1c	3A1/2 4B1 (plants)	4A1, 4B1 5A5/6				
Task Force Technical Subcommittee (TFTS)		1B 3A3 4A1	3A1/2 4B1 (animals)	4A2a/b, 4B1(animals), 4C2a-c	4C2a/b/c 5C1a			
DEP	5A6	1B, 1D1 2A1, 2B1-3, 2C1 3B1b/c, 3B2a, 3B2b 4A1, 4A2c, 4C2a 5B1c, 5C1a/b	1A2, 1Ea/b 3B1a/b/d, 3B2c 4B1(plants) 4C2a/b/c 5A2	3B1a/d, 3B2b, 3C6 4B1 (inverts) 4C1a/b, 4C2a/b/c	4C2a/b/c			
DIFW		1B 2A1, 2B1-3, 2C1/2 3B1b/c/d, 3B2a 3C1b/c, 3C3b 4A1, 4A2c, 4B2 5B1c, 5C1a/b	1A2, 1Ea/b 3B1b/d, 3B2e 3C1a/b/c, 3C3a 4C1d	3B1a, 3B2b 3C1a/b/c, 3C2 3C3c, 3C6 4C2a-c 5A4	3C1a/b/c 4C2a/b/c			
DAFRR (BPC = Board of Pesticide Control)		1B 2A1, 2B1/2/3, 2C2 3C1b/c 4A1, 4A2c, 4B1(BPC) 5B1c, 5C1a/b	2C2 3C1a/b/c	3C1a/b/c 4A2c(BPC), 4C2a/b/c	3C1a/b/c 4A2c(BPC)	4A2c(BPC)		
DOC BFP = Boating Facilities; MNAP = Natural Areas Program; LURC – Land Use Regulation Commission		1B (DOC) 2A1, 2B1/2/3 4A1(MNAP), 4A2c(DOC) 5A2,5B1c,5C1a/b (MNAP)	3B2c(LURC) 4C2a	4C2a				

		Table 1: Tab	asks by Action Partne	er				
	Tasks To Be Scheduled	Ongoing Tasks	2002-2003	2003-2004	2004-2005	2005-2006		
DMR	3C5, 3D2, 3E1/2 5A1/5, 5B1a	1A1/2 2A1, 2B1/2/3 3B1b 4A1, 4A2c, 4B1 5B1c	1A1/2, 1Ea 4C2a 5B1b	3B1a 4C2a				
Attorney General (AG)			3B1d			·		
Coast Guard (USCG)	3D1, 3D2	1A1						
Northeast Panel	3C5, 3D2, 3E1/2 5A1/5/6	1D1 3C1c 4A1	3C1a 5B2a, 5A2	3C2 5A4				
Federal Agencies (FA)		4A1, 4A2c	4B1	4A2a/b, 4B1				
National Invasive Species Council (NISC)		1D2	· ·					
Gulf of Maine Council (GMC)		IDI						
Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program (VLMP)		4A2c 4A2d 3C1b	3B1a 5A2	3C6 4A2a/b 5A6				
Municipalities (M)	•	3B2a 4C2a		4C1a		1		
Lake Associations (LA)		3B2a 4C2a		4C1a				
Maine Lakes Conservancy	5C1c?							

Table 2: Implementation Program

Tasks	Title	Action Part	ners	Funding Sources		Existing Biennium (in thousands of dollars) FY 01 FY02			 				nousands o					
• .		Lead Agency	Partner	GF	Ded	Other			FY02		FY03		FY04		F	Y05	F	Y06
1. Leadershin &	Coordination				Ded.	Other	\$ 716/33766502944	FTE	\$	FTE	\$	FTE	\$	FTE	\$	FTE	\$	FTF
1A1			The second second			Tester and	and setting to	81 (A. 2017			in the second second			Service		-1- 5 895640	NT 2015 ETC	STREET.
1A2	Tidal durante febresentation	Gov/LWRC	TF/DMR			1						T			1.	1	and a straight should be should	APRIL 2012
10	Tidal rivers/marine waters	TF/Gov/LWRC	DMR/DEP/D	IFW					1		1	1						
1B	Interagency coordination		Agencles		IAPNSF	T			40	0.5	35	0.4	35	0.4				
10	Plan update process	TF/IASPC/LWRC	IASPC/Agen	cles	IAPNSF			t	``	0.0	·95	0.4				0.4		
1D1	Regional coordination	TF/IASPC		7	IAPNSF	·	l	<u> </u>	+		<u>-</u>		10				10	0.1
1D2	National coordination	TF/IASPC		+	IAPNSF					0.1		0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1	7	7 0.*
1Ea	Sticker program review	TF	DEP/DIFW/D		IAFNSP				7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1	7	7 0.1
		DEP/DIFW	DEP/DIFW/D	MH		L								1	1	1		1
2. Education and	Outreach		Lange Construction	and the second sec	the total total and the second		· · ·				1				1			·
	Oureach		Agencies		1.1016	N 898	11111	1. 1. 1. 1. 1.	588 X 1		1.278.9708	NAMES OF COMPANY	SCHWERE STR	ANTER BORNE	an a	a and the second	CONTRACTOR OF	si mananana
	Lead coordinator	DEP	Agencies			1	1	and second the same		Constant of the local designation of the local design of the local	anna sansansa	12.2004.22.200245.00	nterneration (* 1887) (* 1887)	20192203176%	i anti a second	CORNELSE?	A THE REAL	ana salar
281	General Campaign	TF/IASPC	Agencies		IAPNSF	· · ·			1	1	15	0.2	05					
2B2	Uniform educ. materials	TFTS	Agencles	1	IAPNSF	[· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>			10	0.2	25	0.2	25	0.2	25	5 0.2
		IASPC		·												1		
2B3	Public perceptions	TF/IASPC	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1
	Targeted species/pathwa	11/1ASEC									1				1			+
201/2 001b/s	I laigeted species/pathwa	See lasks:																+
OD TU/C, OU ID/C, C	3c2, 3c3a, 4A1, 4A2d, 4C	18/c, 4C2c, 5C1b		1						T	1	1		<u> </u>	+	·····	ŀ	+
3. Introduction &			TFTS	STR. SAME		1972-008	38.22.289.D	1923575555	1997 2000	(SECONDARIAS)	10 Million Constant	Same generated	STATE OF STATE	Surger our	leouseneuro	AST THE PARTY AND THE O	-	
3A1	Authority clarification	TF/LWRC+C53	TFTS		IAPNSF	4-14-26(11)249277253	o-cuarter states and	aninalatintik	 	T DER STATE	(and Designed)	A PARTICIPAL CONTRACTOR		799929998	panasi i	2011	THE PARTY OF	
3A2a	Official listing process	TF	TFTS	1	IAPNSF			ł		 	;	0.1						
		TF	TFTS	1	IAPNSF	<u> </u>			<u> </u>		15	0.2						
		DEP	VLMP			<u> </u>					7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1
		DIFW	V LIVIF	+	IAPNSF	ļ					15	0.2			1	[· · · ·	1
			<u> </u>		·	·					1			l	<u> </u>		r	t
3 B 1b		DMR						· ·			1				<u> </u>	<u> </u>	l	t
3B1b		DEP/TF	Volunteers		IAPNSF	Fed funds?			68	0.3	70	0.3	75	0.3	80		<u>-</u>	J
		DIFW											/3	0.3		0.3	90	0.3
		DMR			·····										ļ			
3B1c	Roadside inspections	DEP	Volunteers	1	IADNICE	Fed funds?	······				·						1	[.
		DIFW		+	In Thor	reu julius r			25	0.1	. 30	0.1	45	0.2	50	0.2	55	0.2
3B1d		DEP	40	·							·							
			AG		IAPNSF						7	0.1						
3B2a		DIFW													·			<u>+</u>
362a		DEP	LA/M		IAPNSF				15	0.2	25	0.2	45	0.2	55			<u> </u>
		DIFW										<u> </u>		0.2		0.3	55	0.3
3B2b	Critical thresholds	TF	DEP		IAPNSF		·····		21	0.3					l			
			DIFW			••••			<u></u>	0.3	25	0.2	30	0.3	40	0.2	40	0.2
3B2c	New access sites	DEP	LA/M	ł	IAPNSF				·····									
		LURC		V		I	L		I		15	0.2						1
		DIFW		X - existing	tunds for r	ule revision	s; complian	ce may req	uire addition	nal.								
3C1a				L		•												<u> </u>
		DAFRR	NEP	X					5	0.1	2	0.1	2	0.1				
0041		DIFW																<u> </u>
3C1b		DEP	VLMP	Х	IAPNSF				7	0.1	7	0.1	15					
		DAFRR	· ·	X						0.1	<u> </u> ;	0.1				0.1	20	0.1
		DIFW	1							····	[_]	0.1		0.1				L
3C1c	Adv. list update & Info	DAFRR	NEP	X							<u> </u>							
		DIFW	· · · · ·	†				L		0.1	5	0.1	5	0.1				
3C2		DIFW	NEP	tł														
		TF/DIFW	NGOs											-				
and the second se		DIFW	nuos															
				1													L	t
		DIFW																<u> </u>
		DIFW/DMR	DEP/LURC	X								······						
3C5			DEP/NEP										/	0.1				L
3C6	Sampling permits		VLMP	tł														
	and the second se	DMR		<u>+</u>								I	7	0.1				
3D1			USCG	łI														
																		<u> </u>
			USCG/NEP	L.														l
			NEP															<u> </u>
3E2	Marine pathways	DMR	NEP							··								
4. Early Detection	n, Rapld Response, and M	anagement		STATES STAFF	a de la compañía de l	and the second second	Casessoo d	COMPANY AND		en se	CARELEDANSAMA	La service and the service of the se	Non anterior service	tion and the second second second second	Santan Constant		(New York of Contract of	
4A1	Decentralized reporting	IASPC/TFTS	Agencles/FA	er an the second se	IAPNSF		STREET,	San San Di	a Kalenij	NAME OF T	San Assor			这种这个 品料				
4A2a				├ ┃					. 7	0.1	15	0.2	15	0.2	13	0.2	15	0.2
	and the second s	Tenter and the second se	FA, VLMP	<u>.</u>	IAPNSF								7	0.1				
			FA, NEP, VLN		IAPNSF								. 7	0.1				
4A2c		DEP	IASPC, FA, V	LMP	IAPNSF		1		15	0.2	25	0.1	25			<u>,</u> .		
		Other Agencies		[]						v.2		<u> </u>	23	0.1	30	0.1	30	0.1
4A2d		VLMP		<u>├</u> }	IAPNICE	Fed funds?			15	0.1	30	0.1	35					1
														0.1	40	0.1		

. ~

ι

4B1	Plant response plan	DEP	Agencies/FA			Fed funds?					20	0.1	20	0.1				T
482	Fish response plan	DIFW									<u> </u>	<u> </u>	20	0.1				+
4C1a	Model mgt plan	DEP			IAPNSF		·····						20	0.1				-
4C1b	Grants infested waters	DEP			IAPNSF						20	0.1	25		35	0.2	,	. <u> </u>
4C1c	Infested area buoys	BFP		X - existind	IAPNSF			[····			2.5	0.1		0.2	45	<u> </u>
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			DEP					·····	·······		7	0.1						
			DIFW		-						·	V.1	·					
4C1d	Surface use restrictions	DEP	BFP		IAPNSF			<u> </u>			15	. 0.2						
	1	DIFW									13	0.2						
4C2a	Plant controls	DEP			IAPNSF						7	0.1	7	0.1		0.1	<u>-</u>	
4C2b	Animal/pathogen controls	DIFW/DMR	TFTC					<u> </u>			·	0.1		0.1	40	0.1	ļ!	0.1
4C2c	Restricted chemicals	BPC	DEP, TF											[
5. Inventory, Re-	search, and Information		NEP	がはアレアディー		1012120126-253	STOP MAR	HARRISON	Instances and	ATTACK	PTERIOZON	STREET,	STELETISATI	Les contraises	LANGUART ST	and the second	NOVEMBER 31	ALL STREET COLORS
5A1	Marine baseline Inventory	DMR	NEP			CONCRETE SPENDER	SALLOULUAL/97	CONTRACTOR STOR	************	199 99679999 00009999			CARLES CONSERVATION OF CONSERVATION OF CONSERVATION OF CONSERVATION OF CONSERVATION OF CONSERVATION OF CONSERVA	n servis en som here I	*********	retagnade e	06003367426775 	i an
5A2	Plant baseline inventory	DEP	NEP, VLMP										·	·				
	· ·	MNAP				X			25	0.5	25	0.5	25	0.5	25	0.5	25	1
5A3	Freshwater fish Inventory	DIFW			•											0.5		5 0.5
5A4	Crayfish inventory	DIFW	NEP								1							
5A5	East Coast species Info	IASPC	NEP		IAPNSF			1					7	0.1				
		DMR																
5A6	Other species information		NEP, VLMP		IAPNSF								7	0.1	L			
5B1a	Aslan crab research	DMR	T					1									<u></u>	
5B1b		DMR	NEP					İ				· · · · ·						-
5B1c	Other research needs	IASPC	Agencles, NG	0s	IAPNSF						7	0.1	7	0.1	15	0.2	15	
5C1a	Agency databases	TFTS/Agencies	NEP/FA		IAPNSF						t		·	<u>v.</u> ,	15	0.2	15	5 <u>0.2</u> 7 <u>0.1</u>
		IASPC					•	<u> </u>			7	0.1	7	0.1	7	0.1		7 0.1
5C1b	Agency websites	TFTS/Agencles	NEP/FA		IAPNSF						<u> '</u>		'		<u> </u>	0.1	·	0.1
		IASPC				•					7	0,1	7	0.1	7	0.1	<u>-</u>	
5C1c	Annotated bibliography	TF	?								·	<u>0.1</u>			'	0.1	<u> </u>	7 0.1
								1									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·
							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>			<u> </u>						ļ	
		·····															<u> </u>	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · ·	•								 	}				ļ	<u> </u>	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							··· ··· ···										
	1						·	TOTAL:	263	2.9	487	4.8	551	4.7	552	4.1	556	3 3.9
Note: Payback to f	Rainy Day Fund is \$230,000 in	FY03; DEP will have to cu	t \$205,000 from t	asks to meet	payback. E	disting FTE's	funding are	yet to be dev	eloped for DO	OC entries re	lying upon e	disting genera	l funds. We	iting for infor	nation from f	UEW and Di	1 350	<u> 3.9</u>

Key to abbreviations: Agencies - DAFRR, DEP, DIFW, DMR, DOC; AG - Attorney Genetal's Office; BFP - DOC Boating Facilities Program; DAFRR - Depl. of Agriculture & Rural Resources; DEP - Dept of Environmental Protection; DIFW - Dept. of Inland Fisheries & Wildlife; DMR - Dept. of Marine Resources; DOC - Dept. of Conservation; FA - Federal Agencies (Rachel Carson NWP/Acadia National Park/Wells Estuarine Sanctuary, et al); FTE - full time staff equivalent (a measure used in the budgeting process); GOC - Guift of Maine Council; IAPNSF - Invasive Aquatic Plant & Nuisance Species Fund; IASPC -Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator; LRPF - Lake & River Protection Fund; LA - Take associations; LWRC - Land & Water Resources Council; LURC - Land Use Regulation Commission; MNAP - DOC Natural Areas Program; M - municipalities; NEP - Northeast Panel; NGO's - non-governmental organizations; TF - Task Force; TFTS - Task Force Technical Subcommittee; USCG - United States Coast Guard; VLMP - Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program.

Appendix A: Glossary of Terms & Acronyms

Terms

Aquatic – relating to fresh or saltwater ecosystems

Ballast water – any water that is placed in the hold of a ship for the purposes of maintaining stability

Control – limiting the distribution and abundance of organisms through biological, chemical, or mechanical means

Cryptogenic species – an organism of unknown origin; may be introduced or native

Eradicate - to completely eliminate a population from a geographic area

Exotic - see "nonindigenous"

Indigenous – existing within a historical ecological range, usually within a balanced system of coevolved organisms, i.e. the range an organism would or could occupy without direct or indirect introduction and/or care by humans

Infestation – an invasive population that is living in and overrunning an ecosystem to an unwanted degree or harmful manner

Introduction – the intentional or unintentional escape, release, dissemination, or placement of a species into an ecosystem as a result of human activity

Invasive – nonindigenous or cryptogenic organisms that may threaten the diversity or abundance of native species or the ecological stability and/or uses of infested areas

Macrophyte – a plant that is macroscopic; generally used to refer to plants in a body of water

Native - see "indigenous"

Nonindigenous – an organism transported intentionally or accidentally from another region (also called: non-native or exotic)

Nuisance species – animal or plant species that have been introduced into new ecosystems throughout the United States and the world and are having harmful impacts on the natural resources in these ecosystems and the human use of these resources (as defined by the federal Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force)

Pathogen – any agent that causes disease in plants or animals; typically referring to microbes such as bacteria, viruses, or protozoan parasites

Pathways – natural and human connections that allow movement of organisms or their reproductive materials, such as seeds, spores, or eggs, from place to place

Population – all individuals of a single species within a defined habitat or geographic area such as a pond or watershed

Risk assessment – a science-based process to evaluate the economic and/or environmental risk(s) of invasive species

Vector – see pathways

Watershed – the geographic area that drains to a single water body or hydrographic unit such as a lake, stream, or estuary

Acronyms and Abbreviations

Maine

AG – Attorney General's Office BPC – Board of Pesticides Control (within DOC) BFP – Boating Facilities Program (within DOC) DAFRR – Department of Agriculture, Food, & Rural Resources DEP – Department of Environmental Protection DMR – Department of Marine Resources DIFW – Department of Inland Fisheries & Wildlife DOC – Department of Conservation IASPC – Invasive Aquatic Species Program Coordinator IASTF – Invasive Aquatic Species Task Force

A-1

LA – lake associations LURC – Land Use Regulation Commission (within DOC) LWRC – Land and Water Resources Council M - municipalities MNAP – Maine Natural Areas Program (within DOC) NRPA – Natural Resources Protection Act SPO – State Planning Office VLMP – Volunteer Lakes Monitoring Program

Federal

ANS – Aquatic Nuisance Species APHIS – USDA Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service EPA – United States Environmental Protection Agency FA – federal agencies FERC – Federal Energy Regulatory Commission FIFRA – Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act NISA – National Invasive Species Act NISC – National Invasive Species Council NOAA – National Oceanic and Atmospheric Agency NPDES – National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit PPA – Plant Protection Act USCG – United States Coast Guard USDA – United States Department of Agriculture USGS - United States Geological Survey USFWS – United States Fish and Wildlife Service

Appendix B: Authorities & Programs

State

Coordination & Program Evaluation

Maine has a reasonable institutional structure for ensuring interagency coordination on this issue. The Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species provides focus and direction, and the Land and Water Resources Council facilitates interagency coordination. Legislation gave DEP and DIFW a mandate to establish a joint invasive aquatic species program. The only real institutional gap is the omission of DMR (and other marine interests) from the task force and established programs.

Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species

The governor-appointed Task Force oversees implementation efforts and offers recommendations to the Land and Water Resources Council (LWRC) for comprehensive planning and management of all invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species in Maine. Recommendations the Task Force may make are detailed in 38 MRSA, 20-B (see Appendix C). The Task Force is also charged with coordinating with federal, state, and local agencies throughout the northeast to prevent the spread of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species.

Land and Water Resources Council

The Council is established in legislation (5 MRSA Chapter 314 section 3331) to advise the Governor, the Legislature and state agencies in the formulation of policies for management of the State's land and water resources. Council members include the commissioners of Agriculture, Food and Rural Resources, Conservation, Environmental Protection, Human Services, Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, Marine Resources, Economic and Community Development, and the Director of the State Planning Office.

Invasive Aquatic Species Program

Legislation (38 MRSA c.20-A and 20-B) authorized an invasive Aquatic Species Program to be housed in DEP and DIFW, with funding to be split between the agencies (60% to DEP). Funding is to be provided by purchases of a supplemental Lake and River Protection sticker required for boats operating on fresh waters (Sec. A-3, 12 MRSA).

DIFW was authorized to hire eight FTE positions. These included 6 new game wardens, 1.5 FTE in information and education and one half FTE in fisheries biology. To date DIFW has used available staff, paid for out of the initial funding provided by the legislature, to expand warden services and public outreach functions (primarily through the existing Public Safety Program). Hiring new staff will be delayed until revenues from the sticker program are sufficient to enable stable support for the positions. The new positions will not be dedicated solely to invasive species work. Rather DIFW intends to use the new position hours spread out over the expanded warden service and public education to include activities related to inform public and for enforcement of the current laws.

DEP was authorized to hire three new staff. One of these, the program coordinator, is a biologist who was hired in December of 2001. He is concentrating on program development, including the Maine Invasive Species Task Force and ANS plan development, interstate cooperation though the federal Northeast Regional ANS Panel. Other priorities include boat inspection coordination through outside contracting and some information and education activities.

DEP hired an environmental specialist in the spring of 2002; and plans to hire one more. These positions will share duties related to information and education, monitoring and evaluation (including liaison with the Volunteer Monitoring Program) managing infested waters, and developing rapid response capabilities. For 2002, DEP will also use contracts with outside entities to manage aspects of monitoring (VLMP Plant Patrollers Program), information (boat ramp signs, direct mailing campaign), and coordinating boat inspections at ramps using a mix of paid staff and volunteers. Staff of the Lakes Assessment Section and DEP education staff will carry on other program aspects until new hires are in place.

B-1

Education and Outreach

Education and outreach is always a difficult program area for state governments to deliver because it tends to come up short when competing for scarce resources with other mandates. Maine agencies have much authority in this area, but generally limited resources to deliver. Fortunately, a portion of the boat sticker program is directed toward this issue, but more attention needs to be paid to coordinating DIFW and DEP aspects of the program.

An Act to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Aquatic Plants (LD 2581)

In addition to the prohibition of 11 aquatic plants noted above, this bill charged DEP with preparing educational materials and signs. Educational materials are provided to municipalities, lake associations, water quality monitors, law enforcement agents, businesses that sell aquatic plants in Maine, and other interested individuals. Signs inform the public about the prohibition of aquatic plant transportation and were to be provided for installation at all state boat launch facilities on fresh waters. DEP was also charged with working with the Department of Transportation and the Maine Turnpike Authority to provide signs on all major roads at the State's borders advising incoming boat owners that Maine requires all boats and trailers to be free of aquatic plant material.

An Act to Prevent Infestation of Invasive Aquatic Plants and to Control Other Invasive Species (LD 1812)

The DEP and DIFW are charged with implementing a boat, trailer, and outboard motor inspection program at or near the state border and at boat launching sites for the presence of invasive aquatic plants. Also required by this bill is the provision of educational materials to the public regarding invasive aquatic plants, via inspection programs and other outlets.

Inland Fisheries and Wildlife

DIFW conducts many initiatives that can be used to educate the public about invasive aquatic species, such as its annual fishing rulebook, Operation Game Thief, and ongoing public information program. DIFW and DEP are coordinating to deliver education as directed by the invasive aquatic species legislation (see below).

Department of Environmental Protection

DEP has developed a public outreach program for invasive aquatic plants. The agency also maintains a web Page devoted to invasive plants and related information at <u>www.mainedep.com</u> and <u>http://www.state.me.us/dep/blwq/topic/invasive.htm</u>. The page contains links to other state, regional and national sites, along with updates on the state's program. Other information is maintained on the University of Maine's PEARL website which has links to DEP and other sites and includes education anal material supported by DEP's Lake Assessment Program (www.pearl.spatial.maine.edu).

Department of Conservation, Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP)

MNAP, in conjunction with others, has developed educational materials for invasive plants. Materials include factsheets, gardening brochures, a free standing display, and the Invasive Plant Survey Atlas. MNAP has also conducted workshops and presentations for interested groups. These events are designed to create greater awareness of the problem of invasive plants.

Board of Pesticides Control, DOC

The BPC trains and certifies individuals on the proper identification and management of pest problems, including invasive species. In conjunction with the University of Maine Cooperative Extension, Pest Management Office, BPC is often the place where people go to find out how to control invasive species. The BPC also provides continuing education programs for the people already licensed to control invasive species.

Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species (LD 1812)

The task force is mandated to include recommendations on the development and distribution of training material and public information materials for the public, lake monitors, and boat inspectors.

Maine Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program (VLMP)

The VLMP is a primary provider of information to the public concerning all aspects of invasive aquatic species. The VLMP works in concert with the Maine DEP, volunteer lake monitors, and lake associations throughout Maine. The following information and services are ongoing:

"Invasive Plant Patrol" workshops help participants develop aquatic plant identification skills, provide general information about preventing the introduction and spread of IAS, and train volunteers to conduct invasive plant screening surveys for lakes and ponds. Information gathered through screening surveys is added to a database that is being developed to help state agencies compile information on invasive aquatic plant infestations in Maine.

- Plant Identification: VLMP staff has developed a service to identify questionable plant specimens.
- General information concerning IAS is available through the VLMP website mainevolunteerlakemonitors.org Slide presentations and other outreach information is available to public groups, schools, and organizations on request.

Transport and Introduction

DIFW and DMR commissioners have broad authority to prevent introduction and spread of unwanted freshwater animals and marine organisms, but it is not explicitly targeted toward invasive aquatic organisms. DEP and DAFRR have jurisdiction over plants but no outright authority to prohibit the introduction of invasive aquatic species with legislative action.

Inland Fisheries and Wildlife

Pertinent DIFW statutes are too numerous to explain each one. Rather than approaching regulation through inclusive listing, the department generally applies its authority by requiring permits for activities it seeks to tightly control or prohibit, such as the following:

- Importation and use of bait and baitfish,
- Importation and transportation of live fish and wildlife, and
- > Release of wild birds and animals into the wild.

The department does issue a list of species that can be traded by commercial pet shops without a permit; and it prohibits the sale of baitfish from out-of-state and the illegal stocking of fish. DIFW also has regulations and procedures governing the biosecurity of hatchery operations that also have elaborate intake screen and UV disinfection systems. Department of Environmental Protection (DEP)

An Act to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Aquatic Plants (Chapter 722). This law, passed by the Maine Legislature in 2000, prohibits the possession, importation, cultivation, distribution, or transportation of the following 11 invasive aquatic plants: variable water milfoil, (Myriophyllum heterophyllum), curly leaf pond weed (Potamogeton crispus), Brazilian elodea (Egeria densa), fanwort (Cabomba caroliniana), European frog-bit (Hydrocharis morusranae), hydrilla (Hydrilla verticillata), Eurasian water milfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum), European naiad (Najas minor), parrot feather (Myriophyllum aquaticum), water chestnut (Trapa natans), and yellow floating-heart (Nymphoides peltata). Fines for violations under 38 MRSA §419-C may be up to \$500.00 for the first violation and up to \$2,500.00 for subsequent violations.

An Act to Prevent Infestation of Invasive Aquatic Plants and to Control Other Invasive Species (Chapter 434). This law established the Lake and River Protection Sticker, sales of which fund DEP's and DIFW's invasive species programs. A fine of between \$100.00 and \$250.00 can be levied for failure to display a sticker on a motorboat or personal watercraft on inland waters in Maine. Launching a watercraft carrying an invasive aquatic plant into an inland water may be subject to a fine of between \$500.00 and \$5,000.00. Operation of a boat in a quarantined area may receive a fine of between \$500.00 and \$5,000.00.

Department of Agriculture, Food, and Rural Resources (DAFARR)

DAFARR has two programs that deal indirectly with the Transport and Introduction of aquatic invasive species: Animal Welfare and Horticulture.

The Animal Welfare Program, within the Office of Agricultural, Natural and Rural Resources, licenses pet shops. It operates under the authority of 7 MRSA Chapter 723. While the definition of pet shops includes only exotic birds, mammals, fish, and reptiles (see section 3907, 7 MRSA Chapter 717), inspectors look for banned aquatic plants and will look for additional ones if they have backup identification. If pet shops sell rooted plants pet shop inspectors require them to get a nursery license as described below.

The Horticulture Program within the Division of Plant Industry has the authority to license businesses involved in selling plants. Staff conducts annual routine inspections of all nurseries and water

B-3

garden suppliers. Under the definition for plant pest contained in 7 MRSA Chapter 405A sections 2211-2217, staff can also make spot inspections of garden centers suspected of being infested with plant pests used in water gardening or landscaping for wetland areas. Inspectors can act to educate and help enforce the invasive plant laws. Staff in the unit also work cooperatively with USDA to help enforce plant quarantines, federal noxious weed list and certify plants exported internationally.

Maine Department of Marine Resources

DMR has regulations giving the Commissioner the authority to regulate the importation of marine organisms into the state (Chapter 24, Title 12, Section 6070). Dumping of waste material is controlled by Chapter 24, Title 12, Section 6251. The department regulates bivalve wet storage under Chapter 24, Title 12, Section 6071; and, as with DIFW, has regulations governing biosecurity at aquaculture facilities.

Maine Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program (VLMP)

The Maine Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program (VLMP) conducts an ongoing education and outreach program intended to prevent the introduction and spread of invasive aquatic species through public transportation vectors. A major part of this program includes providing information to the public concerning specific actions that can be taken to reduce the risk of introducing IAS to Maine lakes and ponds, including local voluntary vehicle and boat inspections. Information is provided to all, but the primary target audience includes more than 500 active volunteer lake monitors on Maine lakes, as well as lake associations throughout the state.

Early Detection, Rapid Response, and Management

Inland Fisheries and Wildlife

DIFW responds on an ad hoc basis to introductions of invasive aquatic fish, and has a licensed pesticide applicator on staff for the occasional instance when it is appropriate to use pesticides to control an invasive fish introduction. The department is also responsible for managing fisheries in all state waters, and commenting on permits relating to FERC relicensing and state environmental review of projects that may affect the spread of invasive fish and wildlife. The agency also has a program for providing public boating access to state waters. Department of Environmental Protection (DEP)

Maine Water Classification Program (38 MRSA Sec. Sections 464 and 465) and Section 413 Discharge of Pollutants provide narrative criteria for habitat and biological integrity for the State waters. Section 413 provides conditions under which the department or someone working for DEP could procure a discharge license for the use of pesticides.

DEP takes the lead in controlling invasive plant infestations. Activities manipulating aquatic plants have generally to meet NPDES standards and those of the Natural Resources Protection Act (NRPA), and the department has some authority to pursue experimental techniques. An NPDES permit is the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System that DEP administers with EPA. The NPDES permit is needed to directly discharge pollutants into waters of the state.

In addition, Section 465 places significant restrictions on the discharge of pollutants to lakes, including chemical discharges, such as those used to control plants. Such discharges are prohibited in lakes, unless they are "... aquatic pesticide treatments or chemical treatments for the purpose of restoring water quality..." Current department policy precludes the use of herbicides for any purpose because of their potential environmental harm and the fact that some plant species are becoming resistant to chemicals after years of use in other states.

DEP policy instead promotes hand removal as the primary control technique for plants. DEP has a protocol for and allows hand removal under Permit by Rule provisions of the Natural Resources Protection Act. If hand removal proves ineffective by itself, DEP has the authority to consider other options, such as mechanical controls, which may require licenses from other agencies. Note: LD 1812 Section 1864 requires written consent for control techniques from public water suppliers.

The Natural Resources Protection Act (NRPA 38 MRSA Sec. 480-N-U) contains standards for a variety of activities relating to physical modification of protected resources such as wetlands, streams and lakes. Physical methods of plant control (harvesting, bottom barriers, plant removal, certain water level manipulations,

B-4

etc) are governed by NRPA standards, and permits are required for these activities as well as for boating access sites on state waters.

An Act to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Aquatic Plants (Chapter 722, 38 MRSA Section 410-N) describes certain conditions under which the DEP may undertake activities for control invasive plant populations. The department may undertake physical or biological control management efforts designed to eradicate an infestation of one of the listed plants without first obtaining a permit if timely response would be hindered by the usual NRPA permitting process. In situations where enough advance notice is available, the Department would follow normal NRPA permitting procedures. This exemption does not extend to regular maintenance or management interventions.

Maine Drinking Water Program (DWP), Department of Human Services

The DWP is the primary agency responsible for administering the Safe Drinking Water Act in Maine. The DWP regulates nearly 2200 Public Water Systems for compliance with the National Primary Drinking Water Regulations that includes inorganic and organic chemicals, as well as microorganisms and disinfection byproducts. Maine has approximately 81 lakes, ponds, rivers and streams that serve as drinking water sources for at least 40% of Maine's population.

An Act to Prevent Infestation of Invasive Aquatic Plants and to Control Other Invasive Species (LD 1812)

> The Commissioners of DEP and DIFW may issue an emergency order to restrict or prohibit the use of any watercraft on all or a portion of a water body infested with an invasive aquatic plant.

Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species (LD 1812)

The action plan required of the Task Force may include a response program to deal with new introductions of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species in Maine inland waters.

Board of Pesticides Control, Dept. of Agriculture, Food and Rural Resources (BPC)

The Board of Pesticides Control administers all state and federal regulations related to the distribution and use of pesticides, including those used in aquatic environments. The BPC must register all pesticides before they can be legally distributed or used in the State. (see 7 MRSA § 607) Applicators must also be licensed by the BPC before treating aquatic areas with pesticides (see 22 MRSA § 1471-C(5)) and before they can apply for a discharge permit from the DEP. (see 22 MRSA § 1471-E)

Department of Conservation

The department's boating facilities program, together with DIFW, is responsible for providing public boating access sites. The Land Use Regulation Commission, within DOC, is responsible for issuing permits for private and public access sites within the unorganized portion of the state.

Maine Volunteer Monitoring Program (VLMP)

VLMP staff assists the Maine DEP in developing and overseeing rapid response initiatives for infested lakes and ponds. VLMP is currently working with a number of local groups to manage eradication and control programs on infested lakes.

Inventory, Research, and Information Management

No major gaps in authority exist in regard to inventorying, researching, and managing information related to invasive aquatic species, but resources to conduct these activities are not abundant.

Inland Fisheries and Wildlife

DIFW has an excellent database documenting the occurrence of fish species in Maine, including invasive species. The Department has also begun a Maine Biodiversity Project documenting the occurrence and composition of faunal communities in the state.

Department of Environmental Protection (DEP)

An Act to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Aquatic Plants (LD 2581) charges DEP with investigating and documenting the occurrence of invasive aquatic plants in state waters. Some of this mandate involves support for the VLMP Plant Patrollers program, plant specimen ID for the volunteer monitors, and field reconnaissance of reports of plant infestations in southern Maine.

Maine Department of Conservation Natural Areas Program

MNAP is the lead state agency in documenting and providing information to government agencies, organizations, and the public about the occurrence, distribution, and fragility of rare plants and
exemplary natural communities. MNAP conducts research on the biotic and abiotic characteristics of natural communities including those found in lacustrine and estuarine environments. MNAP ecologists are compiling an atlas of terrestrial and aquatic invasive plants in Maine in conjunction with the New England Invasive Plant Group. MNAP has no regulatory authority but advises permitting agencies on specific projects.

Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species (LD 1812)

The action plan required of the Task Force may include identification of inland waters that are infested and an assessment of inland waters most at risk of infestation by invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species. The action plan may also include a program to monitor inland waters for new introductions of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species.

Maine Volunteer Monitoring Program (VLMP)

VLMP is working with the DEP and other agencies to monitor lakes and ponds throughout Maine for any possible introductions of IAS. Plant patrol workshops are designed to train the public to assist state authorities in gathering inventory data.

Federal

Overall Coordination

At the federal level, no single agency has authority over the management of aquatic invasive species. Rather, multiple agencies have developed invasive species programs. Section 1201 of the Nonindigenous Aquatic Nuisance prevention and Control Act of 1990 (NANPCA, PL 101-646) established the federal interagency Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force (ANS Task Force). The Task Force is charged with coordinating federal aquatic nuisance species efforts with the efforts of the private sector and other North American interests. The ANS Task Force is responsible for initiating research programs, planning initiatives, and policy direction for the prevention, detection and monitoring, and control of nuisance species, and operates through regional panels as well as specific working groups that address particularly problematic invaders.

More recently, Executive Order 131122 recommended an increase in the federal budget for the management of all invasive species and established the National Invasive Species Council, a federal interagency organization charged with the biennial development of a National Invasive Species Management Plan.

The sections below underscore some of the highlights of federal authorities and programs related to invasive aquatic species. Much of this information is taken from the National Invasive Species Council's Management Plan: Meeting the Invasive Species Challenge, January 18, 2001 and the Massachusetts Draft Aquatic Invasive Species Management Plan.

Education and Outreach

A number of federal agencies have specific projects and programs that provide information to the public or assistance to state, local, and private landowners for control efforts. The Commerce Department conducts outreach efforts on aquatic invasive species. Many agencies such as USGS, USDA, and USFWS maintain extensive, spatially referenced data bases and web sites for nonindigenous aquatic species.

Transport and Introduction

US Coast Guard

<u>Ballast and Recreation Guidelines.</u> The Coast Guard, within the Department of Transportation issued voluntary guidelines for managing ballast water in non-Great Lakes or Hudson River waters in July of 1999, but as of December 21, 2001, also requires that ballast water discharges for nearly all vessels entering US waters be reported. In addition, the Coast Guard issued voluntary guidelines for recreational activities in 2000 (USCG-2000-7206).

US Department of Agriculture (USDA)

The protection of agriculture has been, and continues to be, the primary focus of Federal efforts to prevent invasions of non-native species in general.

The New Plant Protection Act (PPA), which consolidated the authorities in the Plant Quarantine Act, Federal Plant Pest Act, Federal Noxious Weed Act, and other plant-related statutes, authorizes the USDA Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) to prohibit the import and interstate transport of species

included on the Noxious Weed List developed by the USDA. In addition and in cooperation with state agricultural department, APHIS annually designates priority agricultural pest species for annual intensive monitoring efforts. Each year, the state survey committee reviews the Noxious Weed List and chooses one or more for annual surveillance efforts.

The movement of seed is regulated under the Federal Seed Act, which prohibits the importation of any agricultural or vegetable seed containing high-risk weed seeds and ensures the purity and proper labeling of seed imports.

US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS)

The USFWS has traditionally led in dealing with invasive species at the federal level, and is co-chair of the ANS Task Force. The Service provides technical assistance to states in developing invasive species control plans.

The Lacey Act of 1900 (and amendments) establishes a permitting process within the USFWS of the Department of Interior for the importation and transport of vertebrates, mollusks, and crustacea that are "injurious to human beings, to the interests of agriculture, horticulture, forestry, or to wildlife or to wildlife resources of the United States." The Secretary of Interior maintains the Injurious Species List that as of January 2001 included 12 genera of mammals, 4 species of birds, 1 reptile, 1 mollusk, and 1 crustacean.

Early Detection, Rapid Response and Management

A number of federal departments have programs to detect, assess, and respond to invasions by non-native species. Only USDA has emergency authority to deal with an incipient invasion, with emergency powers under the Plant Protection Act (PPA). Interior has established four exotic plant management teams to identify, eradicate, or control small, localized infestations of lands managed by the National Park Service.

All federal land and water management agencies within Interior, NOAA, and Defense have authority to control and manage invasive species as well as restore affected areas on their lands and waters. In addition, EPA has authority under two statutes that can be used to control and manage invasive species, including the Clean Water Act and Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA). For example, EPA uses FIFRA regulates a pesticide for the control of lamprey populations in the Great Lakes.

Inventory, Research, and Information Management

Almost all departments with major responsibilities in the areas of prevention or control of invasive species also have research and monitoring programs to support their efforts. For several agencies, including USDA, Interior, and NOAA, research and monitoring are very significant activities. USDA provides leadership in developing biological control technologies, as well as research on invasive pathogens and insects of concern to wetlands (as well as forests and rangelands). Defense has a number of research programs focused on aquatic plant problems and zebra mussels. In addition, EPA conducts research on the risks associated with invasive species and monitors the extent of invasive species spread by ecosystem type as part of its Research and Development Authority.

Appendix C: Maine Statutes

CHAPTER 722 H.P. 1843 - L.D. 2581

An Act to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Aquatic Plants

Emergency preamble. Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, invasive aquatic plants present an imminent threat to state waters; and

Whereas, it is important to prevent the transport of invasive aquatic plants into the State on boats and trailers because eradication is nearly impossible once an infestation occurs; and

Whereas, the summer boating season will begin prior to 90 days after adjournment; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 38 MRSA §410-N is enacted to read:

§410-N. Aquatic nuisance species control

1. Definitions. As used in this section and section 419-C, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the following meanings.

A. "Aquatic plant" means a vascular plant species that requires a permanently flooded freshwater habitat.

B. "Invasive aquatic plant" means a species identified by the department through rulemaking as an invasive aquatic plant or one of the following species:

 (1) Eurasian water milfoil, Myriophyllum spicatum;
 (2) Variable-leaf water milfoil, Myriophyllum heterophyllum;
 (3) Parrot feather, Myriophyllum aquaticum;
 (4) Water chestnut, Trapa natans;
 (5) Hydrilla, Hydrilla verticillata;
 (6) Fanwort, Cabomba caroliniana;
 (7) Curly pondweed, Potamogeton crispus;
 (8) European naiad, Najas minor;
 (9) Brazilian elodea, Egeria densa;
 (10) Frogbit, Hydrocharis morsus-ranae; and
 (11) Yellow floating heart, Nymphoides peltata.

<u>Rules adopted pursuant to this paragraph are routine technical</u> rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter II-A.

2. Education. The department shall prepare educational materials that inform the public about problems associated with invasive aquatic plants, how to identify invasive aquatic plants, why it is important to prevent the transportation of aquatic plants and the prohibitions relating to aquatic plants contained in section 419-C. The department shall make the materials available to municipalities, lake associations, water quality monitors, law enforcement agents, businesses that sell aquatic plants in the State and other interested individuals.

> A. The department shall provide signs for installation at all state boat launch facilities on fresh waters informing the public about the prohibition of aquatic plant transportation on boats and trailers and may provide these signs, as available funds allow, for installation at other boat launch sites including municipal boat launch facilities, campground boat launch facilities and other commonly used launch sites. B. The department shall work with the Department of Transportation and the Maine Turnpike Authority to provide signs and educational materials on all major roads at the State's borders advising incoming boat owners that state law requires all boats and trailers to be free of aquatic plant material.

<u>3. Control. The department shall investigate and document the</u> occurrence of invasive aquatic plants in state waters and may undertake activities to control invasive aquatic plant populations as follows.

A. The department or a person designated by the department may attempt eradication of an invasive aquatic plant from a water body if determined feasible by the department. If the commissioner determines that eradication activities must be undertaken immediately, a license is not required under section 413 or section 480-C for the use of a physical, chemical or biological control material by the department or a person designated by the department if the use of the control material is specifically related to the immediate eradication of invasive aquatic plant populations in the water body. Prior to undertaking an eradication activity and to the extent practical, the department shall notify landowners whose property is adjacent to the area where the activity will be undertaken. B. The department may conduct research to test new control methods for the eradication of invasive aquatic plants pursuant to section 362-A.

Sec. 2. 38 MRSA §419-C is enacted to read:

§419-C. Prevention of the spread of invasive aquatic plants

1. Prohibition. A person may not:

A. Transport any aquatic plant or parts of any aquatic plant, including roots, rhizomes, stems, leaves or seeds, on the outside of a vehicle, boat, personal watercraft, boat trailer or other equipment on a public road; B. Possess, import, cultivate, transport or distribute any invasive aquatic plant or parts of any invasive aquatic plant, including roots, rhizomes, stems, leaves or seeds, in a manner that could cause the plant to get into any state waters; or C. After September 1, 2000, sell or offer for sale in this State any invasive aquatic plant.

2. Penalty. A person who intentionally violates this section commits a civil violation for which a warning may be issued for the first violation, a forfeiture not to exceed \$50 may be adjudged for the 2nd violation and a forfeiture not to exceed \$500 may be adjudged for a subsequent violation.

Sec. 3. Report; invasive aquatic species control. The Department of Environmental Protection and the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife shall jointly submit a report on invasive aquatic species control, including recommendations and implementing legislation, to the joint standing committees of the Legislature having jurisdiction over natural resources matters and inland fisheries matters by January 15, 2001. The report must address at least the following:

1. Identification of other biological threats to the State's waters including invasive animal species that may become a nuisance;

2. Further education, awareness and prevention efforts needed to stop the introduction and spread of invasive species;

<u>3. Methods to control the spread of invasive species should any become</u> established in the State, including quarantine authority;

<u>4. Enforcement of the prohibitions in the Maine Revised Statutes, Title</u> 38, section 419-C;

5. The status of cooperation from other state agencies in educating the public about invasive aquatic species; and

<u>6. Recommendations for necessary funding to support the prevention</u> and control of invasive aquatic species.

In preparing the report, the departments shall consult with interested parties, including representatives of the following: the Maine Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program, lake associations, lakeshore owners, boat owners, sporting interests, business interests, marina owners, campground owners, environmental organizations, other state or federal agencies and interested agencies in neighboring states and provinces. The joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over natural resources matters is authorized to report out a bill concerning invasive aquatic species control to the First Regular Session of the 120th Legislature.

Emergency clause. In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this Act takes effect when approved.

Effective April 14, 2000.

CHAPTER 434

S.P. 630 - L.D. 1812

An Act to Prevent Infestation of Invasive Aquatic Plants and to Control Other Invasive Species

Emergency preamble. Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species pose a substantive threat to the environment and economy of the State; and

Whereas, the most common method of spreading invasive aquatic plants is on recreational boats, watercraft trailers and fishing equipment; and

Whereas, Maine's inland waters face an immediate threat of infestation by invasive aquatic plants during the 2001 summer boating season; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

PART A

Sec. A-1. 12 MRSA §7791, sub-§1-B is enacted to read:

<u>1-B. Aquatic plant. "Aquatic plant" means a vascular plant</u> species that requires a permanently flooded freshwater habitat.

Sec. A-2. 12 MRSA §7791, sub-§3-A is enacted to read:

<u>3-A. Invasive aquatic plant. "Invasive aquatic plant" means a species of aquatic plant described in Title 38, section 410-N.</u>

Sec. A-3. 12 MRSA §§7794-B and 7794-C are enacted to read:

§7794-B. Lake and river protection sticker

Beginning on January 1, 2002, and by January 1st of each subsequent year, the commissioner shall provide each agent authorized to register watercraft or issue licenses with a sufficient quantity of lake and river protection stickers for that boating season. The sticker must be in 2 parts so that one part of the sticker can be affixed to each side of the bow of a motorboat or personal watercraft. The fee for a sticker is \$20 for a motorboat or personal watercraft not registered in the State and \$10 for a motorboat or personal watercraft registered in the State.

1. Disposition of sticker revenues. All fees collected by the commissioner from the sale of stickers under this section are paid daily to the Treasurer of State. Notwithstanding section 7800, the treasurer shall credit funds received under this subsection as follows:

> <u>A. Sixty percent of the revenues are credited to the Invasive</u> <u>Aquatic Plant and Nuisance Species Fund established in the</u> <u>Department of Environmental Protection under Title 38, section</u> <u>1863; and</u>

<u>B. Forty percent of the revenues are credited to the Lake and River</u> <u>Protection Fund established in the department under section 7806.</u>

<u>2. Administrative cost. The Legislature shall appropriate to the</u> <u>department in each fiscal year an amount equal to the administrative costs</u> <u>incurred by the department in collecting revenue under this section.</u>

§7794-C. Lake and river protection sticker required

Beginning January 1, 2002, a person may not operate a motorboat or personal watercraft on the inland waters of the State unless a lake and river protection sticker issued under section 7794-B is affixed to both sides of the bow above the water line and approximately 3 inches behind the validation sticker required under section 7794.

Sec. A-4. 12 MRSA §7801, sub-§§37 to 39 are enacted to read:

<u>37. Failure to display lake and river protection sticker. Beginning</u> January 1, 2002, a person who places a motorboat or personal watercraft upon the inland waters of the State without displaying a lake and river protection sticker as required by section 7794-C commits a civil violation

for which a forfeiture of not less than \$100 and not more than \$250 per violation may be adjudged, except that a citation for a violation of this subsection may not be issued to a person who is also issued a citation at the same time for another violation of any provision of this section. A forfeiture imposed under this subsection may not be waived by the court.

38. Launching a contaminated watercraft. A person who places a watercraft that is contaminated with an invasive aquatic plant upon the inland waters of the State commits a civil violation for which a forfeiture of not less than \$500 and not more than \$5,000 per violation may be adjudged. A forfeiture imposed under this subsection may not be waived by the court.

39. Operating a watercraft in a quarantined area. A person who operates a watercraft in violation of an order issued under Title 38, section 1864 commits a civil violation for which a forfeiture of not less than \$500 and not more than \$5,000 per violation may be adjudged. A forfeiture imposed under this subsection may not be waived by the court.

Sec. A-5. 12 MRSA §7806 is enacted to read:

§7806. Lake and River Protection Fund

The Lake and River Protection Fund, referred to in this section as the "fund," is created within the department as a nonlapsing fund. The fund must be administered by the commissioner. The fund is funded from fees collected for lake and river protection stickers issued under section 7794-B and from other funds accepted for those purposes by the commissioner or allocated or appropriated by the Legislature. Money in the fund may be used for enforcing laws pertaining to invasive aquatic plants, inspecting watercraft for invasive aquatic plant materials, educational and informational efforts targeted at invasive aquatic plant prevention, eradication and management activities and the production and distribution of lake and river protection stickers required under section 7794-B.

Sec. A-6. 38 MRSA §419-C, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 1999, c. 722, §2, is amended to read:

2. Penalty. A person who intentionally violates this section commits a civil violation for which a warning may be issued for the first violation, a forfeiture not to exceed \$50 may be adjudged for the 2nd first violation and a forfeiture not to exceed \$500 may be adjudged for a subsequent violation.

Sec. A-7. 38 MRSA c. 20-A is enacted to read:

CHAPTER 20-A

PROGRAM TO PREVENT INFESTATION OF AND TO CONTROL INVASIVE AQUATIC PLANTS

§1861. Definitions

As used in this chapter and chapter 20-B, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the following meanings.

<u>**1. Invasive aquatic plant.**</u> "Invasive aquatic plant" means a species of aquatic plant described in section 410-N.

2. Nuisance species. "Nuisance species" means an aquatic or terrestrial nonindigenous species that threatens the diversity or abundance of native species, the ecological stability of infested waters or commercial, agricultural, aquacultural or recreational activity dependent on such waters as identified by the department through rulemaking.

3. Watercraft. "Watercraft" has the same meaning as in Title 12, section 7791, subsection 14.

<u>§1862. Program to prevent infestation of and to control invasive</u> aquatic plants

1. Program. The commissioner and the Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife jointly shall implement a program to inspect watercraft, watercraft trailers and outboard motors at or near the border of the State and at boat launching sites for the presence of invasive aquatic plants and to provide educational materials to the public and to watercraft owners regarding invasive aquatic plants.

2. Other inspection stations allowed. The program established under this section also may include inspections at boat launching sites on inland waters that are already infested and at boat launching sites on the inland waters that have been identified as most at risk of introduction of invasive aquatic plants.

<u>3. Informational material to be provided. The program established</u> <u>under this section must provide for the distribution of informational</u> <u>material on invasive aquatic plants, including a guide to identifying those</u>

plants, information on how to prevent the spread of those plants and information on the potential environmental impact and other impacts of infestation.

4. Program implementation. During the 2001 boating season, the department and the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife shall spend at least 5,000 person hours inspecting watercraft, watercraft trailers and outboard motors at selected boat launching sites and at no fewer than 10 roadside locations at or near the state border. In 2001, the program established under this section also must include an extensive educational effort involving a variety of media with the goal of informing the public of the risks posed by invasive aquatic plants, how to inspect watercraft, watercraft trailers and outboard motors for the presence of invasive aquatic plant material and how to properly dispose of that material. The program also must include other invasive aquatic plant-related inspection or educational efforts considered appropriate by the commissioner and the Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife.

The program in 2002 and subsequent years must be at a level of effort determined by the commissioner and the Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife in consultation with the Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plant and Nuisance Species, as established in section 1871.

§1863. Invasive Aquatic Plant and Nuisance Species Fund

The Invasive Aquatic Plant and Nuisance Species Fund, referred to in this section as the "fund," is created within the department as a nonlapsing fund. The fund is administered by the commissioner. The fund is funded from fees collected for lake and river protection stickers issued under Title 12, section 7794-B and from other funds accepted for those purposes by the commissioner or allocated or appropriated by the Legislature. Money in the fund may be used only for costs related to conducting inspections under section 1862, conducting invasive aquatic plant prevention, containment, eradication and management activities and reimbursing agencies as necessary for costs associated with conducting or enforcing the provisions of this chapter and chapter 20-B. The commissioner may also use funds to contract with municipalities or other entities to conduct inspection, prevention or eradication programs to protect the inland waters of the State from invasive aquatic plant and nuisance species.

§1864. Emergency authority to regulate surface use

The commissioner and the Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife may jointly issue an emergency order to restrict or prohibit the use of any watercraft on all or a portion of a water body that has a confirmed infestation of an invasive aquatic plant. The order must be for a specific period of time and may be issued only when the use of watercraft on that water body threatens to worsen or spread the infestation. The order may require that watercraft on waters affected by the order be taken out of the water only at locations identified in the order and be inspected and cleaned by the department upon removal. If the infested water body is a public drinking water supply, public notification by the commissioner and the Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife is required prior to any response action that proposes the use of a chemical control agent. Public notification must include, at a minimum, notification of adjoining municipalities, property owners, drinking water suppliers who use that water supply and other affected persons, and must provide adequate time for public review and comment on the proposed emergency action. Chemical control agents may not be used on a water body that is a public water supply without the prior written consent of each public water supplier using that water body.

PART B

Sec. B-1. 5 MRSA §12004-D, sub-§6 is enacted to read:

6. Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species 38 MRSA §1871 Expenses Only

Sec. B-2. 38 MRSA c. 20-B is enacted to read:

CHAPTER 20-B

INVASIVE AQUATIC PLANTS AND NUISANCE SPECIES CONTROL

<u>§1871. Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species</u>

The Interagency Task Force on Invasive Aquatic Plants and Nuisance Species, as established by Title 5, section 12004-D, subsection 6 and referred to in this chapter as the "task force," is established to advise the Land and Water Resources Council, established in Title 5, section 3331, on matters pertaining to research, control and eradication of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species.

1. Membership. The task force consists of 17 members as follows:

A. The following 5 ex officio voting members:

(1) The commissioner or the commissioner's designee, who serves as the chair of the task force;

(2) The Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife or the commissioner's designee;

(3) The Commissioner of Human Services or the commissioner's designee;

(4) The Commissioner of Agriculture, Food and Rural Resources or the commissioner's designee; and

(5) The Commissioner of Conservation or the commissioner's designee; and

<u>B. Twelve members representing the public appointed by the</u> <u>Governor:</u>

(1) One representative of the State's lake associations;

(2) One representative of a statewide recreational watercraft owners association;

(3) One representative of a statewide organization of marina owners;

(4) One representative of a lakes education program;

(5) One representative of public drinking water utilities;

(6) One representative of commercial tree and garden nurseries;

(7) One representative of home gardeners;

(8) One representative of municipal government;

(9) One representative of a statewide sporting association;

(10) One representative of a statewide outdoor recreational group;

(11) One person with demonstrated expertise in lake ecology; and

(12) One public member who has demonstrated experience or interest in the area of threats to fish and wildlife posed by invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species.

2. Terms. Members appointed by the Governor serve 4-year terms, except that, as determined by the Governor, of the initial appointments, 4 must be for 3 years, including the public member and 4 must be for 2 years. Members serve until their successors are appointed. A vacancy must be filled for the remainder of the unexpired term.

3. Advisory group of federal agency representatives. The task force may form an advisory group of federal agency representatives that may include, but is not limited to, representatives of the United States Department of the Interior, United States Fish and Wildlife Service and National Park Service assigned to Acadia National Park; the United States Department of Agriculture; the United States Forest Service within the United States Department of Agriculture; and the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

4. Duties. The task force may make recommendations to the Land and Water Resources Council on:

A. The importation and transportation of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species;

<u>B. Monitoring and educational programs aimed at the control of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species ;</u>

C. A comprehensive state invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species management plan that meets the requirements of the National Invasive Specie Act of 1996, 16 United States Code, Section 4722; D. A statewide inventory of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species;

E. Methods to improve cooperation of state, provincial, federal and nongovernmental agencies in the area of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species prevention and control;

F. Recommendations on the feasibility of implementing lake protection assessment districts that allow residents and owners of land within 250 feet of inland waters to assess themselves to raise funds to assist in the prevention and control of invasive aquatic plants; and

G. Other recommendations as necessary to control the introduction of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species in the State.

5. Regional cooperation. The task force shall work with representatives from federal, state and local agencies and private environmental and commercial interests in the northeastern United States to form a northeastern regional panel to establish priorities and coordinate activities to prevent the spread of milfoil and other invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species in the Northeast.

6. Staff. The department shall provide staff support to the task force.

§1872. Action plan to protect State's inland waters

The task force shall also recommend to the Land and Water Resources Council an actionplan to protect the State's inland waters from invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species. That plan may include, but is not limited to:

<u>1. Identification of inland waters known to be infested. Identification</u> of inland waters of the State that are known to be infested with invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species;

2. Vulnerability assessment. Recommendations on conducting a preliminary vulnerability assessment of the State's largest inland waters to identify the largest inland waters in the State most at risk of infestation by invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species. That assessment may include such factors as the proximity of the inland water body to other infested waters, proximity of major transportation routes, presence of a public watercraft launch, use of the inland water body by transient boaters, the

number of lakefront property owners and other factors as the commissioner may determine to be appropriate. The assessment also must identify the most probable vectors or pathways of introduction of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species and identify those inspection locations most likely to result in identification and prevention of new introductions;

3. Lake monitoring program. Recommendations on a program to monitor inland waters in the State for new introductions of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species, including recommendations on implementing that program and methods to provide for the periodic inspection of inland waters for new introductions of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species, particularly in areas close to public watercraft launch facilities;

<u>4. Response program. Recommendations on a response program to</u> <u>deal with new introductions of invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species</u> <u>in inland waters in the State; and</u>

5. Training and public information materials. Recommendations on the development and distribution of training materials and public information materials for use by the public, lake monitors and persons authorized to inspect boats for invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species.

PART C

Sec. C-1. Report to committee. The Commissioner of Environmental Protection and the Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife jointly shall report to the Joint Standing Committee on Natural Resources and the Joint Standing Committee on Inland Fisheries and Wildlife no later than January 15, 2002 on the invasive aquatic plant education and inspection program, established in the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 38, section 1862, conducted during the 2001 boating season and on plans for that program for the boating seasons of 2002 and subsequent years. The report must quantify the hours spent by each agency on inspections, the number and type of informational materials produced and distributed and the number, type and location of any enforcement actions taken under the program. The report must also document the actual costs of operating that program in 2001 and the projected cost of operating the program in 2002 and subsequent years. The report shall evaluate the relative cost, efficiency and desirability of providing informational and inspection activities directly by the State and indirectly through contracts with municipalities and other entities.

Sec. C-2. Authority to report out legislation. The Joint Standing Committee on Natural Resources is authorized to report out legislation on invasive aquatic plants and nuisance species to the Second Regular Session of the 120th Legislature.

Sec. C-3. Transfers from the Maine Rainy Day Fund. On July 1, 2001, the State Controller shall transfer the following funds from the Maine Rainy Day Fund established under the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5, section 1513:

<u>1. Invasive Aquatic Plant and Nuisance Species Fund. Two hundred</u></u> <u>thirty thousand dollars is transferred from the Maine Rainy Day Fund to the</u> <u>Invasive Aquatic Plant and Nuisance Species Fund established in the</u> Department of Environmental Protection pursuant to Title 38, section 1863; and

2. Lake and River Protection Fund. Three hundred thirty thousand dollars is transferred from the Rainy Day Fund to the Lake and River Protection Fund established in the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife pursuant to Title 12, section 7806.

The Department of Environmental Protection and the Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife shall reimburse the Maine Rainy Day Fund in full no later than June 30, 2002 for all funds transferred under this section.

PART D

Sec. D-1. Allocation. The following funds are allocated from Other Special Revenue funds to carry out the purposes of this Act.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, DEPARTMENT OF	 2001-02	2002-03	
Land and Water Quality			
Positions Personal Services All Other Capital Expenditures	(3.000) \$91,572 \$155,000	(3.000) \$178,342 \$640,000 \$17,000	

Allocates funds for one additional Biologist I position to start on September 1, 2001, one additional Environmental Specialist III position to start on January 1, 2002, one additional Environmental Specialist III position to start on March 1, 2002 and operating costs necessary to implement an invasive aquatic plants prevention program.

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION TOTAL \$835,342 \$246,572 INLAND FISHERIES AND WILDLIFE, DEPARTMENT OF **Enforcement Operations -**Inland Fisheries and Wildlife Positions - Legislative Count (6.000) Personal Services \$40,000 \$309,828 All Other \$15,000 \$80,000 **Capital Expenditures** \$90,000 TOTAL \$55,000 \$479,828 Allocates funds to cover overtime enforcement costs for Game Wardens in fiscal year 2001-02, for 6 additional Game Warden positions beginning in fiscal year 2002-03 and for operating costs necessary to implement an invasive aquatic plants prevention program. Licensing Services -**Inland Fisheries and Wildlife** All Other \$140,000 \$140,000 Allocates funds for the printing and distribution of lake and river protection stickers. **Public Information and Education -Division** of Positions - Nonlegislative Count (1.534)(1.534)Personal Services \$45,891 \$48,186 All Other \$30,000 \$30,000 TOTAL \$75,891 \$78,186

Allocates funds to increase 11 Recreational Safety Coordinator positions from 750 hours per year to 1040 hours per year and for increased operational costs for these positions.

Fisheries and Hatcheries Operations

Positions - Nonlegislative Count	(0.500)	(0.500)
Personal Services	\$24,103	\$25,308
All Other	<u>\$5,000</u>	<u>\$5,000</u>
TOTAL	\$29,103	\$30,308
1011L	\$29,103	\$30,308

Allocates funds to fund one part-time Biologist I position and for increased operating costs for this position.

DEPARTMENT OF INLAND FISHERIES AND WILDLIFE TOTAL

TOTAL		\$299,994	\$728,322
TOTAL ALLOCATIONS	•	\$546,566	\$1,563,664

Emergency clause. In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this Act takes effect when approved.

Effective June 20, 2001.

October	10,	2002
---------	-----	------

			URRENCE		BIO IGOF	1				•	ATHV	A/ A \											CO		NIC										·
			UNHENCE		GUF	1			- <u> </u>				S				<u>- IM</u>									-8		SES	SM	ENT		ITE	<u>RIA</u>		
LATIN NAME	COMMON NAME	Established in Maine	Or Closest State/Area Where Established	Reproductive Rate	Adaptability	rew Fredators	Equipment Transport	Fragmentation Within Waters	Live Bait	Water and Wettand Gardens	Aquarium and Pet Trade Education & Research Supply	liegal Introduction	Seafood Import/Sale	Aquaculture Practices	Marine Vessels Natural (primary source)		Displace similar species	District Ecod Chain	Change Habitat/Biolic Communities	Change Water Quality	Clog Water Intake	Impair Recreation	Impair Rec. Fishing	Impair Comm. Fin & Shelftish	Development of the Development o		Likelihood of ME Introduction	Likelihood of Spreading	Biological Vigor	Biological Impacts	Social & Economic Impacts	Management Difficulty	Management Cost		REFERENCE
FRESHWATER P						18				Т						Ĩ.			1						-		-		-		<u> </u>	-		ġ.	
Prevention and Era	dication															iii		-								-1						\neg		<u>й</u> -	
AQUATIC MACROPHYTES;		200		9														T								間				\neg				斷	
Myriophyllum spicatum	milfoll, Eurasian		MA, VT	ЦX	X		X	X	;	x :	x						x	$\langle \rangle$	(x	X		x	x		Τ		н		н	н	н	н		討	4, 9, 10
Myriophyllum heterophyllum	milfoil, variable	X		X	x	?	X	X		X	x						XI	2 7	v x	x		x	x		T	間		н						612	4, 10
Myriophyllum aquaticum	parrot feather		MA	X	х		X	X		X	x						x)	<	2	X		x	x			偂	L		м		м		\square		4, 10
Egeria densa	elodea, Brazilian		NH	<u>x</u>	х		X	Х			хx	:					x)	<	?	X		X	x		╧		м				Н			2.5	4, 10
Hydrilla verticillata	hydrilla		MA	X	x	1	x	x		X	x						x)	(7	X	X	x	x	x				м			1	н			100	4, 7, 9, 10
Cabomba caroliniana	fanwort		NH, Qu	X	?		X	X			?						x)	$\langle $		X		x	x			B	м			1	н			125.4	4, 10
Trapa natans	water chestnut		NH	<u>x</u>	х		X	х									x)	<	X	-		x	x		T		м			н	Н			31.	4, 9, 10
Potamogeton crispus	curly leaf pond weed		NH	<u>x</u>	?		x	X									x)	<	X	X		x			Т		м				м				4, 10
Najas minor	nalad, European		VT, NH?	<u>x</u>	X	x	X	Х)	<	T	X		x	x				L		L		м	н		1430	3, 4, 5, 6, 10
Hydrocharis morus-ranae	frog-bit, European		<u>v</u>	X	?		х	x)	<	X	X		x	x		Τ		М		м		L	Н		81.4	1, 2, 10
Nymphoides peltata	yellow floating-heart		MA	<u>x 10</u>	х	_ľ	X	x			х					1)	<	1	X		X	x			Ĩ	м			н	м			10. C	4, 10
Selective Control/Impact																																			
No Action At Thi		<u> </u>			┝─┞-					\downarrow							_			ļ			_	_											
Salvinia molesta	glant salvinia	-		<u> </u>	$\left - \right $	-8			_	+					_	8	+			ŀ					-					┝──┤	<u> </u>		ļ		8, 10
L	L	123		4	L	E		_ 1				1		L		ŝ.		Ŀ			L														

Note: the table title is labled "species" for convenience; it includes other organisms, too.

.

	· ·	oc	CURRENCE	N N	BIC /IGC) DR				PA	атни	WAY	/S					OLOO MPA			soc	IO-E		NON	MIC			SESS							
LATIN NAME FRESHWATER		Established in Maine	Or Closest State/Area Where Established	Reproductive Rate		ors	sport	Fragmentation Within Waters		ន	Aquanum and Pet Trade Education & Research Supply		e	Aquaculture Practices	Marine Vessels	n	8				Clog Water Intake			Impair Comm. Fin & Shellfish	Public Health		Б	oreading			Impacts			E Contraction of the second	REFERENCE
Prevention and Era	id]cation									+	_	-							+-			$\left - \right $					_	-+	-+					10 10	
FISH:		8 <u> </u>	ļ	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				_																	Ø		1	-	-+					
	goldfish	X		<u>×</u>			<u>]</u>		x	<u>×</u>]>	<u>x x</u>	X				_0			x x	-			x					н	н	н	н	н		1	15
Scardinius erythrophthalmus	common carp	X		<u>x</u>		X				쓰	x x		-	_	<u>x ></u>	く関	_		x x	<u>(x</u>	<u> </u>		x					н	н	н	н	н		1	14, 15
	rudd black crappie	X X		X X					×		+-	×					×	×	_	1	<u> </u>					8		н	н	н	н	н			14, 15
	round goby								+	+		X	$\left - \right $			_8	×	>	×	ļ			x			<u>U</u> _		н	н	н	L	м		1	4. 15
	Eurasian rulfe			1.0	X						+-					-84	×						x			盟-	н		H	н	н	н		<u>1</u>	3, 15
	muskellunge	X	Great Lakes	×		x	<u> </u>		+		+-	-	$\left - \right $			_8	শ		+				_			8	н		н	н	н	н		1	2, 15
	bluegill	<u>^</u> X	NH	····		X				+		X	$\left - \right $	-			X				ļ		x	_	1	劉_	_					н		1	4, 15
· · · ·	central mudminnow	× ×			$\frac{x}{x}$			X	+	×	- <u> </u>	┨	$\left - \right $			4	X	1	<u>× </u>							閖.	_	_	н	н	H	н		<u>1</u>	4, 15
	white catfish	X		<u>^</u>	┝				x	+	+-	+		-+-		-8	_		×	<u>-</u>		┝──┼				W -			?	니	L	н		1	5, 16
	gizzard shad	X		8 	┢─				쒸			X	┝─┥		x x	<u>_</u>	X	<u>× </u> -			–	\vdash				II		н	?	?	니	н	$\mid \mid$	<u>1</u>	6
	pike, walleye			X	┢					+	+-	x		-+			x	?)		+		\vdash	?		+	<u>U</u>	н		н	+	н	н	\vdash	- -	
Selective Control/Impact										1	1	Ĺ				Ĩ		Ť					1						-		-	H			5, 16
				<u> </u>	<u> </u>											4				-														J.	
	bass, smallmouth	X		<u>X X</u>	X				_			X				1.1		<u>x </u> >		:			×					н	н	н	L	L	Î	1	4, 15
	pike, northern	X			X	X			-			X			_	_8_	<u>× </u> :	x)	<u>(</u>				x			Ø.		н	н	н	н	н		1	5
Micropterus salmoides	bass, largemouth	x		Y	x				+			x	$\left - \right $		+	-8						-						-+-	\rightarrow	+					
	perch, yellow	Â		x	Ŷ				x	+		+^	$\left \cdot \right $					x > x >		+			x x		+			н			<u> </u>	L		22	4, 15
1	perch, white	X		X	x				â†	+	+-	x	┞╌╢		+-			x) x)		+			× x	+		8		Н				M H			<u>4, 15</u> 1, 15
	-	<u> </u>		2							T					Ĩ.		Ť						1	\uparrow	đ	1		╨┼	4	쒸	쒸			1, 15
No Action At This	Time	§		<u></u>				_		\perp	\perp				T			T								12		1		-	1				
None at this time			,	§			-	_		\perp							\bot						Τ			K					1			1	
L		<u>N</u>		1							1					0										Ŋ	Τ		T	T		1		NT-	

		oco	CURRENCE	v	BIO IGO	R			` F	РАТН	IWA	YS			E	BIOI L IM		GICA CTS	S				\$		A	SSE	SSM	IEN'	T CF		BIA		
LATIN NAME	COMMON NAME	Established in Maine	Or Closest State/Area Where Established	Reproductive Rate		Few Predators	sport	Fragmentation Within Waters	Water and Wetland Gardens	Aquarium and Pet Trade	Education & Research Supply Illegal Introduction	Seafood Import/Sale	Aquaculture Practices	Marine Vessels Natural (orimary source)		ecies	Decrease Uiversity	nmunities			eation	Impair Rec. Fishing	Degrade Coastal Infrastructure	Public Health	l itelihood of ME Introduction			र्ध	Impacts			P	REFERENCE
OTHER FRESHWATER	the INFORMATION OF THE ADDRESS OF THE PARTY	<u> </u>		<u>k</u>																					1								
Prevention and Era	dication .			8—			Į					\perp	\downarrow		Ŋ.								·		<u> []</u>							×.	
ANIMALS				<u></u>		6			+-						<u> </u>			_															
MOLLUSCS:				<u> </u>	$ \cdot $					$\left \cdot \right $			_↓			_		-	ļ				_	_	<u> []</u>	<u> </u>	1						
Corbicula fluminea	Aslan clam		СТ	<u> </u>	$\left - \right $		<u> </u>			X		X	X				x x			X	_		_	 	ŀ	<u>ч</u>	L	м		н		2	1, 22
Dreissena polymorpha	zebra mussel		СТ, VT	<u>x</u>	X	X		×		$\left - \right $				<u>×</u>			<u>× ×</u>	(X	X	X				<u> </u>	<u>+</u>		<u> н</u>	н	н	+		2	0
	Chinese mystery snall	X		<u>×</u>	х	X				X			\vdash		<u> </u>	x :	x x	<u>(x</u>			_			X	<u>∦</u> ⊦	<u> </u>	н	М	М	н		2	4
Cipangopaludina japonica	see C. chivesis			8 <u>—</u>				_		\square							_ _	-				·	ŀ	 	<u> </u>			4				<u> </u>	
				<u> </u>	\vdash						_		-	·	<u>-</u> M_	_							_	_	<u> </u>	_	 	ļ				88. -	
CRUSTACEANS:				<u> </u>	$\left \right $	- 6				$\left \cdot \right $					<u>-</u>]]-								+		<u> 8</u> _					ļ			
Orconectes rusticus	rusty crayfish	<u>×</u>		<u>×</u>		X					x						? 7			?	?		_		調	н	Н	L	н			60. 	3, 26, 27
Orconectes obscurus	Allegheny crayfish	X		<u>×</u>		X			+	┞╌┠	_		$\left - \right $		-6-		? ?	2	$\left - \right $?					<u> </u>	н	<u> н</u>	-	н	ļ			6, 27
Orconectes clarkil	Red Swamp crayfish	X X		<u>×</u>		<u>x</u>			+-	┝╌┼			$\left - \right $		-14		?								<u> </u>	м	М					2	6, 27
Procambarus acutus Mysis relicta	White River crayfish	X		<u>×</u>		X	X X	_		$\left \cdot \right $	+		┢─┼		-N-		? X	(X		X	×				<u> </u>	H	н					<u>_</u> 2	6, 27
	opossum shrimp	1.3		Ŋ	┝╼┤	X H	2			┢╌┟╴			┝╌┼				×					×		·	<u>8</u> _	_	M	н	н	<u> H</u>		1	
Bythotrephes cederstoemi	waterflea, fishhook	603	Great Lakes	N	$\left - \right $			x		++			$\left \right $		4		<u>? x</u>		_			<u>×</u>			8—				<u> </u>			2	
Bymotrephes cederstoemi	waterflea, spiny		Great Lakes	12	\vdash	X	X	<u>x</u> .		+					賢 -		<u>? x</u>	<u>(</u>			\rightarrow	×			8				 	ļ	į	2	3
FISH PATHOGENS:		<u> </u>		<u></u>	$\left - \right $					+												_			<u> </u>		<u> </u>	ļ		ļ		<u> </u>	
															4	+	_		$\left - \right $						<u>[]</u>	<u> </u>				ļ			
Proteocephalus ambloplitis	bass tapeworm	X		X	x		1	×	+	┢╌┝	_				-[]-	_	×	(<mark>x</mark>				×	_	<u> </u>	図上	ЦН	н					<u>麗1</u>	9
Myxobolus cerebralis	whirling disease	N	RI	<u>8</u> —	-			×							A						_	<u>×</u>			<u> []</u>		M	н	н	н		1	7, 18, 19
Selective Control/impact											_		\vdash		<u>-</u> A-							_			8—			ļ			·	<u> </u>	
	management	<u> </u>		ы М	┝──╁		8 N						┝╌┼		<u>N</u>		<u>-</u>						+	 	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	ļ		ļ		<u> </u>	
None at this time	·	<u>8</u>		<u> </u>	┝					┝╌┞	_					+	_		$\left - \right $					 			 	<u> </u>		<u> </u>			
No Action Al Thi	TIME	<u>8</u>		開						$\left - \right $		+	$\left - \right $		-										<u> </u>					 			
CRUSTACEA:	P.4.1110-1120-2010-2010-2010-2010-2010-2010	20 - I		1	-		<u> -</u>		+	┼─┼			┝╌┝			+	+		$\left - \right $					+ ·	4							<u> </u>	
Daphnia lumholtzi	daphnia .	個	Great Lakes	8		×		×		$\left - \right $	+		\vdash			ᅷ		-	$\left - \right $. -			闘					_		8 <u>–</u>	·
	ouprina .			1		-1	╊ᡨ	<u> </u>	·	┢╌┠		+	┟──┼			×	×	4_	$\left - \right $			×			<u></u>	+	Тн	<u> н</u>	м	?		2	0
AMPHIBIANS:			· ·		\vdash				+	┼╌┼	+	+	┢┼┤			+		+	$\left - \right $		+	-+-	+	╈	M	+					\vdash		
Cynops pyrrogaster	Japanese fire-bellied salamander		МА			1.102.0				x			\prod					1			\top	· -	\top	\top		+	1	1					<u>.</u>
Nectursus maculosus	mud puppy	x		Ŭ.				-†-		1	x	-	[]				- -	1		Ļ.	-+	x		+-	Ø—	+-	$\frac{1}{1}$	+	1.	н		2	

.

October 10, 2002

	8/4 /// 2/4
	BIO OCCURRENCE VIGOR PATHWAYS LIMPACTS ASSESSMENT OPPERAT
LATIN NAME	American American American American Consert State/Area BODIA Consert State/Area Consert State/Area BODIA Consert State/Area Maine Consert State/Area Consect State/Area Maine Consect State/Area Maine Vescels Maine Consect State/Area Maine Maine Consect State/Area
Freshwater References	
1. Countryman, W.D.	Nulsance Aqualic Plants in Lake Champiain. Lake Champiain Basin Study. October 1978.
2. Heliquist, C.B.	Aquatic Weed Species for Possible Legislation. Department of Blology. North Adams State College, North Adams, MA
3. Crow, G.E and C.B. Heliquist	Aquatic Vascular Plants of New England: Parti. Zosteraceae, Zannichelilaceae, Najadaceae. NH Agricultural Experiment Station, UNH. Station Bulletin 515. January, 1983.
4. Crow, G.E. and C.B. Hellquist	Aquatic and Wetland Plants of Northeastern North America, Vol. 1 and 2. University of Wisconsin Press. Madison, WI. 2000
5. Whitley, James R., et al	Water Plants for Missouri Ponds. Missouri Department of Conservation. Jefferson City, Missouri. 1990.
6. Hotchkiss, Nell	Common Marsh, Underwater and Floating-leaved Plants of the United States and Canada, Dover Publications, New York, 1972
7. Langeland, K.A.	Hyunia veniciliata (L.F.) Hoyle (Hydrocharilaceae, The Perfect Weed, Castanea, 1996, 61:293-304.
8. U.S. Geological Survey	Florida Caribbean Science Center. Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Database. 2001. Http://nas.er.usgs.gov/.
9. New England Wildflower Society	Conservation Notes of the New England Wildflower Society. 1998. Vol. 2(3)
10. Cooke, G.D. and R.E. Carlson	Reservoir Management for Water quality and THM Precursor Control. AWWA Research Foundation and the American Water Works Assoc., DATE?
11. Snyder, Fred L.	Ohlo Sea Grant Fact Sheet 005 (OHSU-FS-005): White Perch. 1991
12. McLean, Mike	Ruffe: A new threat to our fisherles. Minnesota Sea Grant Program. 2001
13. Marsden, Jude and Dillon	Round gobles invade north america. Illinois-Indiana Sea Grant Program. IL4N-SG-95-10.
14. U.S. Geological Survey	Florida Caribbean Science Center. Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Database. 2001. Http://nas.er.usgs.gov/.
15. Fuller, Nico and Williams	Nonindigenous Fishes: Introduced Into Inland Waters of the United States. 1999.
16. IF&W biologists	Personal Communication
17. Markiw, Maria E.	Salmonid Whirling Disease. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Leallet 17, 1992, p. 2.
18. Marlowe, Al and Hugh Gardner	Whirling Disease In the Rockles. Rocky Mountain Streamside, Spring 1995, p. 17.
19. Mallhews, Jim	Chasing Our Tails. Trout. Spring 1995.
20. U.S. Geological Survey	Florida Caribbean Science Center. Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Database. 2002. Http://nas.er.usgs.gov/.
21. Counts, C.L., III	The Zoogeography and History of the Invasion of the United States by Corbicula Ituminia. American Malacological Bulletin, Special Edition No. 2:1986, pp.7-39.
22. Williams, J.D.	Conservation status of freshwater mussels: Families Margaritiferidae and Unionidae. Journal of Shellfish Research. 1997. 16(1):327.
23. Minnesota Sea Grant	Exolic Species Database. 2002. Http://www.seagrant.umn.edu/exotics/spiny.html
24. Aguirre, W. and S.G. Poss	Non-Indigenous Species of the Gulf of Mexico Ecosystem Data Base, U. of So. Mississioni, Coll. of Marine Sciences, 2000, http://www.it.htm
25. M. Hunter et al	
26. Reld, W.F. and M. Scott 27. M. Scott	Appendix M: Craylish In Malne. In: Biological Diversity In Malne, Malne Natural Areas Program. January 1996
21. 10, 0001	Key and Taxonomic Identification of Maine Craylish, December 2000.

.

		oco		v	BIC))R				PAT	гни		s					.OGI PAC		so			CTS		IC					·				
						1 2	NACES I	Fragmentation Within Waters	Urve Bait Water and Wettand Gamlans	_	<u>≥</u>			Practices	ry source)	Se			nttes	er Quality		T		Degrade Coastal Infrastructure		Likelihood of ME Introduction				1		RIA Cost		
	COMMON NAME	Established in Maine	Or Closest State/Area Where Established	Reproductive Rate	Adaptability	Few Predators	Equipment Transport	Fragmentation	Water and Wo	water and wetrand caroer Aquantum and Pet Trade	Education & F	Illegal Introduction	Seafood Import/Sale	Aquaculture Practices	Matural (primary source)	Displace similar speci	Decrease Diversity	Disrupt Food Chain	Change Habital/E	Change Water Quality	Liog water Intake Imnair Becreation	Impair Rec Fishing	Impair Comm.	Degrade Coast	Public Health	Likelihood of A	Likelihood of Spreading	Biological Vigor	Biological Impacts	Social & Economic Impacts	Management Difficulty	Management Cost	REFEI	BENCE
WETLAND PLANTS &	and the second se			1		int and	34.2																										9	
	dication	ē		1 	-		1000			_								_															1	
ANIMALS: REPTILIA:		<u> </u>		8 <u>-</u>	┼					+-		ŀ		_		<u> </u>	+-					-				8 <u>—</u>	_				L		Ŋ	
	red eared slider turtle	x	MA			x				$\frac{1}{2}$	┼	$\left - \right $					-					-	+	·		ÿ		ļ					¥	
Trachenty's scrypta elegans	red eared sider turke			<u> </u>	┝		-			- ×						<u>×</u>	-	+		_			+-		X	M		L	L	L	М		1, 10	
AVES:				¥—	+					+-		$\left - \right $			+-	Ŋ	+-	+													····		<u>a</u>	
	mule swan	x		-	x		-			12		trad		-+-	+	×	1.		x			+-		╂			+		<u> </u>				4	<u> </u>
	indio origin			1	†^			\vdash		+			-	-		<u>-</u>	X	¥—	수	+		╈				<u> </u>	M	M	н	М	м		<u>11</u>	
PLANTS:*					-		2002				1-	$\left \right $				8 <u>—</u>	+	+				┿	+			3 2							H	
						Ľ			+	-	+					8 <u></u>	╈	+			+	┽	+-					-	<u> </u>				<u>}</u>	
Glyceria maxima	English water grass.		MA														Τ									3	1							
Microstegium vimineum	Japanese stiltgrass		СТ	1												Š.						Τ					1	н	н		н		12	
Selective Control/Impact									_	+	$\left \right $			_				+		_		-	-	-										
	European common ree	1.5		<u>x</u>		X										X			х		X	(-		.н	н	L	н		12	
	purple loosestrife	X		<u>x</u>		<u>x</u>			<u>></u>							X			х							<u>.</u>		н	н	м	н		12	
	garlic mustard	X		<u>x</u>	X					1						<u>×</u>	_		х								н	н	н		н		12	
	glossy buckthorn	X	· .	<u>g</u>	ļ								·	\perp		ě	×	<u> </u>	X							<u>)</u> -	н	н	н	L	Н		13	
Polygonum cuspidatum	Japanese knotweed	<u>×</u>		<u> </u>	X						ļ				_	9 —	_	<u> </u>				_					н	н	н		н		12	
	s Time									\pm								-			+		-				-	-		•				
MAMMALS:				<u></u>						\perp					·											1							1	
Myocaster coypus	nutria		NY	<u>x</u>	ļ				-							X			X							L		L	н	м	м		6, 8, 9	
DI ANITO	······	1		2			<u></u>	\vdash		+-		┣			+	<u> </u>	+	–		-		+	- I -			<u> </u>			 				4	
PLANTS: Aegopodium podagraria	goutweed	x		1 1				\vdash		+		┟──┤	\rightarrow				+-	+		-	- 	+			 	<u>-</u>		 					<u></u>	
	false Indigo	X		1				\vdash		+	┼─	┼─┤			+		+		-	_			+			ä	 						N	
	flowering rush	X		-	-			\vdash		+-	+		-+	+	+	<u>9</u> —	+		\vdash			+-	+	+	\vdash	SI							ğ	
Iris pseudocorus	vellow iris	X		-	┢──				+	+-	+	$\left - \right $				<u> </u>	╋	+	-				+			9 							2, 3, 4	
	watercress	Â		1	+				+	+	+	$\left \right $		-+	+	9—	+	+	\vdash	+		+-				-	+						<u> </u>	

D-6

	BIO BIOLOGICA SOCIO-ECONOMIC
-	OCCURRENCE VIGOR PATHWAYS L IMPACTS IMPACTS ASSESSMENT CRITERIA
LATIN NAME	tablished in Maine tablished in Maine Closest State/Area are Established accurre Established accurre Rate aptability w Predators w Predato
Wetland References:	
1. Hunter, Calhoun & McCollough	Amphiblans and Repulles of Maine. DATE?
2. Hotchkiss, Nell	Common Marsh, Underwater and Floating-leaved Plants of the United States and Canada. 1972.
3. Larson, Gary E.	Aquatic and Wetland Vascular Plants of the Norther Great Plains. Gen. Tech.Rep.RM-238, USDA Forest Service. Ft. Collins, CO. 1993
4. Countryman, W,D.	Nulsance Aquatic Plants in Lake Champlain. Lake Champlain Basin Study. October 1978.
5. Hellquist, C.B.	Aquatic Weed Species for Possible Legislation. Department of Biology. North Adams State College, North Adams, MA
6. Trillin, C.	The nutria problem. Atlantic Monthly 275(2):30-32;40-42.
7. Mehrhoff, Les.	New England Invasive Plant Allas. Aug24,2000.
8. Gosling, L.M.	Towards an eradication plan for nutria in Maryland: A report to the Maryland Department of Natural Resources. Institute of Zoology, Zoological Society of London.
9. U.S.EPA	Nutria Marsh Damage Reduction: Pre-Decisional Environmental Assessment. March 2001.
10. Aguirre, W. and S.G. Poss	Non-Indigenous Species of the Guilt of Mexico Ecosystem Data Base. U. of So. Mississippi, Coll. of Marine Sciences. 2000. http://ilonfish.ims.usm.edu/~musweb/nis/Myocastor_coppus.html.
	New England Wildlife Habitat, Natural History and Distribution. 2001.
12. Weaterbee, P.B. et al	A guide to invasive plants in Massachusetts. Massachusetts Division of Fish and Wildlife, 1999.
13. NE Wildlower Society	Invaders. Conservation Notes of the New England Wild/lower Society. 1998. Vol. 2(3).
 Note: Lepidium latifolium (pepperweed) 	and Polygonum perfoliatum (mile-a-minute vine) are invasive terrestrial plants that frequent upland shoreland and/or saltwater marsh areas.
	entropent opent opent opent analytic sativater marsh areas.

Note: the table title is labled "species" for convenience; it includes other organisms, too.

October 10, 2002

		oco	CURRENCE	v	bio Igof	A R				PA	тнм		s			BI	IOL IMF	OGI PAC	CA TS	soc	CIO-E	ECO		NIC	A	SSE	ESSI	MEI		CRII	FFF		1	٦
LATIN NAME	COMMON NAME	Established in Maine	Or Closest State/Area Where Established	Reproductive Rate	Adaptability	rew Fredators	Equipment Transport	Fragmentation Within Waters	Live Bait Water and Wetland Gamon	Adrianism and Pet Trade	Education & Research Supply	Illegal Introduction	Seafood Import/Sale	Aquaculture Practices	Natural (primary source)	se se	Τ		unities	Cloq Water Intake	Π		Decrete Comm. Fin & Sheinsn	Public Health		g	Likelinood of Spreading			acts	Τ		REFERE	
MARINE ORGAN																						-		1	调				≝	<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>		
Selective Control/Impac	t Management	曜									,												ľ			Τ						252	1	
ANIMALS				ģ		_																			K_									
CRUSTACEA:		8		<u> </u>		_										<u>ä</u>				_]	
Eriocheir sinensis	Chinese mitten crab		Europe	<u>X</u>			X						X		x x	<u> x</u>			?				x >	<u>(x</u>		?		. 1	н	н	T		11	
Hemigrapsus sanguineus	Asian shore crab	X		<u> </u>		X	X								x x	<u>x</u>	?	X	?				?		1	- н	I F	1 1	н	F	1	н	1, 6, 7	
Carcinus maenas	European green crab	X		<u> </u>	x		X			_			X	;	<u>x</u>	×	-	×					×	_			ŀ	1 1	н	н	н		5	
ECTOPROCTA:		Ŭ.		0						+							+	+-		+				+-	10-		+-		+	_	+		1	
Membranipora membranacea	lace bryozoan	X	MA		x	x	x	x						;	x x	X	x	x	x				+		0	1	4 N	1 1	н	н	1		8, 9	
		8			┝╌┼	-8				+						§	_			_				4	<u>N</u> _			_	_					
MOLLUSCS;	Desilies			<u>ğ</u>	$\left \right $		$\left - \right $	\vdash		2 2						10 	-						-	- 	8_						_		Į	
Crassostrea gigas	Pacific oyster		CA	<u> </u>	X X				-1	7 7					x x	<u> x</u>	·				$\left \right $		×			- ⊻		<u>-</u>			L		12	
Rapana venosa	veined rapa whelk		VA	X	<u> ^</u> -			X							< X	1 —	-	×					×			MM	<u> </u>	_ <u> </u> !	_	<u>н </u>	_		4	
Toredo navalis	shipworm	X	MA	6 —	┝╌┼										x x		+	-			X			4	ľ	? -	_		_	<u>M I</u>	н		3	
ALGAE				<u>1</u>						1				-			\top			\top			\uparrow	+		+		╈	-		+			
CHLOROPHYTA: green algae			•								ŀ						1.	1					-	1	iii	+		+	+		+		1	
Codlum fragile tomentosoides	dead man's fingers	X		N <u>I</u>		X								:	xх	X		1	x :	<u>را</u>			x	1	ġ.	- н		╈			н			
RHODOPHYTA: red algae							2							ľ				Ι					\top		1	1				-+'	Ť			
Porphyra yezoensis	nori	X			x				_	X	(x	X	?	_			1			-		Į.	- 1		-					ļ	
CHORDATA:					╞╌╂		$\left \right $	\vdash	╉	+			\vdash	-		ģ		+			$\left \right $	-	╉		-		+-		-+-				<u></u>	
Ascidians:				N					1	+	1						+	1		-1-	+		+	+-					-+-		+		10	-
Ascidiella aspersa	tunicate		NE	Ŭ.				\vdash							X	x	+	\uparrow	?	+-		-+-	╡,	1		-			+		-+		10	-
Botrylloides violaceous	tunicate	X							-					1	x	X		\uparrow	?		\square	-	Ť		M -	-	+	+			-+-	E	1	
Botryllus schlosseri	tunicate		MA	Ø											X	X		\uparrow	?	+			5					╈	+		+	.—	1	
Diplosoma listerianum	tunicate		MA			E.S.									Τ <u>x</u>	X		\uparrow	?	+	+-	+	1,		1	+	+-	-	+	-	-+			
Styela dava .	tunicate	X													X	X	-	1	?	1-			Ť,		Ň.			+-	+		-+-		 	
Stylea canopus	tunicate		MA	li i		-ii				\top						X		1-	?	-			Ť		8	+		+	+				į	
				N		- 22	ì								Ť	ă Â				\pm		· ·	ť	`		+					╉	-		

October	10,	2002
---------	-----	------

		BIO BIOLOGICA SOCIO-ECONOMIC OCCURRENCE VIGOR PATHWAYS L IMPACTS IMPACTS ASSESSMENT CRITERIA																													
					ΠŤ	-8	<u>├</u>	5		A		<u>15</u>			L L				—	IMF						<u>SSM</u>	<u>IENT</u>	T T	ITEP	<u>IIA</u>	
LATIN NAME	COMMON NAME	Established in Maine	Or Closest State/Area Where Established	Reproductive Rate	Adaptability	Few Predators	Equipment Transport	Fragmentation Within Waters Live Bait	Water and Wetland Gardens	Aquarium and Pet Trade	Education & Research Supply Illegal Introduction	Seafood Import/Sale	Aquaculture Practices	Natural (primary source)	Displace similar species	Decrease Diversity	Disrupt Food Chain	Change Habitat/Biotic Communities	Clog Water Intake	Impair Recreation	Impair Rec. Fishing	Impair Comm. Fin & Shelffish Deorade Coastal Infrastructure	Public Health	l itelihood of ME Introduction	Likelihood of Snreadinn	Biological Vigor	Biological Impacts	Social & Economic Impacts	Management Difficulty	Management Cost	
Selective Control or Impa	ct Management	2										. 0	<u> </u>					00	10	1		튀으	a	賢	1 -	i m		٥ آ	2	<u>∑</u> ∦	REFERENC
MARINE PATHOGENS;				1			·		+-1		+	+-+		+		+			+	$\left - \right $	-+-	- <u> </u> -	+	揭—		+-	+'	┝╂			
SHELLFISH ::		ĝ –	1	3		-0	-		+			+-+		+		+			+	$\left - \right $		+-	+	8 -		+	+'	$ \rightarrow $			·
Perkinsus marinus	Dermo oyster disease	x	1			-13			+-+		-+-	+-+	x	$\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle$		+			+		-+	.+ -		掇		+	+	┝──┦		_8	
Quahog Parasite Unknown	QPX	x		1			itt		+		+-		x i		-		+		+			×		讀		<u> H</u>		┝──╁	н	_	13
Haplosporidian costalis	sso	2	MA			-0			┼╌┦		+-	+-+	x ,		Ø—							X		- -	-	H		┟──┤	н		14
Haplosporidian nelsonl	MSX (oyst. disease)	×		3	r-+-	-8				\vdash			χ,		<u> </u>					$\left - \right $		×	+	<u>N</u>	<u>1</u>		м	\vdash	н	_Ę	
	juvenile oyst. disease	x	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		r+	一間			+		+	+	$\hat{+}$	Ϋ́λ	<u> </u>		$\left - \right $		+	$\left - \right $	÷	×		<u> []</u>		Н	м		н		
SALMON:							-+-		+-+			+-+			-		┼─┤		+	┢╌╢	\rightarrow	+-		肾		-	<u> </u> !	┝──╂			<u>.</u>
	infectious salmon				† -	-13	-+-				+-	+-+	-+-			+	$\left - \right $					+-		閼			₋┦				
Orthomyxovirus	anemia virus	X			x		x					x	x >	(x							x	x		0.		1	н	н	м		15
Ricketsia	?	<u> </u>	Chile							\square		X)		1		\square					x		ΠL		1	н		н	一阕	15
Neoparamoeba pemaquidensis?	paramoebic gill disease		Nova Scotia									X)	(X		-	\square					x		2			н				
No Action At This	e Time														_							-				+			-+		
Callinectes sapidus	blue crab	X			x		x						>	(X	X	T	X						1	li –	x	1			н	-17	
Marine References:	-																			4				A174	<u></u>		ليستعل				
1. McQuiston, John	Tiny Invader Becomes a Bul	lly in Lo	xal Waters. Th	e Nev	w Yorl	k Tim	ies:Ju	ne10,	2001											·										<u></u>	
3. Abood, K.A. et al	The teredos are coming! Pro	oceedin	igs of the Com	mittee	on P	'orts a	and H	arbors	s of It	he Wa	tervili	ie Oce	an En	gineer	ing D	ivisio	on/AS	SCE. T	amna	FL.	119		677-								
4. Raloff, Janet	Food for thought: Fisheries t	Don't W	Velcome This V	Vhelk.	. Scle	ence l	News:	:Oct9.	99.													199.					********				
5. Pimental, D. et al	Environmental and Economi	c Costs	s Associated w	ith Inv	/asive	Spe	cles lr	n lhe l	Julter	d State	es. Cr	ornell	Unive	sity Ne	ews r	eleas	se. Ji	an99.								·······					
6. Williams, A.B. and J.J. McDermott 7. Blake, Andrew	An Eastern United States re Small Crabs May Pose Big 1	cord to	r the Western I	ndo-P	aclflc	: Crat	o, Her	nigrap	ISUS !	snagul	ineus	(Crus	lacea	: Deca	poda:	:Gra	pskla	ie). Pr	00000	lings	of the	a Biol	ogica	I Soci	ety of	Was	hingte	n. 19	90. 1(03@1	108-109.
	Cinal Class may 1 038 Dig 1	inicai.	THE DUSION G	ODB. N	May 21	0,20	101. N	ionn v	Veek	<u>y p.7.</u>			_																		
	Recent Invaders Alter the Ke	50 560		I NOVA	a 500	<u>Ma. P</u>	reser	nation	to th	ie Inter	rnatio	onal C	onfere	nce or	n Mar	rine E	Biolny	asion	s. Nev	w Orl	eans,	L.A.	2001	·	~~~						
	Changing community states Geographical Distributions a	nd Ora	anism-Hahitat	ynerg Assor	jism b dation	Dewte	en Inv Shall-	vaders	i, OVE	<u>irrishin</u>	ig and	<u>d clima</u> Aoriac	ale ch	ange, l	Biolog	gical	Inva	sions.	2001	. 3:9-	21.						**				
	Geographical Distributions a Aquatic Invasive Species: A	Guide	to Least Want	ed An	ualic (Orga	nisms	of the	a Par	tifle Me	ver M	Alline oct: M	SGM	9 00 0	W EN	igian	IU. J.	reder	son (e	90.) N	narine	i Bioli	ivasi	ons: F	roce	ading	s of th	ie firs	I Natk	onal C	onference, 199
12. Estrella, B.T. and R.P. Glenn	Massachusetts Coastal Lob	setr Tra	ap Samplino Pr	ogram	n Mav	-Nov	emho	r. 100	9. M/		slop o	f Mart	DO EIO	n uu-u	Dub"	101. I	opp.			000										<u>-</u>	
13. Ford, S.E.	Range extension by the oyst	ter pare	liste Perkininsu	is mar	rinus I	Into #	he no	dheas	tern !	United	Slat	- mail		101185	imate	n cho		1. 1845	0-28-	-208.	2000	·					·	<u> </u>			
14. Ragone el al	EM Occurrence of QPX, quo	shog pa	arasite unknow	n in Vi	iroloal	l harr	1 olar	the Ma			Jiale	<u></u>	POINS				anye	Jour	Id DI	Snel	IISN F	15. 19	96. 1	5:45-	56.						
									rcens.																						

Т

ÊH

Appendix E: Sample Fact Sheet (see next page)

E-1

AQUATIC INVASIVE SPECIES DRAFT FACT SHFFT

Maine Department of Inland Fisheries & Wildlife June 2002

COMMON CARP (CYPRINUS CARPIO)



Maine Pathense

en at Sm

ш N

INTREME

Carp are the largest members of the minnow family. They are heavy bodied fish and are usually broaze colored with large scales, each with a dark spot at the base. Their dorsal fin is long, containing one servited spine in the front of the fin and more than 16 soft rays. They have two barbels on each side of the upper law. Native to Asia common carp was first introduced into this country from Europe in 1876, and has since spread from coast to coast. They are widely distributed in many states, but have only been found in a few coastal rivers and isolated lakes in Maine - Carp tolerate most aquate habitan; but profer warm streams or lakes with moddy bottoms where they feed primarily on plantees.

October 10, 2002

n i si s Most anglers consider carp a masance because of their mod-bottom fording habits and sendency to uprost plans while feeding. Feeding carp create considerable turbulence, which results in muddy water. Thus, their feeding areas are unsuitable for more popular sport fish. However, some people fish specifically for carp, which is understandable considering the sporty size some of these fish attain (over 50 pounds). Bow and arrow anglers also take them In many parts of the world carp are considered a valuable human food resource. They have yet to acquire that reputation in the United States, and it is generally agreed that introduction of carp was a serious mistake. The carp story is an excellent example of the extreme care that must be exercised when one is tempted to fimprove, upon the natural distribution of aninai speces: an sa ka

inserts, and aquatic plants. Spawning in late spring, they broadcast their small, adhesive eggs in shallow, weedy water.

Chronnege Course Maine revers and a lew isolated inland where

Carp are very provide: with a same to famale capable of producing millions of eggs each sering. Carp o grow to over 20 the suid can also for 20 years. They must by adapt to a variety of holitant. Carp commissions but any average of plants and <u>seconds</u>.

Carp where delay nally stocked by inderal distorties measures but many clarently spread as best, presidential lither, research animolis, through illegal introductions, in haltest water, and menually by progression. Dama on Mame rivers have prevented Carp from spreading inland in many locations.

Carp are detrimented to native fish and waterflowt populations because they ascrease the water's timbedity. a structure and destroy submer sed squark, vegetative data is essential for the surveyal of marrier species. ("For Corp are likely need for other previously manage")

Socie-economical Some people cut carp, and some angless target carp, however, largets there introdu Impacts: a missile. Carp three in complife witers ...

Overall the Electification camp spreading in Minne is high. They are very adaptedet, highly formed, for lived, size the lighter to their schemage, and are currently impossible to remove from a set completely depopulating it of all fish species () and the species (

Fuller, Nice and Williams 1999. Noninstleamous Fiches: Introduced min Inland Waters of the United **HERR** Since

Writign by: Dr. Russell Danner, Manie Department of Island Fisheries and Wildlife, June 13, 2002

Appendix F: Response to Public Comments

This memorandum presents a summary of the oral and written comments that the Task Force received on the invasive aquatic species action plan. During the month of August, 2002, the Task Force held four meetings around the state, and accepted written comments on the plan.

Attendance at these meetings was sparse; 15 people in Presque Isle (including 2 task force members/ 13 public); 12 in Augusta (3 task force members/6 members of public/2 press/Holly); 18 in Brewer (1 task force member/14 public/3 press); and 27 in Naples (1 task force member/26 public).

The Task Force received 29 written comments from 14 individuals (I), 7 organizations (O), and personnel from three agencies who did not necessarily represent agency policy (DIFW, DEP, and DAFRR). A "C" after DIFW represents the commissioner who shared most of his comments orally with John.

Task Force responses to the comments are indicated below in bold italics. Responses relating to comments for which no change was recommended directly follow the relevant comment. Where plan changes were made, responses are indented below the summarized comment:

GENERAL

- 1. Plan is well written and comprehensive. Good job in identifying many relevant species issues and articulating a clear plan of work. (30,DAFRR, 5I)
- 2. DIFW and DEP deserve praise for efforts to educate citizens about invasive species. Education is the right approach, along with a solid action plan of response for infestations. (O) Place priority on enforcement in problem areas of state rather than blanketing everywhere, then follow-up with specific education(I).
- 3. Adopt what is most beneficial for all concerned -- education is a good start because of all those who unwittingly do the improper thing(DIFW).
- 4. Despite positive aspects, plan feels like a group of people sitting in the kitchen discussing plans for a new fire station while the house is on fire(I); Maine's "toughest laws in the nation" are a joke when not

enforced with high profile prosecutions(I). Act (adopt plan) while there's still a chance to proceed(I). State should concentrate more on being environmentally appropriate than on politically correct(I). The DEP is not hearing the public. The public is demanding rapid, proactive action, creative solutions and empowerment at the local level. Regulatory authority needs to be shifted to the towns. DEP isn't doing enough and doesn't have the political will to address the invasive plant problem (Naples); and same for DIFW with regard to invasive fish(O,I+).

- 5. Plan is too plant-oriented(I). Plan should focus just on plants/Plan must address all invasive aquatic species to be eligible for federal funds (Naples/DEP). Need to strengthen emphasis on controlling introductions of fish(O, DIFW, I); plan is woefully inadequate to task of dealing with fish and inaccurate in information presented (for decades, Maine has ignored steady spread of exotic invasive fish and sportsmen and women are exceedingly frustrated(O,I). Pleased to see freshwater invertebrates and fish in plan(I,O); the threat to Maine's wild salmonid resource cannot be exaggerated; expand related measures outlined in the plan(O). Insert "plant and animal" in several locations where Maine's intention to address "invasive aquatic species" is referenced and insert several references acknowledging that limited resources deter/may deter state's ability to respond (DIFW-C). Place more emphasis on Eurasion milfoil and zebra mussels rather than variable milfoil that we should counter by natural and other means(O).
- 6. Marine invasives component should be eliminated so as not to dilute the mission and effectiveness of freshwater program(DEP). Pleased to see marine issues addressed(I,O).
- 7. Consensus was decided at Presque Isle meeting that efforts are worthwhile and state should continue with trying to eradicate variable milfoil.
 - <u>Response</u>: General response to the plan was largely positive, with most criticism was leveled at the state for not being rapid, proactive, and creative enough, especially in regard to enforcement and inattention to fish. Also, some general concern was expressed about how resources are being/will be allocated.

The task force responded to these criticisms by addressing specific tasks ever mindful of the twin goals to be as forceful and creative as possible, while focusing on those strategies and tasks that will have the greatest short and long term effects.

PROCESS

8. Is apathy or ineffective education the reason for so few task force and public members at the meetings(I)?

9. Implementation timetable is tight(I).

10. There should be better Task Force representation at public meetings on the plan.

<u>Response</u>: It makes great sense for the task force to be highly visible during implementation of the plan, i.e. to hold press conferences, be present in numbers at key events. The implementation timetable may be tight, but that is something that can be adjusted in each annual review. The primary need is to make sure that critical actions are highlighted and supported. To emphasize this "critical path", the executive summary has been revised to list only the highest priority tasks, which have also been highlighted boldly in the implementation.

PLAN PARTNERS

- 11. Get more people/agencies involved such as Maine Society for Wetland Scientists, Wildlife Management Institute, Center for Disease Control, Patuxent National Wildlife Refuge/research in regards to migratory birds and U.S. Military regarding wildlife management and protection(I).
 - Response: the more the merrier is great, but not to the extent that precious staff time and other resources are diverted from critical tasks. These organizations will be added to the interested parties list, and encouraged to contribute to the overall attention of invasive aquatic species issues in Maine.

INTRODUCTION

- 12. Page 2, What's at Stake: eliminate large and small-mouthed bass from the description of beneficial species(O).
- Page 3, Biological Consequences, 1. Displace native species: Add an example of non-native fish (perch or bass) doing same thing (DIFW-C). Page 5, Socio-Economic Consequences, Spoil Sport Fisheries: indicate that some invasive species threaten native fish communities (DIFW-C) TF.
- 14. Page 6, Sidebar: DIFW does not have a "can do" policy and it is not too late to mount a meaningful effort(O).
- 15. Page 7, Lake infestations have prompted: Broaden instigators of heightened concern to include exotic species of fish(DIFW-C).
 - <u>Response</u>: The Task Force is highly sensitive to the need to stay focused on, and accomplish its mission well regarding, invasive aquatic plant issues. It also recognizes the equal potential for aquatic community harm from invasive fish species.
 - Accordingly, the Task Force has made the above changes. It is reasonable and necessary to acknowledge the public's frustration

with the state's lack of priority on invasive fish, whether the cause be lack of resources, internal fears that the state's stocking program will be undermined, lack of political will, influence of special interests, or whatever. The department has only given, and should not be blamed for giving, the fishing public what it had, up until recently, demanded. Dawning public awareness is precipitating a shift in values, and challenging the Task Force and the bureaucracy act decisively and comprehensively. See also items #17, 19, 23, 30, 44, 45, 46, and 47.

MAINE'S APPROACH

16. Page 13, item 2 under Prevention and Eradication: stop interstate sales and get the word out to Internet suppliers to mention that certain plants are not shipped to Maine, among other states(I).

Response: See item #51.

17. Page 13, item 1 under Selective Control: insert "or fish, introduced to large inland waterbodies" in second sentence after "ocean dynamics." In second paragraph, second sentence, after "vulnerable environments" insert "and eradicate undesirable species when practical. (DIFW-C) It is not clear how the freshwater fish species were separated into the "Prevention and Eradication" and "Selective Control/Impact Management" categories.

<u>Response</u>: Make the changes suggested by the Commissioner have been made.

18. Page 15, Vehicular surface use within infested waters: why can't something be done to control or eliminate boat traffic on Snow Pond (Messalonskee Lake)? See Item 39 below. Mechanical control: get some rules, guidelines, and training in place. Plan calls for this. Aquarium trade: do we have to wait until plan is in place to do something about plants already declared illegal? No change needed; action is already underway. Shouldn't there be a mechanism for informing local associations and authorities when an invasive is found in a water body? (I)

<u>Response</u>: yes, informing local entities is a good idea. The Task Force has added a component under Task 4A1, page 27, requiring state agencies to alert local entities.

ACTION PLAN

LEADING STRATEGIES

19. New strategy: see Perry comments for suggested language setting also a priority on increasing awareness, enforcement, rapid response, and

fishing rules related to illegal introduction/taking of non-native freshwater fish (DIFW-C).

Response: The proposed language focuses on illegal introductions and makes it clear that the state intends to focus on this issue. It does not offer any indication that the department is willing to consider reviewing its stocking practices, though the department has already made some effort to work to do so (e.g. discussions with Acadia National Park about avoiding the introduction of new species). This is a tough issue for the department -- traditional sporting constituents have voiced strong concerns only about illegal stocking while environmental groups' have questioned legal stocking practices. The question is whether it is realistic to think that DIFW can reign in the illegal side without giving attention to the other as well. Because of the potential for deflection of the plan with this issue, the Task Force has incorporated the Commissioner's proposed language with some modifications. It has also added a specific task (see 3C3a) to the effect that it will work with the department to discuss stocking policy, species list, and other fish matters more fully by some time certain, making accommodation for public input along the way; and strengthened other tasks regarding illegal stocking as appropriate. See also items #17, 23, 30, and 43-46. 20. Future shift in priorities: if more waters become infested, emphasis

must shift to containment and eradication(I). No change. Emphasis will follow future expediencies.

LEADERSHIP, COORDINATION AND PLAN MONITORING

21. Funding: Increase fines and use money for enforcement and education not general fund(O,2I). Sticker money should also cover reclamation (fish), w/ DEP's portion currently written as most appropriate for this purpose(DIFW). Concern that funding inadequate to deal with larger problem of plants, fish, marine organisms (Naples). Sticker fee on motorboats only is discriminatory -- canoeists and other non-motorized craft and float planes should be included(5I/general feeling at Brewer & Augusta meetings) or general fund used instead(O). The idea of taxing shoreland owners/entire communities/general fund to pay for lake protection was raised in Brewer with mixed opinions expressed, but attendees generally disagreed w/ increasing boat registration in lieu of sticker. Whereas some Augusta meeting attendees expressed support for increasing boat registration fees to cover impacts of bigger boats, and suggested retaining environmental fines revenues collected within the watersheds in which they are collected. Generate revenues from stickers to be sold to boaters using state boat launches(I). Nonresidents should pay even greater sticker fees, which should not be eliminated regardless of whatever changes, are made(2I). Funding should be expanded quickly but so as not unfairly to burden lakeshore owners(I); why not sell stickers at toll booths(I)? One person disagreed with requiring canoeists (with motors) to purchase stickers(I). Enforce sticker law and other provisions of invasives law (I); \$10 is not too much to pay(I). Of 2,438 courtesy inspections thus far in 2002: 87% of all boats have stickers; 94% of resident boats have stickers; 80% of all boaters think sticker is reasonable; 84% of resident boats think sticker reasonable (Naples).

Response: The state flipflops too often when it establishes programs and the public gets frustrated and combative so there is a great need to evaluate how well the sticker program works before proposing substantive changes. The Task Force does. however, recognize the need for fairness and shared responsibility in protecting and caring for Maine waters, as well as the potential threat of invasive species spreading from the use of non-motorized watercraft and gear. Accordingly, the Task Force will evaluate the funding mechanism and revenue stream in 2003 and consider recommendations for its improvement to the 2004 Legislative session. In the meantime, the Task Force will also administratively request DEP and DIFW to be more creative and aggressive in producing sticker images, educating the public about the sticker, and providing transparent explanations of how funding is being spent to engender pride and participation in the program.

22. Task 1A2: mixed ideas include extending program to marine waters sometime <u>in future</u>, after being clear w/ DMR about purposes and when politically savvy(DEP); limiting program to freshwaters only(DEP); proposal as is(Augusta meeting).

<u>Response</u>: Public comment generally supported the breadth of plan, though marine commercial interests may have missed it on their radar screens. There is merit in keeping expectations and the process of integrating DMR into the program simple and focused. This plan largely does that, but the Taşk Force, in conjunction with DMR, DEP, and DIFW, will clarify details about how estuarine rivers will be integrated into the inspection, education, and sticker programs, during the Task Force's annual review of the program in 2003.

EDUCATION

23. Task 2A1: Make each agency individually responsible for coordinating education activities for the species over which it has control and

provide no mechanism for overall coordination, i.e. DEP plants, DMR marine, DIFW wildlife/fish (DIFW-C). DEP needs to do better job with PR (Naples).

<u>Response</u>: the plan establishes that each agency is responsible for its species/kingdom group, but this particular task does not state this distinction clearly. The Plan has been amended to clarify that responsibility is exercised by each agency, and that the Task Force will hold them collectively accountable for coordination of overarching matters such as consistent logos and messages, through the annual reporting process.

- 24. Task 2B1: Pleased to see education campaign broadened beyond milfoil (2O). There needs to be more media and TV coverage(Brewer). <u>Response:</u> the Task Force will brief and encourage new commissioners and legislative committees when in place after the upcoming election to ensure that existing positions funded by the sticker program are filled.
- 25. Task 2B1/2: Education process should include encouraging people to join state/national organizations(O). Target more publicity and website information for invasive plants and what they look like and what to do if invasive plants are found(4I). Target municipal officials and agents so they can administer sticker fee program well and educate the public; display posters (including photos of infestations) in town offices and sticker outlets; target other specific groups, i.e. sporting associations/clubs; target students, professors, faculty, research institutions raising plants in aquaria; and find a good way to share information among groups(I). Package the sticker with a brochure(I).
 - <u>Response:</u> a new task has been added to ensure training for local officials and vendors who sell stickers. Informally direct staff to take into account other suggestions in agency efforts. The Task Force and agencies will encourage people to join nongovernmental organization, in general, to promote greater attention to, and participation in, prevention, detection, and control efforts.
- 26. Funding: spend more money on education, especially plant identification and using milfoil image on stickers(I). No change needed. Plan directs agencies to evaluate the effectiveness of education and other program component annually, along with funding priorities. Agencies try to stretch dollars by piggybacking efforts on existing programs when cost effective, and encourage lake associations and other organizations to help out.

ADVISORY LIST

27. Task 3A1: State the intent explicitly to give agencies authority to "explicitly prohibit certain species" (I).

Response: this change has been made as it was intended.

- 28. Task 3A2: Listing process has the potential to become bureaucratic and political. Must be based upon the best biological and ecological scientific information and logical, concrete, process rather than on public opinion(O, Augusta general agreement). Threat assessment is not good criterion for non-native species list (I-I have no idea anymore what this means!). More tightly define "invasive aquatic species" (I). Plan already reflects most of these suggestions. Technical committee will evaluate criteria and definitions as it enters the mire!
- 29. Species of fish listed under "Selective Control" can disrupt natural systems; and widespread stocking of these species should be more carefully scrutinized under plan; and other species such as lake trout, brown trout, and rainbow trout should be addressed in non-native locations. (I,2O-one of these organizations did not include lake trout) List of fish needs more discussion(DIFW). Rationale for placing species in management categories needs to be rational; now appears arbitrary(2O: see TroutUnlimited and Maine Audubon). Large and smallmouth bass and yellow and white perch should be included on the "Prevent and Eradicate" list-the single prosecution in Maine was for white perch(O). Chain pickerel and landlocked salmon should also be added to list along with exotic baitfish that may also be present; also include the impact of native smelt introductions from one Maine watershed to another(O). Include land-locked salmon, lamprey, aquaculture escapes, rock bass, togue, brown trout, rainbow trout(I).
- 30. Include Asian Tiger Mosquito (West Nile Virus) and other invasive insects (I).

31. Consider adding Azolla, an aquatic fern(I).

32. Add fungi such as Cercospora, Streptomyces, Blastomyces, fPenicillium, Aspergillus, and fish fungi(I).

<u>Response:</u> agencies will evaluate the above species items #31, 32, and 33, and others that may arise later, and report listing recommendations back in one year as specified in Task 3A2 and 3C3a.

WATERCRAFT & EQUIPMENT TRANSPORT

- 33. Brewer meeting attendees agreed that there needs to be more than just a voluntary approach. See item #35 below.
- 34. Provide mandatory cleaning stations on lakes, high traffic ramps and events, and/or at border crossings; involve SAM and conservation and fish and game clubs, Soil & Water Conservation Districts(see Brewer

F-4

meeting, Allen). Other states report that cleaning stations: lull people into complacency; are best used for species such as zebra mussels; and have not proven cost-effective. DEP, the Volunteer Lake Monitoring Program, and local organizations will monitor the effectiveness of the new facility on Sebago Lake, as well as experience elsewhere, and report to the Task Force if this approach appears more promising or expedient.

35. Task 3B1b: there were mixed sentiments on inspections, ranging from recruit wardens to inspect boats throughout the state(I) TO enforce them in selected areas(I), TO use itinerant DIFW inspectors(I) TO do not use wardens at all because enforcement is not going to get the job done(O). Target inspections toward boaters not involved in outdoor/sportsmans organizations such as bass clubs, which have been inspecting at tournaments for over 5 years(I). State needs to be proactive. Make inspections mandatory on vulnerable lakes and for outgoing boats on infested waters, and allow towns to enact hours of operation for boat ramps (I, Naples general agreement). Improve educational information and enforcement at access sites (I, Brewer general agreement) and require boaters to register(I). Internal mechanisms cannot be inspected, i.e. jet skis/cooling water(I). Make boat ramp signs larger(I). Emphasis on volunteers is unrealistic(I). Sebago Lake State Park wash station and inspection program is prototype (Naples).

> <u>Response</u>: voluntary inspections are fraught with loopholes. Something more failsafe is needed -- Maine is only going to get one shot at doing "it" right, so we must be aggressive in finding ways to reduce the risk as much as possible and slow down what may be inevitable. We don't know yet which methods reduce risks best. So field testing as many "good ideas" as possible will help us evaluate and learn from the results. Before the next field season, DEP and DIFW will evaluate the methods, results, and cost-effectiveness of the last two seasons; obtain the legal clarification on related issues specified in Task 3B1d; compare and contrast the relative contribution of education and inspection programs; and recommend creative ways to the Task Force to increase compliance and reduce risks. The task force will address items 36, 38, and 39 below in the same way.

36. Task 3B1c: make application of roadside inspection program contingent upon agencies determining cost effectiveness(DEP). Require every out of state boater to go through truck inspection facilities for inspections(I); ask US Customs to distribute information(I). Target entrance areas to North Maine Woods and other recreation area for roadside inspections for out-of-state boats(I). <u>Response</u>: same recommendation as Item 35, along with the change in the first sentence below suggested by DEP: Task 3B1c: Roadside Inspections •

- An outside contractor, temporary staff, or agency personnel may continue roadside inspections in subsequent seasons if the agencies determine these inspections to be cost effective. or temporary staff (under what authority?) will stop vehicles used to transport watercraft and gear at selected times and entry points. The program during 2002 This year's program will likely only involved only the Turnpike rest area at York. Compliance will be voluntary until legal authority for mandatory inspection is clarified, but inspectors will offer verbal and/or written information about how to avoid spreading invasive plants, and to the operators of vehicles from Vermont, New York, upper Midwest, and Quebec information about zebra mussels and other invertebrates.
- 37. Task 3B2a: indicate what deference will be given to locally developed management plans. How can the risk of ignoring local efforts be balanced with avoiding ill-conceived local plans? (I) Sticker money should be used to relocate any boat launches so as not to lose access. (DIFW)

<u>Response</u>: this task has been changed to state explicitly that the state will provide guidelines/criteria for state review and approval of local plans as specified in 4C1b.

38. Task 3B2b: eliminate approval of task force regarding institution of case-by-case strategies for controls(DEP). Balance the need for public access with other values rather than emphasizing obligation to ensure access to the exclusion of flexibility in managing infested sites (DEP). Eliminate the establishment of critical thresholds by 2004 and replace w/ an annual or periodic TF review(DEP). Apply strict standards for controlling infested waters, including closing access points (I). Mixed opinion whether DEP should share authority with DIFW over surface uses or water access sites - if an infestation is so severe that boating must be stopped, then all boating ought to be halted(O,I). Restricting access doesn't solve in-lake problem(I). Do not use task force to shut down access(I). When and which private launches should be closed, if at all? What will be done with private ramps if inspections are required at designated public access points? Instead of legal clarification, be proactive at state level and institute enabling legislation authorizing municipalities with vulnerable waterbodies to require mandatory inspections at access and entry points -- this would provide control without limitation(O/Naples general agreement).

<u>Response:</u> See response above under item #35. The following changes proposed by DEP have been made in the plan: Task 3B2b: Establish Critical Threshold •

DEP and DIFW will monitor infestations or lakes that are likely to be infested and, depending upon the water body, legal authority, and costs and benefits, and with Task Force approval, will institute one or more of the following strategies on a case-by-case basis:

- Make physical changes in the design of facilities, e.g. location of channel;
- Require inspection programs during high-traffic events such as open angling tournaments and regattas, or prohibit them altogether;
- Limit boat removal to specific locations/times;
- Require mandatory inspection of all boat removals, and/or
 Regulate public and private access facilities and limit the construction of new ones, taking into account the state's need to balance the provision of public access with other resource and recreational values. obligation to ensure that public access to state waters is at least commensurate

with private opportunities.

39. Task 3B2c: fundamentally change the way waters are accessed. Limit access on infested waters to only places where inspections are present, and eventually apply this policy to all waters. Gate launches when unattended. Involve local police and require a harbormaster on every lake. (I) DEP doesn't have shoreland zoning program staff to monitor use of new sites and doesn't see need for formal rule changes to adopt standards, at least as of this time; implementation shouldn't otherwise be a problem because DIFW develops the bulk of the launch sites and they are part of this plan(DEP – see Madore). Instead of legal clarification, be proactive at state level and institute enabling legislation authorizing municipalities with vulnerable waterbodies to require mandatory inspections at access and entry points -- this would provide control without limitation(O). Develop vulnerability criteria for determining best locations for access sites (see Augusta).

<u>Response:</u> see item #36.

Land use and environmental controls

40. Rather than enacting new regs, get tough and better enforce current land and water use laws/codes such as shoreland zoning (see recommendations under "Barnes" comments) (O/2I).

<u>Response</u>: strong enforcement of environmental laws such as shoreland zoning and stormwater management are important because native species thrive better in clean environments whereas invasive aquatic species are highly adapted to flourishing in stressed systems. However, even strong enforcement of these laws will be ineffective if invasive aquatic species infest Maine waters. Task 4A2c has been amended to make sure that wardens, state police, and other enforcement personnel are acquainted with regulations relating to invasive aquatic species.

41. Loosen benthic controls to allow people to create swimming areas in front of shore property. *The Task Force finds no direct relationship to invasive aquatic species.*

INTRODUCTION INTO WILD

- 42. Because of the large traffic in seafoods/aquaculture, pay particular attention to Downeast lakes and streams (Salmon/ISA), especially Canadian fish, pet, plant traffic.
- 43. Task 3C3: the plan does not mention DIFW policies regarding legal stocking - if invasive species cause harm, there should be no new stocking programs involving species listed as invasive(O). In the interest of amphibian and insect conservation, the introduction of any fish into fishless ponds should be prohibited(O). Include more creative and effective ideas regarding curtailment of illegal fish stocking such as developing a traveling display for events, incorporating information into the "Hooked on Fishing" curriculum, and posting information at ramps and popular fishing spots--do no encourage anglers to take as many invasive fish as possible because it is contrary to Maine Bureau of Health warnings about fish consumption(O). The background information inaccurately states the problem because there have not been very many prosecutions-it is rather that wardens do not place high priority on enforcement(O). DIFW currently has only the capacity to reclaim one illegal invasive fish introduction per year; and needs more resources/assistance to effectively monitor and respond to invasive fish issues(DIFW-C).

<u>Response</u>: the Task Force has added a new strategy, 3C3a, requesting DIFW to evaluate policies and programs related to the prevention, detection, and eradication of invasive fish introductions and report needed policy and programmatic changes to the Task Force by September of 2000.

44. New task: recognize deliberate introduction by fisheries managers and escapes from fish culture facilities as pathways, and develop specific strategies for each. Establish a schedule for DIFW to develop a

F-6

specific strategy and a process for ensuring legal introductions with zero risk. Identify procedures for eliminating escapes from hatcheries. (O) *Existing DIFW and DMR biosecurity measures cover this issue.*

EARLY DETECTION, RAPID RESPONSE, AND MANAGEMENT

- 45. Task 4B1: Create a rapid response component for fish, not just amend existing protocol(DIFW, DIFW-C, O) and for marine resources(DIFW-C). Include SAM in process (DIFW). Eliminate the term "rapid" as it may elevate public expectations unrealistically given state resources (DIFW-C). Be more specific see third page, "Save Maine Lakes" comments (in Publiccomment.doc file), describing recommended protocol for rapid response(O). Include predetermined responses for each of the following events: discovery of species previously undocumented; discovery of species exotic to the watershed or waterbody; and accidental introduction of management species into a waterbody(O). Strong feelings that DEP isn't doing enough. Need genuinely RAPID response to new infestations (Naples).
 - <u>Response</u>: Task 4B1 has been made more explicit to reflect DIFW's commitment to strengthen it's response to illegal fish introductions.
- 46. Strategy 4C1: Towns need guidance on how to spend \$ on management, how to develop management plans (Naples); need a parallel set of tasks for reducing fish infestations.

<u>Response</u>: guidance to communities concerning control plans for plants is already specified in the plan. Encouraging similar initiatives for fish is not a high priority at this time, given other competing demands.

47. Task 4C1b: why not grants for prevention as well(I)?

<u>Response:</u> DEP is phasing in prevention grants, having conducted a small pilot this year and has plans for expansion in upcoming year. Task 4C1b now specifies this.

48. Task 4C1d: clarify in the Implementation Program Table whether responsibility for establishing surface use controls should belong to a single agency to reduce confusion, promote efficiency. Should be DEP because mandate is broader and track record is better(21). Balance the need for public access with other values versus emphasizing obligation to ensure access (DEP-see Bouchard). Remind municipalities that they can include controls in their comprehensive plans(I).

<u>Response</u>: the Task Force has no recommendation on which agency(s) should be in charge. The suggested revision below relating to balancing values has been made in the plan, however: <u>Task 4C1d</u>: Surface Use Restrictions On Infested Waters \blacklozenge DEP and DIFW will develop a procedure for determining when to apply limited-duration surface use restrictions on infested waters. This procedure will take into account the state's *need to balance the provision of public access with other resource and recreational values.* obligation to ensure that public access to state waters is at least commensurate with private opportunities. As part of this effort, they will work with the DOC Boating Facility Program, municipalities and lake associations to determine when and how non-state entities could be responsible for plan enforcement and buoy deployment.

- 49. New task: develop guidelines for use of benthic barriers (see Uecker for details). This task is left up to DEP as part of Task 4C2a on plant controls.
- 50. Task 4C2c: strengthen language on herbicides and pesticides, and never allow in public supply waters(I). The state must review and approve all use of pesticides in surface drinking water supplies and has never been asked to do so, and is exceedingly unlikely to agree if ever asked. Address problem of website sales of pesticides, especially misleading ones that say a chemical is "registered for sale" in Maine, i.e. stop interstate sales and get the word out to Internet suppliers to mention that certain plants are not shipped to Maine, among other states(I).

<u>Response</u>: Tasks 3C1a/b now states explicitly that campaigns against website sales are intended to be part of this initiative.

INVENTORY, RESEARCH, INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

51. Task 5A2: Eliminate mention of "associated invertebrates" from plant baseline inventory and have **DIFW** take charge of them instead(DEP, DIFW-C).

<u>Response:</u> this change has been made (see also Task 5A3).

52. Task 5A3: conduct additional baseline information for freshwater fish (DIFW-C,O).

<u>Response:</u> the task force has adopted the DIFW recommendation below to accomplish this:

Task 5A3: Maine Lakes Inventory

DIFW will seek funding to expand the lake and pond inventory of fish and other animal species by conducting

both new surveys of unsurveyed waters and resurveys of waters that have not been visited in many years. These data will become part of the Maine Aquatic Biodiversity database and will be used as a tool for identifying waters of highest natural biodiversity, establish a baseline of ecological conditions prior to invasive species infestation and track distribution of invasive aquatic animal species in the state.

F-8

53. Task 5A5: substitute DMR staff, if resources allow, here for DEP coordinator(DEP).

<u>Response</u>: this change has been made.

- 54. Each data storage item should mention the use of GIS. (I) <u>Response</u>: this change has been made.
- 55. Task 5B2b: be more proactive and try to get funding for genetic research on variable/Eurasian milfoil and involve our Congressional delegation in the funding search. To what extent has DEP applied for research grants to date? (O) Need more research on finding biological controls and a chemical for milfoil(I).

<u>Response</u>: The Task Force and state agencies do not have the resources to actively pursue such research but they will be enthusiastic supporters of those who do.

56. Strategy 5C1: add a new objective "Protection of Unique and Sensitive Aquatic Communities." For these, identify three categories of protection and develop protection plans (see TroutUnlimited). The issue of "Protection of Unique. .." categories is implicit in the biodiversity project (5A3) and list vulnerable waters (3B1a). Develop lists of contaminated and uncontaminated waters, and the species present in contaminated ones.

> <u>Response</u>: Task 5C1a has been changed to explicitly state that each agency is responsible for tracking the occurrence of invasive species under its authority.

GLOSSARY

57. Include definition of "indigenous," same as "native"(DEP). <u>Response</u>: this change has been made.

MISCELLANEOUS

Non-substantive comments, typos, and citation changes have been made. Changes also have been made to the implementation tables to reflect the responses to public comments and to incorporate additional information from DIFW.

Appendix G: Endnotes

¹ OTA. 1993. Harmful Non-Indigenous Species In the United States.

² Dana Wallace, former Department of Marine Resources Marine Biologist, personal communication.

Minnesota Sea Grant Exotic Species Factsheet: rusty crayfish .

⁴ Wilcove, D.S., D. Rothstein, J. Dubow, A. Phillips, and E. Losos. 1998. Quantifying threats to imperiled species in the United States. BioScience 48:607-615.

⁵ David Halliwell, Aquatic Biologist/Fish Ecologist, DEP, personal communication, March 2002.

⁶ Minnesota Sea Grant Exotic Species Factsheet: life history and effects on the great lakes of the spiny tailed bythotrephes. ⁷ ibid.

⁸ Unites States Geological Survey: Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Factsheet: *Cyprinus carpio* Linnaeus 1758.

⁹ Hsu, Tommy. 2000. A Hedonic Study of the Effects of Lake Water Clarity and Aquatic Plants on Lakefront Property Prices in Vermont. Unpublished MS Thesis, University of Maine. August 2000, 91 pp.

¹⁰ Dana Wallace, former Department of Marine Resources Marine Biologist, personal communication.

¹¹ Center for Emerging Issues Impact Worksheet: Infectious Salmon Anemia, Maine, USA. March 23, 2001

(http://www.aphic.usda.gov/vs/aqua/isa_maine0301e.html.

¹² Minnesota Sea Grant Exotic Species Factsheet: rusty crayfish
 ¹³ Maine Water Utilities Association Position Paper; Invasive Aquatic Plants. January 29, 2002/Cooke, G.D. and R.E. Carlson. Reservoir Management for Water Quality and THM Precursor Control. AWWA Research Foundation and the American Water Works Association. December 1989.

¹⁴ National Invasive Species Council. *Management Plan: Meeting the Invasive Species Challenge*, January 18, 2001

¹⁵ United States Geological Survey Non-Indigenous Species Factsheet: Dreissena polymorpha.

¹⁶Aguirre, W. and S.G. Poss. 1999. Non-Indigenous Species of the Gulf of Mexico Ecosystem DataBase. University of Southern Mississippi. http://lionfish.ims.usm.edu/~musweb/nis/Myocastor_coypus.html.
¹⁷ Cameron, D. Aquatic Vegetation Survey For Selected Maine Lakes.
2000, Maine Natural Areas Program, Department of Conservation.
¹⁸ Maine DEP and DIFW. January 15, 2002. Invasive Aquatic Species Report to the Joint Legislative Committees on Natural Resources and Fish and Wildlife. Required by Public Chapter 20 B Part C. ¹⁹ Maine DEP and DIFW. January 15, 2002. Invasive Aquatic Species Report to the Joint Legislative Committees on Natural Resources and Fish and Wildlife. Required by Public Chapter 20_B Part C.

²⁰ National Invasive Species Council. *Management Plan: Meeting the Invasive Species Challenge*. January 18, 2001.

²¹ Cameron, D. *Invasive Plant Survey Atlas.* Maine Natural Heritage Program, Department of Conservation, Sept 2000.

²² John Sowles, DMR, personal communication, 2002.

²³ Hunter, M.L., A.J. Calhoun, and M.A. McCollough, 1999. *Maine Amphibians and Reptiles*. University of Maine Press, Orono, 252 pp.

²⁴ Thresher, R.E. Key Threats from Marine Bioinvasions: A Review of Current and Future Issues. J. Pederson (ed.). Marine Bioinvasions: Proceedings of the first National Conference. 1999, MIT Sea Grant 00-2. p. 24-34.

²⁵ Cohen, A.N. and J.T. Carlton. Nonindigenous Aquatic Species in a United States Estuary: A Case Study of Biological Invasions of the San Francisco Bay and Delta. Unpublished report to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C. and the National Sea Grant College Program, Connecticut Sea Grant. 1995, NTIS Report No. 9B96-166525. 246 pp.
²⁶ Thresher, R.E. Key Threats from Marine Bioinvasions: A Review of Current and Future Issues. J. Pederson (ed.). Marine Bioinvasions: Proceedings of the first National Conference. 1999, MIT Sea Grant 00-2. p. 24-34.

Attachment # 2

.

.

A REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MAINE COASTAL PLAN IN MEETING THE STATE'S PUBLIC ACCESS AND WORKING WATERFRONT POLICY GOALS

A Report from the Land and Water Resources Council

to the

Joint Standing Committee on Marine Resources

and

Joint Standing Committee on Natural Resources

of the 121st Maine Legislature, First Regular Session

Maine State Planning Office December 2002
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

Legislation passed by the 120th Legislature (PL2001 c.595) directed the Land and Water Resources Council (LWRC) to review the effectiveness of the State's approved Coastal Management Plan in meeting the State's public access and working waterfront policy goals as established in the Maine Revised Statutes. In conducting this review, the Council was directed to (1)"explore state and local jurisdiction and authority", (2) consider the "development of incentives for municipalities to improve coastal access", (3) consider the "development of incentives for municipalities to conserve working waterfront lands for water-dependent uses", and (4) discuss the "development of performance indicators to allow for ongoing measurement of progress".

Findings

- 1. The State's Coastal Plan is implemented through a well-established program, the Maine Coastal Program at the State Planning Office. Implementation of the Coastal Plan is carried out by a network of participating state agencies and other partners through laws and regulations, partnerships and funding assistance. The Coastal Program's efforts to conserve public access and working waterfronts are dependent on cooperative relationships with state and federal agencies, regional organizations, municipalities, and various non-profit groups and organizations. Most importantly, however, the success of the Maine Coastal Program in meeting state access and waterfront policy goals depends on sound state/municipal relationships, and a balancing of state objectives with the particular needs of Maine's coastal communities.
- 2. Municipal efforts to protect, enhance, and improve public access to the coast are supported by the Coastal Program and partner agencies through a variety of outreach efforts, educational programs, technical assistance services and materials, and grants and other financial assistance. The LWRC finds that implementation of the Maine Coastal Plan should be further strengthened and targeted to help municipalities address public access and working waterfront issues. More vigorous implementation of the current Coastal Program strategies is needed and should be provided through public information and educational programs and materials, municipal outreach efforts to encourage good projects, coordination of access programs, grants, and financial assistance to support local projects. Additional targeting of state efforts, linked with municipal comprehensive planning or waterfront/harbor planning processes, will increase the effectiveness of the coastal program at the municipal level.
- 3. The Council finds that the major issue (within the control of state and local governments) confronting commercial fishermen and water-dependent users is the problem of rising property taxes that increase the financial difficulty of retaining and maintaining working waterfront facilities. This is a critical issue that needs to be

addressed by the Maine Legislature, and should be included as an important element of any discussion of property tax reforms. This is an issue outside the purview of the State's Coastal Management Program, but critical to the future of Maine's working waterfronts.

- 4. The threat of loss of access for commercial fisheries is a widespread and persistent problem, driven by broad economic and demographic influences related to development pressures that increase the competition for choice waterfront property. The loss of commercial access takes several forms, and varies from community to community, which adds to the complexity of tracking changes and formulating effective public policy. Coastal fishing communities are well aware of the problem, generally expecting it to worsen, and are working to combat the trends, while accommodating a variety of community needs.
- 5. Coastal communities are vitally interested in learning more about the tools and techniques that can be used to help maintain and enhance their working waterfronts. Effective responses at the local level may include municipal ownership of existing facilities, support for commercial businesses providing commercial fishing services, and appropriate support for owners of private facilities used by commercial fishermen.
- 6. Coastal fishing communities have a variety of needs in maintaining and enhancing their working waterfronts. Needs that range from repair and upkeep of marine facilities, to managing waterfront activities, to expanding existing facilities and providing new sites and facilities. Municipalities have come to depend on the State's Small Harbor Improvement Program (SHIP) and other grant programs to help provide crucial financial support for local projects.
- 7. Incentives to help municipalities meet state policy goals are best provided in the form of technical and financial assistance that helps communities respond to access problems and needs at the local level where actions can be crafted to fit local conditions.
- 8. Availability of data on the coast-wide status and trends in commercial fishing facilities and usage continues to be problematic, but improvements in the way information is collected are planned by the newly formed interagency Coastal Water Access Working Group.

Recommendations

A series of recommendations for improving and expanding the Maine Coastal Program to improve coastal access to assure the viability of working waterfronts is presented in this report to the Legislature.

1. Create a new working waterfront initiative at the Maine Coastal Program to provide better support for municipal waterfront conservation and infrastructure development. This initiative should including the following components:

- An information and education program for municipalities including workshops and website resources on: harnessing public and private waterfront investment; accessing grant programs; using tools like Tax Increment Financing (TIF); transfer of development rights (TDR), cooperative ownership, and revolving loan funds; and using community planning to achieve waterfront development goals.
- A new delivery system for municipal technical assistance using field-based staff from other organizations such as the University of Maine Sea Grant Marine Extension Team (along with other partners). Field staff would be trained to assist coastal communities with issues concerning land use planning, environmental protection and management, coastal access, recreational tourism, and use conflicts.
- Proactive support for local (water access) project development. Working in close cooperation with the Land for Maine's Future staff, and other state and federal funding programs, provide a single point of contact at the Maine Coastal Program for coastal towns to obtain information on the boating access fund and other opportunities for recreational and commercial access projects.
- 2. Use the newly formed, interagency **Coastal Water Access Working Group** to improve the coordination of state investment programs for water access and coastal infrastructure.
 - Integrate grant programs and other sources of financial assistance for municipal projects to develop multi-use sites that serve a range of coastal needs.
 - Charge the Coastal Water Access Working Group with the task of documenting the health of working waterfronts and tracking changes over time.
- 3. Provide financial and in-kind staff support (federal Coastal Zone Management funds and staff) for the **development of new ideas** for waterfront investment and conservation.
 - Along with a coalition of interested parties, support the work of Coastal Enterprises Inc. to expand the Portland Working Waterfront Loan Program to additional harbors along the coast.
 - Support the formation of a new non-profit corporation, a Commercial Fishing Heritage Trust, charged with purchasing development rights on key waterfront parcels to assure continued use of the land for commercial fisheries and waterdependent uses.

In addition to the recommendations suggested above concerning the modification of programs administered through the Maine Coastal Program, the Land and Water Resources Council also recommended other public policy responses to address the problems associated with diminishing access for water-dependent uses.

- The tax burden on coastal property and on waterfront land is a critical issue that negatively impacts the ability to sustain waterfront businesses and results in displacement of fishermen and other long-time coastal residents from waterfront lands. This issue that needs to be addressed by the Maine Legislature, and should be included as an important element of any discussion of property tax reforms.
- A coalition of political leaders, commercial fishing interests, municipalities, and others concerned with finding effective solutions to preserve and enhance working waterfronts should be encouraged to form a working waterfront group to work on creating effective public and private sector actions.

A REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MAINE COASTAL PLAN IN MEETING THE STATE'S PUBLIC ACCESS AND WORKING WATERFRONT POLICY GOALS

I. Introduction

Legislation passed by the 120th Legislature (PL2001 c.595) directed the Land and Water Resources Council¹ (LWRC) to review the effectiveness of the State's approved coastal management plan in meeting the State's public access and working waterfront policy goals as established in the Maine Revised Statutes. In conducting this review, the Council was specifically directed to (1)"explore state and local jurisdiction and authority", (2) consider the "development of incentives for municipalities to improve coastal access", (3) consider the "development of incentives for municipalities to conserve working waterfront lands for water dependent uses", and (4) discuss the "development of performance indicators to allow for ongoing measurement of progress". This document fulfills the obligation of the LWRC to report back to the Legislature by December 15, 2002 on its findings and recommendations. No new legislation is being introduced or recommended as part of this report.

In evaluating working waterfront and public access efforts, the Council considered two areas of state policy and related programs that are often interrelated, but tend to be treated separately in government programs. "Public access" can refer to a wide variety of public access needs to coastal resources for scenic, conservation, recreational, and boating purposes. Since the impetus for this report grew from a broad concern for the loss of access to waterfront lands and conversion of facilities required for commercial fishing, greater emphasis in the report is placed on issues related to commercial water access.

II. Background

The charge to review the effectiveness of the state's coastal plan is a direct outcome of a 2001 Legislative study committee that explored the loss of commercial waterfront access and other economic development issues affecting commercial fishing. This committee's report² was delivered to the Legislature in December of 2001, and included an extensive list of

¹ The Maine Legislature established the Council in 1993 to advise the Governor, the Legislature, and State agencies in the formulation of State policy regarding natural resources management to achieve State environmental, social, and economic objectives. The Legislature has conferred on the Council, originally established by Executive Order, broad authority to consider natural resources issues of statewide significance and to counsel the Governor and Legislature on policy options for management and protection of natural resources. *See* 5 M.R.S.A. §3331, sub-§2.

² Final Report of the Committee to Study the Loss of Commercial Fishing Waterfront Access and Other Economic Development Issues Affecting Commercial Fishing, December 2001. Can also be downloaded from the web at <u>http://www.maine.gov/legis/opla/comfish.PDF</u>

potential actions and activities that could be undertaken to protect and enhance commercial fisheries.

During its tenure, the Legislative study committee documented an array of state requirements, guidance, policy direction, model programs, funding assistance, and incentives managed by several state agencies intended to affect the preservation of working waterfronts and provision of public access. Yet due to the complexities of land valuation and property taxation, gentrification along some waterfronts, development pressure, market prices for waterfront lands, decline in fisheries, difficulty in maintaining waterfront infrastructure, and other factors, state programs seemed to not be resulting in success on the ground.

The Legislative directive acknowledged that Maine's Coastal Plan is implemented by the Maine Coastal Program (at the State Planning Office) through a variety of partnerships and shared authority with local municipalities, and that much of the success in meeting coastwide public policy goals ultimately depends on the quality of municipal decision-making. Thus, the Legislature asked the Council to explore whether the existing balance of state and local jurisdiction and authority, particularly in the area of land use authority, was adequate to achieve state policy goals. Understanding that additional state regulations are not always the best approach to achieving success at the local level, the Legislature also asked the Council to consider ways to encourage or provide incentives to municipalities to help them improve coastal access and conserve working waterfronts lands for water-dependent uses.

Lastly, the Legislature recognized the need for additional data to measure development trends along the coastline and to better measure the success of the Coastal Plan in fulfilling the State's policy goals and directed the Council to look at the development of performance indicators. With multiple state agencies responsible for various programs intended to affect the provision of coastal access and conservation of working waterfronts, joint performance indicators could help managers refine programs and direct public resources for optimum results.

In general, this evaluation by the LWRC was intended to provide more specific information about additional ways that state programs could more effectively increase the amount of coastal access available to the public and to effectively preserve the extent and nature of Maine's working waterfronts.

III. Methodology

The development of this report involved two phases described below:

Phase 1 – Since the success of efforts to conserve working waterfronts and provide public access is largely dependent on municipal efforts, a field survey of coastal communities was commissioned. The Maine Coastal Program (MCP) at the State Planning Office (SPO) engaged the services of Coastal Enterprises Inc. (CEI), a non-profit economic development corporation headquartered in Wiscasset, Maine, to conduct a survey of coastal fishing

communities in Maine.³ The 25 communities chosen for the survey were considered to be representative of the array of commercial fishing centers found along the coast from Kittery to Eastport. The purposes of the survey were to: (1) document the status of working waterfronts and the present and future threats of change or loss; (2) identify municipal and technical needs for dealing with problems; and (3) make recommendations regarding the best ways of monitoring changes and trends in the future. The study was conducted by interviewing knowledgeable people in each selected community.

Phase 2 – The findings of the CEI report were used to inform the next part of the analysis, a determination of the effectiveness of the implementation of the Coastal Plan. In the absence of established performance indicators, the LWRC's evaluation was based a review of certain key interim (or output) measures of the program's effectiveness. While output measures are not direct measures of increased waterfront access or increased conservation of miles of working waterfront shoreline, they are a valid measure of the program's efforts towards these outcomes. An "effectiveness rating" (a " \checkmark " for "effective", and a " \checkmark -" for "improvement needed") was established for each of the following criteria listed below. Where needed, suggestions were made to increase program effectiveness.

- Availability of data to track problems and measure success along the waterfront
- Effectiveness of inter-agency coordination for water access
- Staffing available for liaison with towns on water access projects
- Funding available and funding secured for local coastal access projects
- Effectiveness of local comprehensive planning and local land use regulations in conserving working waterfronts
- Availability of technical assistance to towns for community planning. Quality and availability of guidance, educational materials and programs for waterfront conservation
- Regulatory environment for working waterfronts

The determination of the effectiveness of the program and the recommendations for improved programming were developed through MCP/SPO staff discussions with other agencies, program partners, and towns, and meetings with the Land and Water Resources Council. Additionally, feedback was sought from a small advisory group convened by Coastal Enterprises, Inc. A list of advisory committee members is included in Appendix C of this report.

IV. Findings

These findings are presented in two parts. The first part provides an overview of the results of the field survey of fishing communities. The full results of the CEI survey are included in Appendix A. The second part presents findings related to the effectiveness of the Maine Coastal Program.

³ Preserving Commercial Fishing Access: A Study of Working Waterfronts in 25 Maine Communities. Can also be downloaded from the web at <u>http://www.maine.gov/mcp/online_resources/ftp.html</u>

1. Field Survey of Working Waterfronts in 25 Maine Towns

a. Ownership of commercial access areas

Commercial fishing access in Maine is provided in a variety of ways – at publicly owned facilities, privately-owned commercial piers and through arrangements at other privately-owned wharves. Sites that are publicly owned are the most protected from conversion to non water-dependent uses, yet only 25% of commercial fishing access in the towns surveyed is provided at publicly owned facilities (municipal piers, fish piers, and public boat ramps). Seventy-five percent (75%) of commercial access occurs at privately-owned facilities, thirty-five percent (35%) of commercial access is provided by privately-owned businesses (cooperatives, commercial piers, etc.), and forty percent (40%) of commercial access via other is private property, where the property owner makes access available to other fishermen by lease or other arrangement.

In 2002 at the time of the field survey, there were 11,462 berthing spaces, mooring, slips, and tie-ups available in the harbors of the 25 towns surveyed. Of this number, 42% were used by commercial boats and 58% by recreational boats. For individual towns the percentage of commercial vs. recreational use varies. In the majority of the surveyed towns (15 out of 25) there were more recreational boats than commercial boats. In 10 of the 25 towns, commercial fishing boats comprised 50% of the boats in the harbor.

b. Status of commercial access

Sixty-four percent (64%) of the 25 towns surveyed indicated that commercial fishing access is a problem now, and 80% of the towns surveyed are planning to address this issue. The loss of commercial fishing access is due to many factors, which adds to the complexity of tracking changes and formulating effective public policy. The survey identified a number of ways that commercial access is diminishing:

- Landowners have posted and closed off private lands and contested the public rights to access traditionally used walkways. This type of loss has impacted clam and worm diggers.
- Fishermen rely on often-tenuous lease or use arrangements with private pier and wharf owners.
- Fishermen often compete for use of public facilities, especially those with limited parking and equipment storage space.
- Working wharves have been converted to "more desirable" residential and recreational uses or to other commercial uses.

c. Anticipated trends in the availability of commercial access

Threats to established commercial access facilities and sites are real, persistent, and pervasive. The surveyed communities identified a list of problems:

- There is intense development pressure to convert waterfront lands and facilities for non-water dependent uses.
- As fishing families sell waterfront facilities, more commercial operators use public piers, increasing pressure on these facilities.
- The use of public wharves must balance and serve both commercial and recreational use, which can lead to conflicts.
- Limited parking, combined with increased use by tourists, can intensify potential conflicts.
- In some areas with heavy recreational boating use, only limited numbers of moorings are available.
- Boats are getting larger (both commercial and recreational), and these vessels require more berthing and mooring space.
- Coastal towns face increased costs for legal challenges over access rights.
- Sales of higher value properties trigger revaluation of all properties which often leads to higher taxes on waterfront land.
- Wharves require costly upkeep; the struggle to keep pace with maintenance is often a challenge to running a viable business operation.
- Individual fishermen often cannot afford inflated market price for waterfront property to retain it in commercial use. Municipalities cannot find affordable waterfront properties to create additional public use areas.

d. Vulnerability rating for communities surveyed

A vulnerability index was constructed to indicate the municipalities' susceptibility to change and loss of commercial fishing access on the communities' working waterfronts. The index postulates that towns with the following characteristics are less vulnerable to losing access sites and facilities:

- Commercial fishing access is a priority among town officials,
- Strong ordinances & regulations are in place to protect waterfronts from conversion to non water-dependent uses,
- Less than average development pressure exists, as measured by population and housing increases, lower tax values per acre, and lower tax cost per acre,
- ✤ A dedicated fish pier exists for commercial use,
- A significant number of community members are employed in the fishing industry.
- Eight communities out of the 25 are considered highly vulnerable to conversion of water-dependent uses, twelve communities are considered moderately vulnerable and five towns are considered to less vulnerable to property conversions.

e. Needs expressed by municipalities surveyed

The surveyed communities consistently identified property tax relief, availability of funding, and planning assistance as the top actions needed to help relieve pressures on working waterfronts.

2. Effectiveness of the Maine Coastal Plan in Achieving State Policy Goals

The Maine Coastal Plan guides a variety of activities in Maine's coastal zone aimed at fulfilling the State's coastal policy goals, including the improvement of public access to the coast and the maintenance and enhancement of working waterfronts.

The Coastal Plan is implemented through a well established program, the Maine Coastal Program (housed in the State Planning Office). This "networked program" relies on relationships with state and federal agencies, regional organizations, municipalities, and various groups and organizations. The effectiveness of the Coastal Plan in achieving coastal access policy goals depends in great measure on these working relationships.

As described in the section of methodology, the following aspects of the program's effectiveness are discussed in this evaluation, and an "effectiveness rating" and suggestions for improvement are provided:

- Availability of data to track problems and measure success along the waterfront
- Effectiveness of inter-agency coordination for water access
- Staffing available for liaison with towns on water access projects
- Funding available and funding secured for local coastal access projects
- Effectiveness of local comprehensive planning and local land use regulations in conserving working waterfronts
- Availability of technical assistance to towns for community planning
- Quality and availability of guidance, educational materials and programs for waterfront conservation
- Regulatory environment for working waterfronts

√.

a. Availability of data to track problems and measure success along the waterfront

The ability of agencies to measure the success (over time) of public programs and policies aimed at conserving working waterfronts is hampered by a continued lack of comprehensive, comparable data on coast-wide status and trends in the number of commercial access facilities and their use. Existing inventories of coastal facilities sponsored by the Maine Department of Transportation provide good information about the existence of marine facilities and changes over time, but they do not provide a complete picture of the use of facilities for commercial fisheries.

Measures to Improve Effectiveness -

Institute Regular Reporting on Progress in Meeting Access Goals. In 2002, the Maine Legislature directed the State Planning Office and the Maine Department of Marine Resources to establish and provide staff support to an interagency Coastal Water Access Working Group, for the purposes of addressing data needs, coordinating water access programs, and reporting to the Legislature on the status of coastal water access. The establishment of the Coastal Water Access Working Group provides an opportunity to update and refine coastal facility and commercial access use data, and provides a mechanism to report on the status of working waterfronts to the Legislature and public.

Include Additional Parameters in Inventories of Marine Facilities. CEI recommends tracking the number of berthing, mooring, slips, and tie-ups available in harbors, and determining the percentage of use by commercial vs. recreational boats. To track how water access is provided for commercial fishermen, CEI recommends tracking the amount of access provided by public facilities, that provided by commercial facilities and access provided at other privately-owned (frequently residential) facilities. The interagency Water Access Group discussed above will update the coastal facilities inventory, adding new data categories that will provide a measure of change in commercial and recreational capacity and usage over time.

Increase Communication with Harbormasters. Harbormasters have the most up to date and detailed knowledge about the community waterfronts. Opportunities for interaction for Harbormasters are available through the Maine Association of Harbormasters and their annual meeting.

Establish Formal Performance Measures for Coastal Access and Conservation of Working Waterfronts. NOAA is currently developing a framework for result-based management using performance indicators. This framework will be an effective tool to help provide information on local, regional, and national trends and issues affecting the coast. It will assist coastal managers in improving the internal management of their programs and showcase the accomplishments and the potential needs for specific state programs. In 2003, the SPO will begin the design of performance measures for the Maine Coastal Program.

b. Effectiveness of inter-agency coordination for water access

State agencies that fund water access projects and those that have an interest in water access have a new vehicle for collaboration in the new Coastal Water Access Working Group mentioned above. The group provides a mechanism to continue to leverage grants and other financial resources to support local access projects. The Group is already working to improve and formalize cooperation by sharing information, enhancing lines of communication, developing a program data base, coordinating activities, and working together to assist with grant proposal review and project selection. The Maine Coastal Program provides staff support to the Working Group and will continue to provide federal resources for the group's needs.

Measures to Improve Effectiveness –

None suggested at this time.

c. Staffing available for liaison with towns on water access projects

During the summer of 2002, the Maine Coastal Program redesigned and filled a staff position that had remained vacant for approximately a year and a half. This full-time position assists the Land for Maine's Future program with coastal water access projects, leads the working waterfront initiative and manages a new outreach program to work directly with coastal towns and non profit corporations to secure funding for coastal access projects. This position also provides staff support to the interagency Water Access Working Group.

Another staff planner at the Coastal Program manages the Right-of-Way Discovery Grant program mentioned in the next section of this report.

While this level of staffing might seem meager given the size of the Maine coastline and the need for assistance expressed by municipalities, this level of effort is sustainable given current levels of federal funding available through federal Coastal Zone Management funds. The position at the State Planning Office also complements positions in other agencies that attend to public access on a statewide basis (DOC and IF&W) and on marine infrastructure projects (MDOT). Although this concerted effort at the Maine Coastal Program is fairly new, it is expected to result in the development of new and improved water access sites and facilities that will accommodate both recreational and commercial users.

Measures to Improve Effectiveness -

None suggested at this time.

d. Funding available and funding secured for local coastal access projects

While the Maine Coastal Program devoted significant federal funds during the 1980's for public access through the Waterfront Action Grant Program, resources were diverted beginning in the early 1990's to help bridge a gap created by budget cuts at other state agencies with responsibilities for management of coastal resources. Currently, any funding provided for coastal acquisition or access development comes from the Coastal Program's base funding, which also supports the core activities of the program. During the three years from 2000 to 2002, MCP supported only three local coastal access projects – in Stonington, Calais and Gardiner. Another project in Calais is planned in 2003. In each case, MCP was able to provide only a small grant to assist the town in meeting their matching requirement for larger grants.

In addition to the occasional projects using discretionary funds, the Coastal Program runs a mini-grant program that helps municipalities document legal interests in historic rights of way to the coast. This program, although small, has helped many towns secure public rights to important coastal access points.

In the field survey conducted by Coastal Enterprises Inc., municipal representatives identified expanded parking, repairs to piers and float systems, dredging, expansion of existing piers and wharves, new parking areas, and land acquisition for new access sites as their top needs for public waterfront improvements. While supply of available funding cannot keep pace with the need for assistance with public access and improvements to access facilities, there are existing programs operated by partner state agencies that address each of the priority needs expressed by municipalities.

Of the various funding programs for acquisition and access improvements, the Small Harbor Improvement Program (SHIP) is of particular importance to municipalities with significant commercial fisheries. CEI's field work documented that 92% of the towns surveyed have taken advantage of SHIP funds. To date, \$2.5 million dollars in SHIP funding was approved as part of the 1995 general transportation bond, and \$1.5 million was approved in the 2001 transportation bond package. Coastal Program staff has assisted the Department of Transportation with the publicity for SHIP grants, recruitment for projects, and review and selection of projects.

Measures to Improve Effectiveness -

Continue SHIP funding and rethink the state's approach to small harbors. The 2001 Legislative Study Committee to Study the Loss of Commercial Fishing Access cited the demand for SHIP funds and recommended that the Small Harbor Improvement Program be included in the bond package as a standard item in each biennial budget at the level of \$3 million. At the time of submittal of this report, MDOT was still finalizing its request for the 2004-2005 biennial budget. While the SHIP program represents significant support for the state's small harbors, the state's primary area of focus has been on investment in Maine's three primary ports at Portland, Searsport and Eastport, according to the "three-port strategy." The Department of Transportation has signaled its intentions to revisit the twenty-five year old "three port" policy during the tenure of the next administration.

Assist in the Development of New Funding Sources. When opportunities arise for municipalities to act on a waterfront land or facility acquisition opportunity, towns may be hamstrung by the lack of immediate funds to take timely action. Grant programs are usually offered on an annual or periodic basis and may be out of phase with the immediate opportunity, or the project may not fit well with the purposes of the available funding source. Facing these circumstances, municipalities have expressed an interest in the availability of a revolving fund or other short-term, quick turn-around financing option. Two ideas to meet this need are discussed below.

- *Municipal Access Fund.* Several island and coastal communities recently identified the need for a coastal "credit union" that could provide the short-term "bridge" financing towns might need from time to time to take advantage of opportunities to meet waterfront access needs.
- Working Waterfront Loan Fund. Currently a working waterfront loan fund is operating on Portland's waterfront. Capitalized with funds from Bath Iron Works, and managed by Coastal Enterprises Inc., loan funds are available to credit-worthy

private pier and wharf operators and long-term leaseholders that service cargo and marine service operations, commercial fishing, aquaculture, boat repair and boat building. The funds can be used for dredging, pier maintenance and expansion, including repair of pilings, bulkheads and environmental improvements. The current fund is limited to businesses located on piers along the City of Portland's working waterfront, but with additional funding, the program could be expanded to other coastal communities. In the survey of coastal communities, CEI found a large number of towns expressed an interest in learning more about a low interest loan fund. When asked to identify improvements that would assist and support privatelyowned facilities, the towns listed tax relief and low interest loans, followed by investments in repairing wharves and floats, dredging, and land acquisition.

To expand the revolving loan fund to other coastal communities the fund will need additional capitalization. One potential source of funds to capitalize an expanded program is funding through the Economic Development Administration (EDA). The Maine Department of Marine Resources reported that in a currently pending EDA grant application, funds are included for CEI to provide information/ education, technical business planning advice, and access to funding resources to commercial fishing enterprises. Expansion of the existing loan fund would extend these services to a broader business base.

Provide Technical Assistance to Towns to Establish Waterfront Tax Increment Financing Districts. Tax Increment Financing (TIF) can be applied to working waterfronts. It is a tool available to towns for creatively focusing public infrastructure investments to improve the operation and success of local participating businesses in the district. The City of Portland currently has a TIF district in place that provides public infrastructure needed to maintain the operation of commercial piers and wharfs along the waterfront.

\checkmark e. Effectiveness of local comprehensive planning and local land use regulations in conserving working waterfronts

The existence of an approved municipal comprehensive plan deemed to be consistent with the goals established in Maine's Comprehensive Planning and Land Use Regulation Act does not, by itself, guarantee the existence of waterfront access, nor does it guarantee the implementation of a sound strategy for conservation of a town's working waterfront. Eighty-four percent (84%) of the towns surveyed by CEI have a comprehensive plan in place, and 72% employ the use of zoning to control and regulate land uses. Only 24% of the surveyed towns have created an exclusive or "water dependent use only zone." Exclusive zones, by prohibiting land uses other than those that are water-dependent limit, the conversion of waterfront properties to residential and other non water-dependent uses. This scheme of zoning is perhaps best suited to waterfronts where a critical mass of healthy businesses are present and where there is a positive future outlook for water-dependent commerce. Exclusive zoning in smaller communities with less stable waterfronts could limit flexibility needed by waterfront landowners to respond to changing conditions in the marine-related economy. While there are mechanisms available to the state legislature to amend the Mandatory Shoreland Zoning Law (one of the NOAA-approved enforceable policies of Maine's Coastal Program) to mandate more restrictive zoning along working waterfronts, this approach is not considered politically feasible at this time. Likewise, the Legislature could consider adoption of a new statute to designate prime sites for water-dependent uses as state areas of critical concern with associated additional planning and regulatory requirements, but again, this approach is not considered feasible at this time.

Municipal efforts to protect, enhance, and improve public access to the coast are supported through a variety of outreach efforts, educational programs, technical assistance services and materials, and grants and other financial assistance. More vigorous implementation of the current Coastal Program strategies through public information and educational programs and materials, municipal outreach efforts to encourage good projects, coordination of access programs, grants, and financial assistance to support local projects will go a long way towards encouraging and supporting local actions to improve public access goals.

The Council also noted that the interests of state water access programs sometimes conflict with local interests, making it difficult to site boat access facilities. In cases where local opposition to a proposed boat launch site develops, the locally approved, "state-certified", consistent comprehensive plans and land use ordinances are sometimes used in attempts to block a State project. The Council noted that it might be desirable to seek additional clarification and exemption for highway and boat access projects. No action is planned, but the conflict between state and local objectives was noted.

The Land and Water Resources Council recommends an expanded program of planning assistance to coastal municipalities in lieu of changes to state regulations. Most of the communities surveyed for this report listed planning assistance as one of their top needs for responding to the threats of loss of public and commercial waterfront access.

Measures to Improve Effectiveness -

Improve Assistance to Coastal Towns for Comprehensive Planning. Under the requirements of the Comprehensive Planning and Land Use Regulation Act, coastal towns must consider marine and coastal resources and water access issues during the development of local comprehensive plans, and develop implementation strategies to meet local and state goals.

The Coastal Program provides a variety of planning guides and technical assistance to communities, often delivered through the comprehensive planning process. Over the years the Coastal Program has produced or supported the production of planning materials and informational documents designed to help communities deal with a variety water access and working waterfront issues, including model ordinances, harbor planning guidance and model plans, pier and dock ordinances, etc. However, guidance documents available to towns for coastal planning are in need of revision and additional training assistance for agency partners and local/regional planners is needed. Marine resource data provided to towns for the marine resource section of local plans should be continually updated. Technical assistance to towns during the comprehensive planning process is currently provided by the State Planning Office, Regional Planning Commissions, local planners and planning consultants. Specific technical assistance on working waterfront and coastal access should be provided to communities at appropriate points in the planning process. To further this objective, a new partnership is being formed with the University of Maine Sea Grant Marine Extension Team to assemble a field assistance team to respond directly on an "as-needed basis" to coastal access, recreational tourism, and use conflicts.

Targeting of help to those communities that are developing comprehensive plans and/ or waterfront/harbor plans, and to towns with current coastal access opportunities will increase the effectiveness of the Coastal Program's technical assistance efforts.

Provide Additional Incentives to Improve Comprehensive Plans. While many towns produce good comprehensive plans, they often do not include a cohesive waterfront plan for conservation of deep water access for marine-dependent businesses and often do not identify specific short and long term needs for coastal public access sites. State law already requires many state financial assistance programs to offer preferences (for the award of grants and funding) to communities that have consistent, locally adopted comprehensive plans. At the suggestion of the 2001 Legislative Study Committee, a system of bonus points was used for scoring the last round of proposals for SHIP grants. Continued use of this practice is under review for its effectiveness and use in the next round of grants. A similar system has also been worked into the Department of Conservation's award of Shore and Harbor Management Grants. Strengthening preferences for award of grants to towns that have a sound, specific and action-oriented waterfront plan will ensure that the state grants work to maximize the realization of state policy goals.

□ Encourage Towns to Use Non-regulatory Approaches to Conservation of Working Waterfronts. The dilemmas associated with conservation of working waterfronts share some commonalities with attempts conserve farmland. In both cases the resource is in limited supply (deep water access in the case of waterfronts, and prime agricultural soil in the case of farmland), and the property owner may not be in favor of additional regulations which limit the use of the land (to marine-dependent uses or farming). In both scenarios, the shorefront parcel or the acreage of rolling fields in many cases represents the owners' opportunity for retirement. Two tools commonly used to conserve high value natural resources and farmland hold promise for use in conserving working waterfronts in Maine. As described below, both tools provide incentives for landowner participation, since they are afford the landowner the opportunity to get monetary compensation in exchange for preservation of properties in water-dependent use.

• Purchase of Development Rights. Purchasing development rights is a way to assure longterm conservation of shorefront lands. Using this tool, rights to develop waterfront property are assigned a value and the property owner is provided monetary compensation in exchange for the right to further develop the property. Purchase of development rights, which is less than full fee ownership, also allows the buyer to prohibit the development of land and facilities and to maintain existing uses. In this case, purchase of development rights from a working waterfront business could protect the availability of the property for commercial fishing access, and an arrangement could be made to allow the continued operation of a water-dependent business on the property.

A Commercial Fishing Heritage Trust, modeled on farmland preservation trusts, organized as a private non-profit land trust, could be formed to purchase vulnerable waterfront lands and facilities and/or development rights, hold title to property and development rights, and lease back use rights to towns or businesses. A next step for possible creation of this type of entity would be development of a business plan and research into capitalization issues.

• Transfer of Development Rights. Transfer of Development Rights (TDR), while not widely used in Maine, offers the opportunity for a coastal community to set up a mechanism for trading development rights away from waterfront parcels to lots in the town's inland growth areas. The development of a statewide TDR program is one of several items on the agenda of the Community Preservation Advisory Committee established by the Legislature in 2002. This is a broad-based group assembled to help guide the implementation of Smart Growth programs. The work of this committee may provide a good forum for the discussion of TDR programs, including tailoring any new program to meet coastal community and waterfront needs. The Maine Coastal Program should support this work.

☐ Increase educational programs for towns and property owners. Communities surveyed during preparation of this report were interested in learning about an array of planning tools and techniques, including the purchase of access rights or deeded access, a water access tools, and transfer of development rights. The Coastal Program should deliver these educational sessions through community dialogues and other local forums and develop working waterfront and coastal access resource information for the Maine Coastal Program website.

f. State regulatory environment for working waterfronts

Commercial fishermen have expressed frustration about the expense associated with construction of new piers and wharves, and questioned whether Maine's regulatory process unreasonably increases this cost. New docks and major repairs to existing piers and wharves are subject to review and approval by the Department of Environmental Protection under the terms of the Natural Resources Protection Act (NRPA). Smaller facilities are considered in the streamlined Permit-by-Rule process and larger facilities must undergo full review under the NRPA. State licensing staff and the Board of Environmental Protection generally consider that sites with all-tide access are needed for most working waterfront operations and that such sites are limited along Maine's coast. The fact that proposed new commercial piers and wharves often service multiple commercial operators is also viewed as favorable. Siting of new docks and expansion of existing docks has sometimes been controversial in recent years and objections have focused on scenic and aesthetic issues. At the time of submittal of this report, DEP staff had drafted new rules for evaluating scenic and aesthetic impacts under the NRPA that should minimize appeals by neighboring property owners, while minimizing impacts to views. While the Submerged Lands Program is not technically a regulatory program, in leasing publicly-owned submerged lands for private use, the statute provides for reduced rental fees for commercial fishing uses and other facilities offering berthing and slip space for commercial fishing interests. In addition, the approval criteria require that new projects be reviewed to insure that they will not unreasonably diminish the availability of existing services, facilities, and access necessary for commercial marine activities.

Given that effective administration of sound coastal environmental laws is a foundation of Maine's approved coastal management program and public concern with the nature and pace of development on Maine's coast is increasing, no further streamlining of regulatory processes is suggested at this time.

Measures to Improve Effectiveness -

None suggested at this time.

V. Other Public Policy Issues

A number of factors outside the purview of the Coastal Plan have a significant impact on the problems and issues confronting coastal communities. The future viability of the fishing industry, and economic and demographic trends in coastal communities are two such influences. This section of the report presents discussion on one additional factor beyond the control of state environmental protection and land use planning efforts, that ultimately influences the effectiveness of the Coastal Plan – property taxation.

Property taxation is a critical factor influencing the ability of fishermen and commercial fishing related businesses, and water dependent users to retain a presence on the waterfront. Driven by market conditions and unrelenting development pressures, the demand for limited waterfront property and facilities increases property values, which in turn factors through the property tax system resulting in significantly increasing property tax bills. Concerns about property taxation are widespread across the state, are the focus of several referendum campaigns, and will most likely be taken up in the new legislative session. A number of proposals and ideas are being debated, and may well provide the basis for legislative actions. It is important that commercial fishermen's concerns and needs be taken into account in fashioning any changes to the states taxation system.

From the survey of coastal communities, CEI reports that taking action to relieve the pressures of rising property taxes is the number one action identified by communities that would assist them in retain commercial fishing enterprises and facilities. Coastal municipalities see property tax relief as the number one effort that needs to be taken to help keep working waterfronts viable. Controlling or limiting the rapid increases in waterfront property values is seen as a positive measure in maintaining the affordability of waterfront properties for commercial fisheries uses.

In November 2002, Maine voters narrowly turned down a constitutional amendment that would have allowed the Legislature to create a preferential tax category for land used for commercial fishing activities based on the current use of that property. The issues and concerns surrounding rising property values and taxes have not abated over the ensuing two years. Renewed efforts to impose a tax cap, the creation of a select advisory committee to study ways to reform the state's tax structure to take pressure off of the property tax and new proposals such as the Land Bank idea put forward by Chebeague islanders to create a long term ownership category are aimed at helping coastal property owners retain their land and preserve existing uses and conditions.

It is expected that the next Legislature will take a hard look at the state's tax structure with an eye to relieving over-reliance on the property tax at the local level. The costs and benefits of current use treatment of waterfront commercial fishing lands needs to be factored into any proposal to maintain preferential tax categories.

As in the past, The State Planning Office/Coastal Program will work to provide the information and perspective needed to understand the pros and cons of property tax proposals designed to maintain and enhance working waterfronts. In its information and analysis role, the SPO/MCP can provide information about the impacts of specific proposals, can host discussion forums, and can assure that a coastal perspective is provided during discussions.

VI. Conclusions

Loss of access for commercial fisheries is a widespread and persistent problem, driven by broad economic and demographic influences that increase the competition for choice waterfront property. The loss of commercial access takes several forms, and varies from community to community, which adds to the complexity of tracking changes and formulating effective public policy. Coastal fishing communities are well aware of the problem, generally expect it to worsen, and are working to combat the trends, while accommodating a variety of community needs. In short, most coastal towns are extremely interested in this issue, would welcome additional help in the form of technical and financial assistance from the state, and are vitally interested in learning more about the tools and techniques that can be used to help maintain and enhance their working waterfronts.

The State's Coastal Plan is implemented through a mixture of mandates, partnerships, and assistance programs that attempt to balance local "home rule" authority with the State's policy objectives. Although it is not desirable to increase the state's regulatory authority over waterfront land use, technical assistance, incentives and funding programs offered to municipalities by the state should be further refined and targeted to help municipalities address public access and working waterfront issues. Assistance to help municipalities meet state policy goals is best provided in the form of technical and financial assistance that helps communities respond to access problems and needs at the local level where actions can be crafted to fit local conditions.

The incentives identified in this report, both to encourage communities to do better planning for waterfronts, and to encourage property owners to participate in non-regulatory approaches to conservation, will require additional financial resources. State grant programs such as the Small Harbor Improvement Program are vitally important to fishing communities. Given the current condition of the state's budget, new sources of funding and new mechanisms for raising funds for purchase of water access will be needed. Ideas for municipal use of Tax Increment Financing districts along the waterfront, expansion of revolving loan funds and creation of a Commercial Fishing Heritage Trust are discussed in the report.

Due to the lack of established performance goals and measures, it proved difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of the implementation of Maine's Coastal Plan in providing public access and conserving working waterfronts. Instead an evaluation of "output" or level of effort for several aspects of the Coastal Program revealed that some efforts are adequate, while changes and improvements in other areas would no doubt make the program more effective in meeting state policy goals. These recommendations are detailed in the body of this report.

It is desirable to establish performance indicators for public access, waterfront vitality and other topics that comprise effective coastal management. Several state agencies are involved in both public access and waterfront operations and could partner with the State Planning Office to jointly set goals, establish measures and evaluate performance over time. Maine can mirror federal efforts to develop performance measures and the new inter-agency work group on coastal access would be well suited to track progress over time.

The Council finds that the major issue confronting commercial fishermen and water dependent users is outside the purview of state environmental protection and land use planning programs – the problem of rising property taxes that increase the financial difficulty of retaining and maintaining working waterfront facilities. This is a critical issue that needs to be addressed by the Maine Legislature, and should be included as an important element of any discussion of property tax reforms.

In addition to policy responses and new programming at the state level, conservation of Maine's remaining working waterfronts will require the participation the attention of the private sector. A coalition of political leaders, commercial fishing interests, municipalities, and others concerned with finding effective solutions to preserve and enhance working waterfronts should be encouraged to form a working waterfront group to work on creating effective public and private sector actions.

APPENDICES

Appendix A (attached) -

Preserving Commercial Fishing Access: A Study of Working Waterfronts in 25 Maine Communities, prepared by Coastal Enterprises Inc. for the State Planning Office, Maine Coastal Program, December 2002. If Appendix A is not attached, a copy can be downloaded from the Maine Coastal Program web site: <u>http://www.maine.gov/mcp/online_resources/ftp.html</u>

Appendix B -

Coastal Water Access Working Group Legislative Charge and Membership

Appendix C –

Municipal Participants

Appendix D – Advisory Group

Coastal Water Access Working Group Legislative Charge and Membership

In legislation passed by the 120th Legislature (PL 2001, c.595) the State Planning Office and the Department of Marine Resources, within existing budgeted resources, are directed to convene a working group of staff from all state agencies that deal with coastal water access issues to share data, program activities and areas for collaboration on coastal water access issues. Each agency is to identify the coastal water access data that the agency has, the coastal water access data that the agency needs and potential funding sources for the collection of the needed data. Other stakeholders may be included as appropriate.

The State Planning Office and the Department of Marine Resources are further directed to submit a report of the working group's activities, including how the agencies can work cooperatively to make creative use of available funds to address both recreational and commercial access needs and to optimize projects that are multi-use in nature to the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over marine resources matters by January 15th of every odd-numbered year (beginning in 2003).

<u>Membership</u>

Membership is comprised of agencies with direct coastal access programs and water access related responsibilities, including:

- Maine Department of Conservation, Boat Facilities Program George Powell
- · Maine Department of Conservation, Bureau of Parks and Lands Herb Hartman
- Maine Department of Conservation, Submerged Lands Program Dan Prichard
- Maine Department of Economic & Community Development, Community
 Development Programs Orman Whitcomb
- Maine Department of Inland Fisheries & Wildlife, Access Acquisition and Facilities Program Bob Williams
- Maine Department of Marine Resources, commercial access concerns and issues
 Sue Inches
- Maine Department of Transportation, Harbors and Port Facilities program -Kevin Rousseau
- Maine Department of Transportation, Planning Division Carl Croce
- Maine State Planning Office, Maine Coastal Program and Land for Maine's Future Program - Jim Connors

APPENDIX C

Towns Involved in CEI Survey

Addison Bath Biddeford Boothbay Harbor Bremen Bristol Eastport Freeport Friendship

Harpswell Islesboro Jonesport Kennebunkport Kittery Machiasport Phippsburg Portland Rockland Searsport Saint George Southwest Harbor Stonington Swans Island Vinalhaven Winter Harbor

APPENDIX D

Advisory Group

Advisors for this project include:

- Yvette Alexander, Maine Fishermen's Wives Association
- Jim Connors, SPO/Maine Coastal Program and Land for Maine's Future Program
- David Etnier, Maine State Legislature
- Sue Inches, Maine Department of Marine Resources
- Kathleen Leyden, SPO/Maine Coastal Program
- Benjamin Neal, Island Institute
- Steve Train, Commercial fisherman

Attachment #3

•



State of Maine Executive Department State Planning Office 38 State House Station Augusta, Maine 04333

JOHN ELIAS BALDACCI GOVERNOR

DAVID H. KEELEY ACTING DIRECTOR

January 8, 2003

To: Co-chairs -- Natural Resources Committee, Marine Resources Committee & Inland Fisheries and Wildlife Committee

From: David Keeley, Chair Land and Water Resources Council $\mathcal{V} \mathscr{A}$

In response to legislative and public interest in dam removal issues the Land and Water Resources Council requested the State Planning Office ("SPO") to convene an advisory group comprised of legislators and stakeholders to analyze and evaluate the need for a dam removal policy in Maine. The report of the Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group ("Advisory Group") convened by SPO is attached for your information.

The Advisory Group met three times during the fall 2002 and initiated a collaborative dialogue aimed at identifying the primary issues facing the State in its consideration of a dam removal policy. Although the Advisory Group did not complete its work in this short time, it agreed that any state dam removal policy should address both hydropower and non-hydropower dams. The Advisory Group also identified and generated a set of ten considerations for dam removal proceedings.

The Advisory Group offered two recommendations to the Land and Water Resources Council. First, the Advisory Group recommended that SPO continue to produce and publish a compendium of Maine state hydropower, dam, and dam removal laws, policies and procedures as a public education tool. Secondly, it recommended that the Dam Removal Advisory Group be reconvened after Governor Baldacci has taken office and made the necessary appointments to the Land and Water Resources Council. This re-formed Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group would then work to provide comprehensive recommendations to the Council.

At its December 12th meeting the Council accept the report. Council members have suggested that public water supply, transportation, and recreation are interests, in addition to those listed in the Advisory Group's report, that a state dam removal policy should address. Thanks for your attention to this matter. If you need additional information please don't hesitate to call Betsy Elder of my staff.

Cc:

Betsy Elder

Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group Maine Dam Removal Policy Working Group

OFFICE LOCATED AT 184 STATE STREET, AUGUSTA, ME.

DAM REMOVAL IN MAINE Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group and the Maine State Planning Office

On May 9, 2002, the Land and Water Resources Council, directed then by Evan Richert, requested the Maine State Planning Office to convene an advisory group, comprised of legislators and stakeholders, to analyze and evaluate the potential need for a dam removal policy in Maine. Concurrently at the request of the LWRC, the SPO initiated work with an expanded FERC Coordinating Committee, to include all State agency staff whose mandates involve dams, to update the state's hydropower policies and generate a written policy, which reflects existing law and its application to dam removal. At this point, SPO has published an incomplete draft of this <u>Compendium of Maine State</u> <u>Agency Hydropower and Dam Removal Policies</u> and SPO continues to pursue a final product. The Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group has met three times during fall of 2002, has educated itself about dam removal issues in Maine and has generated a collaborative dialogue to tease out the primary issues facing Maine in its consideration of a dam removal policy. The work of this group is documented and displayed on the SPO website which can be accessed at

http://www.maine.gov/spo/energy/damremoval/damremoval.htm

On behalf of the Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group, SPO offers the following considerations and recommendations to the LWRC for its review and endorsement.

Important Considerations for Dam Removal Proceedings

1.Energy – Hydropower resources should continue to be an important source of electric power in the State because of the benefits provided by hydroelectricity, including; clean air, reliance on indigenous energy resources rather than foreign energy resources and improved energy security and reliability through fuel diversity.

2.**Unobstructed access** – Free flowing rivers, unobstructed by man-made devices, are important cultural, economic and natural resources.

3. Fish passage – Promoting effective fish passage and fishery restoration are important considerations.

4. The process should include meaningful opportunities for **Public Participation** – Public education and statewide, regional and local participation throughout dam removal proceedings is essential to insure that broad and specific concerns are considered.

5. A comprehensive, accurate **method for evaluating the beneficial and adverse impacts** of a dam removal is important. Recreational, social, energy, environmental and economic values provided by the dam (e.g., value of hydropower, flood control, fire protection, safety, etc.) and the environmental values of dam removal (e.g., fish restoration, water quality, etc.) should be publicly identified and documented. 6. The process should include identification and analysis of **Ecological Impacts**. The potential for adverse and beneficial ecological impacts, such as those listed below, should be publicly identified and recognized.

- Physical and Chemical Components
- Biological Components
- Wetlands creation and diminishment
- Habitat creation and diminishment
- Water Quality enhancements and impacts
- Air Quality enhancements and impacts
- Endangered Species
- Climate Change

7. Safety and Liability Issues should be publicly identified and recognized.

8. The process should include identification and recognition of Historical Issues.

9. The process should include identification and recognition of total Engineering, De-Construction and Construction **Costs, both direct and indirect.**

10.Floodplain Issues and Impacts should be publicly identified and recognized.

Dam Removal Policy Recommendations to the LWRC

There is a lack of understanding about Maine law and state agency policy governing dam removal as well as the interaction between federal and state processes. The Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group recommends the following actions to remedy this problem.

• Produce a Compendium of Maine State hydropower, dam and dam removal laws, policies, and procedures; disseminate the Compendium and inform people.

Reconvene the Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group, after Governor Baldacci takes office and makes the necessary appointments to the LWRC and after adequate time has elapsed in which to review the complete Compendium. With the endorsement and support of the new LWRC, continue the important work of this group, or one very similar to this one, to determine whether Maine's current laws and state agency policies regarding dam removal address the full range of important issues enumerated above. The re-formed Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group shall then work to provide comprehensive recommendations to the LWRC, which remedy any identified deficits in current Maine State policy and law.

-2-

Maine Dam Removal Policy Advisory Group

Organization

Large Hydropower Owners Small Hydropower Owners Pulp and Paper Association Rural Caucus Rural Caucus Rural Caucus Committees of Jurisdiction

Federal NGO's/non-profits

Tribal Government Citizen Group Maine State Planning Office Chairman

Representation

Dan Riley – Bernstein Shur Beth Nagusky - Independent Energy Prod. John Williams - Maine Pulp & Paper Assoc. Rep. Carol Weston (Montville) Rep. Zachary Matthews ((Winslow) Rep. Russell Treadwell – (Carmel) Rep. Ted Koffman-Natural Resources Sen. Ken Lemont - DMR Committee Matt Dunlap - IFW Committee Gordon Russell-U.S.Fish & Wildlife Serv. Nick Bennett - Natural Resources Council Andy Goode - Atlantic Salmon Federation Jeff Reardon – Trout Unlimited Steve Koenig- Project Share Barry Woods - Coastal Conservation Assoc John Banks - Penobscot Indian Nation Ken Fletcher – Save Our Sebasticook David Keeley – Acting Director

Maine Dam Policy Development Staff Working Group

Betsy Elder – chairperson- SPO Liz Hertz – SPO Lou Sidell – SPO Dana Murch – DEP Steve Timpano – IFW Tom Squiers – DMR Bud Newell – DOC Todd Burrowes – SPO Art Speiss - SHPO Kirk Mahoney - SHPO Deane Van Dusen – MDOT David Rocque - Agriculture Norm Dube – ASRSC Gail Wipplehauser – DMR Ralph Knoll – DOC Tony Fletcher – MEMA